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7 e AVING now completed our survey of the
A= = West -End and of the northern suburbs of

London, it will be necessary for us again to
i ; \ take in hand our pilgrim staff, and to make a
i : {| fresh start, with a view. of reconnoitring that
; == large and interesting district which, though it
lies on the southern bank of the Thames,
forms, and has formed for centuries, an integral
part of this great metropolis. We will there-
fore do so without further delay, and only ask
our readers to accompany us mentally to

sy




2 OLD AND NEW LONDON. [Southwark.

London Bridge, from the south end of which iE is ' glanced in at the Museum of the Tradescants, we
our purpose to commence our peregrinations, which = shall mz?ke our way to Faux or Vav:lx Hall, and
in this, the concluding volume of the work, will be Pakc a view of the ’old place before it was turned
mainly confined to the metropolitan and strictly into Gardens.” ‘Thence we shall walk on to
suburban districts in the county of Surrey ; for we | Battersca, and shake ha'nds w1t'h Lord Bolmgbr9ke
have not forgotten the promise with which we set  before he goes forth into exile, and reconnoitre
out on our wanderings, to confine ourselves to | sundr.y clusters of old houses, both in that village
those regions, be they greater or smaller in extent, | and in Wandsworth 'md Putney. There. we shall
from which can be seen “the glimmer of the  try and arrange our visit so as to come in for the
gilded cross of St. Paul’s.” : ‘annual contest between Oxford and Cambridge
The district which we are about to traverse, ! for the blue riband of the London waters; then,
though not equal in its reminiscences to the City II crossing the river, we shall make a halt at Fulham
of Westminster, will be found on examination to in order to investigate at leisure the mansion which
be full of antiquarian interest. In St. Saviour's |for so many centuries has been the residence of
Priory Church, in Bermondsey Abbey, in the old successive Bishops of London. Turning then back,
“Tabard” Inn, in the Globe and other theatres on | in a north-westerly direction, it is our intention to
Bankside, in the archiepiscopal palace at Lambeth, | make 2 perambulation of Hamrersmith, so rich in
in the once royal palace at Kennington, in the |literary and religious associations, and we shall
Mint and the old Marshalsea, we shall find a | conclude our wanderings with a brief visit to the
rich mine of archzological wealth, and one which | grave of Hogarth, the painter and moralist, in
it will take a long time to exhaust. At Deptford | Chiswick churchyard. :
we shall again meet with our old friends, Samuel | It is just possible, indeed, that we may be led to
Pepys and John Evelyn; at Greenwich we shall | go even a little farther afield in search of subjects of
see our Tudor kings and queens in the midst of a | interest, past and present; but if such should prove
splendid court; on Blackheath we shall meet Wat | to be the case, we shall not forget that it is London
Tyler and his rebel bands; at Newington Butts | and London life with which we have to deal, and
we shall witness the cavalcade of the Canterbury | that where London has extended its social life into
Pilgrims, as they wend their way along the old | the suburbs we must follow it up. At all events,
road into Kent ; at Kennington we shall find the | we shall take good care not to leave any street or
Black Prince “at home,” and perhaps witness the | any house unexplored which can have an interest
execution of some of the Scottish rebels; at|for the readers of “Old and New London.”
Dulwich and Camberwell we shall drop in and| With these few words of preface, we will com-
make the acquaintance of Edmund Alleyn, the | mence our journey at the point where London
“player” and friend of a certain “Will Shake- | Bridge abuts on the east end of the “Ladye”
speare ;” while a little nearer home, at Stockwel}, | Chapel of St. Saviour’s. And here we cannot do
we shall find a veritable “Ghost,” scarcely in- | better than repeat the words which we employed
ferior to its rival of Cock Lane ; at Clapham we | on first starting from Temple Bar:*—¢ South-
shall find Mr. Wilberforce and the Evangelicals | wark, a Roman station and cemetery, is by no
busy. in founding the Bible Society; in St. George’s | means without a history, It was burnt by William
Fields we shall spend a day with the inmates of | the Conqueror, and had been the scene of a battle
New Bedlam, and try to cheer them with our | against the Danes. It possessed palaces, monas-
presence ; and then mentally transport ourselves to | teries, a mint, and fortifications. The Bishops of
the same spot in the days of Lord Géorge Gordon | Winchester and Rochester once lived here in
and his riots, to witness their bonfires. We shall | splendour, and the locality boasted its four Eliza-
“assis% " at the founding and opening of the Surrey | bethan theatres. The ¢ Globe’ was Shakespeare’s
and Victoria Theatres, and take our stand by the | summer theatre, and here it was that his greatest
side of Mr. Astley when, supported by Ducrow, he | triumphs were attained. What was acted there is
first encloses his riding-school. We shall peep in ' best told by making Shakespeare’s share in the
and hear a sermon from Rowland Hill, in hisimanagemeﬁt distinctly understood ; nor can we
wcll-!mow.n chapel in the Surrey Road ; spend an | leave Southwark without visiting the ¢ Tabard’ inn,
evening in the Surrey Zoological Gardens; and |from whence Chaucer’s nine-and-twenty jovial
then look in at Lambeth Palace, to witness the pilgrims set out for Canterbury—
records of the “Lollard” prisoners, and make
acquaintance with Archbishops Chicheley, and
Cranmer, and Parker, and Laud. Thence, having

¢ The holye blissful martyr for to seek.’"

* See Vol. I, p. 9.
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Hitherto, as our readers are aware, we have been ‘
concerned with those portions of our great metro-
polis which lie to the north of the Thames, and
within the boundaries of the county of Middlesex ; :
but the moment that we cross London Bridge we
find ourselves in another county—that of Surrey—
so called from South-rey—i.e, the south side of
the river.

If we were to travel far into the interior of this
county we should come upon scenes very unlike
what we have seen in Middlesex ; but the limits of
our present pilgrimage will scarcely carry us so far
afield as to the borders of the chalk formation
which fringes the basin of clay and gravel which
underlies the whole of London south, as well as
London north, of the Thames.

There was a time, some two thousand years ago,
when the whole of the district now covered by

Southwark and Lambeth, and most of the adja-
" cent district, as far south as the rising grounds of
Brixton, Streatham, and Clapham, was little more
than a dull and dreary swamp, inhabited by the
bittern and the frog, and when painted savages
roamed and prowled about the places which are
now not only busy thoroughfares, but the marts of
foreign commerce. But this change was the work
of very many ages.

In the early Saxon times there is no notice of
any large town being situated here ; but a tradition
of Bartholomew Linsted, or Fowle, the last prior of
St. Mary Overie, as preserved to us by Stow in his
“ History of London,” tells us that the profits of
the ferry—for before a bridge spanned the Thames
a ferry had existed here—were devoted by the
owner, “a maiden named Mary,” to the foundation
and endowment of a convent or house of sisters,
which was afterwards converted into a college of
priests ; and that these priests built a bridge of
timber, which in the course of time was converted
into a bridge of stone.

Maitland, in his * History of London,” refuses
to believe this tradition, which, if it be true, would
carry back the date of the foundation of St. Mary
Overie’s to a period far anterior to any historic
notice of Southwark ; but whether we accept it in
its entirety or not, at all events the legend must be
regarded as fair evidence of the early establishment
of a religious house at this spot, and of the bestowal
of the proceeds of the ferry for its support.

The earliest mention of Southwark by name in
history is in A.D. 1023, when the Saxon chronicle
tells us that Knut, and Egelnoth, Archbishop of
Canterbury, with some other distinguished persons,

carried by ship the body of Alphege, saint and
martyr, across the Thames to “Suthgeweorke,” on |

its way to its restingplace at Canterbury. In
“Domesday Book” the name appears under the
form of “ Sudwerche.”

It is generally said that Southwark was never
fortified till quite a recent period. How, then, did
its name, “wark ” or “ werke,” arise? Is it the same
word as in bulwark ? A fortress built by the Earl
of Mar, in Scotland, is called ‘“Mars wark or
werke ;” and possibly the same word is embodied
in the word “ Southwark.”

Mr. Worsaae, in his “ Account of the Danes and
Norwegians in England,” refers to the possession

by those peoples of Southwark, the very name of

which, he adds, is unmistakably of Danish or Nor-
wegian origin. “ The Sagas relate that, in the time
of King Svend Tveskjeg, the Danes fortified this
trading place, which, evidently, on account of its
situation to the south of the Thames and London,
was called Sydvirke (Sudvirke), or the southern
fortification. From Sudvirke, which in Anglo-
Saxon was called Sud-geweorc, but which in the
Middle Ages obtained the name of Suthwerk or
Swerk, arose the present form —Southwark. The
Northmen had a church in Sudvirke, dedicated to
the Norwegian king, Olaf the Saint.” It is stated
that the name of Southwark has been spelled in
no fewer than twenty-seven different ways in old
writings.

We shall not attempt to invade too far the
domain of learned antiquaries, and waste our
readers’ time and patience by a long disquisition
on the question whether the natives of Southwark,
twelve hundred years ago—as a portion of the
inhabitants of the county of Surrey—were descen-
dants of the Regni or the Cantii, the Atrebates or
the Bibroci. It is enough for us to know that
the men of Surrey were among the tribes con-
quered by the legions of Julius Cesar, and that
having belonged at one time to the kingdom of
Mercia, and at another to Kent, Surrey became
after the Conquest part and parcel of the territory
of the son-in-law of William, the powerful Earl of
Warrenne, and that, lying so near to the chief city
of the kingdom, in spite of the fuwvius dissociabilis,
the Thames, it was gradually absorbed into the
great metropolis, of which it became a suburb in
the strictest sense, even before it was formally
“annexed ” to London.

As already indicated, the low flat tongue of land
bounded on three sides by the Thames in the
bend which it makes between Greenwich and
Vauxhall, was doubtless originally overflowed by
the tide, and formed a large marsh extending to
the foot of the slight eminences which bound its
fourth side upon the south, It is almost certain
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that this space was banked in artificially by the
Romans, so as to secure it against being over-
flowed ; and Roman remains, which have been dug
upin St. George’s Fields and elsewhere about South-
wark and its neighbourhood, are sufficient proofs
that the Romans formed there a settlement of some
kind or other. Indeed, as Ptolemy tells us that
London was in the territory of the Cantii, it has
been inferred—though somewhat too hastily—that
the original London stood on the south of the
river ; but this theory is generally rejected as being
contrary to cvidences of various kinds. It is far
more probable that Ptolemy wrote with an im-
perfect knowledge of the geography of so distant
and unimportant a place, and confounded the two
sides of a distant river. No doubt, however, from
very early times there was on the south side a
suburb consisting of dwelling-houses connected with
the city by a ferry, where the great Roman road of
the Watling crossed the Thames. .

The history of Southwark up to the period of
the Norman Conquest is obscure and uncertain ;
but there is no doubt that the place was inhabited
by the Romans, for Charles Knight tells us that
“clear vestiges of Roman dwelling-houses have
been found, not only in Southwark, but here and
there along the bank of the river as far east as
Deptford.”

It has been asserted that there was no bridge
between London and Southwark as early as the
tenth century, because we are teld that in A.D. 993
Anlaf, the King of Norway, sailed up the river as
far as Stane (Staines) ; but this inference is by no
means to be accepted as certain, for we learn from
William of Malmesbury, and from the “Saxon
Chronicle,” that in the very next year there was a
bridge here which obstructed the flight of Sweyn’s
forces, when he attacked London and was repulsed
by its brave citizens. Again, little more than
twenty years later, when Knut attacked London,
there certainly was a bridge of one kind or another,
which formed an obstacle to the advance of his
ships up the river; and in order to avoid this
obstacle (according to the Saxon Chronicle), he
dug on the south side a trench, through which he
conveyed his vessels to a point “above bridge.”
It is curious that in the accounts of these transac-
tions which have come down to us there is no
actual mention of Southwark by name; and yet
there must have been some “werke” or defence,
at all events, at the entrance of the bridge. Again,
in 1052, Godwin, then in rebellion against Edward
the Confessor, came with his fleet to Southwark,
and passing the bridge without any opposition,
proceeded to attack the king’s vessels which lay off

Westminster, though further hostilities were averted
by an offer of peace.

Perhaps it was the error of Sweyn in getting his
fleet foul of London Bridge which made his son
Knut go so laboriously to work with the waters of
the Thames on his invasion in 1016, the story of
which shall be briefly related in the words of the
“Saxon Chronicle:”—% Then came the ships to
Greenwiche, and, within a short interval, to London,
where they sank a deep ditch on the south side,
and so dragged their ships to the west side of the
bridge. Afterwards they trenched the city without,
so that no man could go in or out, and often
fought against it; but the citizens bravely with-
stood them.”

There have been several persons who have raised
sceptical doubts about this history ; but the honest
historian, Maitland—who loved to get to the bottom
of all such statements, and who set himself to
discover proofs of Knut’s trench—tells us that this
artificial water-course began at the great wet-dock
below Rotherhithe, and passing across the Kent
Road, continued in a crescent form as far as Vaux-
hall, and fell again into the Thames at the lower
end of Chelsea Reach. As proofs of the historic
truth of this hypothesis, he brought forward the
great quantities of hazels, willows, and brushwood,
pointing northwards, and fastened down by rows of
stakes, which were found at the digging and clearing
out of Rotherhithe Dock in 1694, as well as num-
bers of large oaken planks and piles, found also in
other parts on the Surrey side of the river.

Southwark, very naturally, figures in the chapter
of English history which immediately follows on
the Battle of Hastings. As soon as he had won
the battle, we read that William marched upon
London, where the citizens had declared Edgar
Atheling king of England. On reaching South-
wark, which then was an inconsiderable suburb—
though not wholly unfortified, as may be gathered
from its name—the Conqueror was so roughly
handled by the sturdy citizens of London, that
though he repulsed them by the aid of some five
hundred horse, and laid the suburb in ashes, he
found it necessary, or at all events prudent, to retire,
and accordingly marched off in a westerly direction.

Southwark is mentioned in history as far back as
A.D. 1053, and was a distinct corporation governed
by its own bailiff until 1327, when Edward IIL
made a grant of it to the City of London, whose
mayor was thenceforth to be its bailiff, and to
govern it by his deputy. *Great inconvenience
having been found to arise from its affording a
refuge to offenders of various kinds,” the City was
ordered to pay to the royal exchequer the sum of
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Ao annually as a fee-farm rent. In this charter
Southwark is called a “villa,” which may mean
anything from a town down to a village ; but if we
take the term in the latter sense, it must have been
a tolerably large ¢ village,” for it had no less than
four churches: viz.,, St. Mary’s (a chapel of the
great conventual church of St. Mary over the
Rie); St. Margaret’s (where the Town Hall lately
stood); St. Olave’s ; and, lastly, St. George’s; to say
nothing of the hospital of St. Thomas, two prisons
(namely, those of the King’s Bench and the Mar- |
shalsea), and also the houses of several prelates,
abbots, and nobles.

Some time after this, however, the inhabitants
recovered their former privileges ; but in the reign
of Edward VI. the Crown granted the district to
the City of London for a money grant of a little less
than £650; in consideration of a further sum of
500 marks, it was “annexed ” to the said City, and
by virtue of the same grant it continues subject to
its Lord Mayor, who has under him a steward and
a bailiff; and it is governed (or rather represented
in the councils of the City) by one of its aldermen,
whose ward is styled by the name of “ Bridge-
without.” The property granted to the City on
the above occasion is regarded as specially liable
to the repairs and maintenance of London Bridge.
By this incorporation, however, Southwark did not
cease to be part and parcel of the county of
Surrey. From this arrangement certain lands were
exempted, such as Southwark Mansion and Park,
which belonged to the king.

According to the “ Penny Cyclopaedia” (1842),
this ward appears never to have been represented
in the Common Council, nor do the inhabitants
now elect their aldermen. The senior alderman of
London is always alderman of this ward, and on
his death the next in seniority succeeds him. He
has no ward duties to perform, so that his office is
little else than a sinecure. The City of London
appoints a high bailiff and steward for Southwark ;
but the county magistrates of Surrey exercise juris-
diction in several matters.

“1t is curious to observe,” says Mr. Robertson,
in his “ Lecture on Southwark,” ¢ that London
was first indebted to Southwark for its bridge;
that the first bridge was built by the priests of the
monastery in Southwark; that the Bridge-house
was in Southwark, and not in London ; that the
revenues for the maintenance of the bridge were
not derived from London, but from the southern
side of the Thames ; and although land could not
have been difficult to obtain close to the bridge, the
expensive experiment was resorted to of building
houses on the bridge—literally, on the Thames.”

The earliest description of London Bridge, sin-
gularly enough, is given by an Icelander, who lived
in the middle of the thirteenth century, and may
be found quoted by the Rev. James Johnstone, in
his “ Antiquitates Celto-Scandicae ” (Copenhagen,
1786, 4t0), in connection with the Battle of South-
wark, which was fought in roo8, in the luckless
reign of Ethelred II., surnamed the ¢ Unready.”
It runs as follows :—

“They (fe, the Danish forces) first came to
shore at London, where their ships were to remain,
and the city was taken by the Danes. Upon the
other side of the river is situate a great market
called Southwark—Sudurvirke in the original—
which the Danes fortified with many defences;
framing, for instance, a high and broad ditch,
having a pile or rampart within it, formed of wood,
stone, and turf, with a large garrison placed there
to strengthen it. This the king, Ethelred, . . . .
attacked and forcibly fought against; but by the
resistance of the Danes it proved but a vain
endeavour. There was at that time a bridge
erected over the river between the City and South-
wark, so wide that if two carriages met they could
pass each other.” This structure King Olave and
his Norsemen destroyed by rowing their ships up
close to the bridge, and making them fast to it by
ropes and cables. With these they strained the
piles so vigorously, aided by the strong flow of the
tide, that the piles gave way, and the whole bridge
fel. ~ “ And now it was determined to attack
Southwark,” continues the Icelander; ‘but the
citizens seeing their river occupied by the enemy’s
navy so as to cut off all intercourse that way with
the interior provinces, were seized with fear, and
having surrendered the city, received Ethelred as
king.” In remembrance of this expedition, thus
sang Ottar Suarti, in a sort of rhythmic prose,
which reminds one of Macpherson’s ““ Ossian : ”—

¢ And thou hast overthrown their bridges, oh! thou storm
of the sons of Odin! skilful and foremost in the battle. For
thee it was happily reserved to possess the land of London’s
winding city. Many were the shields which were grasped,
sword in hand, to the mighty increase of the conflict; but
by thee were the iron-banded coats of mail broken and
destroyed.

“Thou, then, hast come, defender of the land, and hast
restored to his kingdom the exiled Ethelred. By thine aid
is he advantaged, and made strong by thy valour and
prowess; bitterest was that battle in which thou didst engage.
Now, in the presence of thy kindred, the adjacent lands are at
rest, where Edmund, the relative of the country and of the
people, formerly governed.

¢ That was truly the sixth fight which the mighty king
fought with the men of England, wherein King Olaf, the
chief himself, a son of Odin, valiantly attacked the bridge at
London. Bravely did the swords of the Volsces defend it H
but through the trench which the sea-kings, the men ot
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Vikesland, guarded, they were enabled to come, and the
plain of Southwark was full ‘of his tents.”

‘The story of the destruction of London Bridge
by Olaf is thus told in Southey’s “ Naval History
of England,” with all the details of historical
narrative :—* Among them (f.e. Ethelred and his
forces) came a certain king Olaf (perhaps the
same who had been baptized in this country): he
brought with him a strong fleet; and, with the aid

they might hope to destroy the bridge; and Olaf
undertook to make the attempt with some of his
ships, if the other leaders would join in the assault.
Causing, therefore, some deserted houses to be
pulled down, he employed. the beams and planks
in constructing projections from the sides of the
ships, under cover of which, when they were laid
alongside the bridge, the assault might be made:
a contrivance intended to serve the same purpose

of these Scandinavian ships, the King of England
resolved upon attempting to re-take L.ondon from
the Danes. The fleet was of little use unless it
could pass the bridge. But this, which was of
wood, wide enough for the commodious passage of
two carriages, and supported upon trestles, had
been strongly fortified with towers, and a parapet
breast high ; and at its south end it was defended
by a military work, placed on what the Icelandic
historian calls the great emporium of Southwark.
This fortress was of great strength, built of wood
and stone, with a deep and wide ditch and ram-
parts of earth. A first attack upon the bridge

failed ; for the Danes had manned it well, and de-
fended it bravely. Grieved at his repulse, Ethelred |
held a council of war, to deliberate in what manner

as those machines which, under the names of
‘cats’ and ‘sows,’ were used in sieges. He
expected that the roofing would be strong enough
to resist the weight of any -stones which might
be thrown upon it; but in this expectation he
had calculated too much upon the solidity of his
materials, and too little upon the exertions and
activity ot the defenders; and when, with the
advantage of the flowing tide, the ships had taken
their station, stones of such magnitude were let fall
upon them, that the cover was beaten in ; shields
and helmets afforded no protection; the ships
themselves were shaken and greatly injured, and
many of them sheered off. Olaf, however, per-
sisted in his enterprise. Under cover of such a
bulwark, he succeeded in fastening some strong
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cables or chains to the trestles which supported the
bridge : and, when the tide had turned, his rowers,
aided by the returning stream, tore away the middle
of it, many of the enemy being precipitated into
the river. Thec others fled into the city, or into
Southwark ; and the Thames was thus opened to
the fleet. The south work was then attacked and
carried ; and the Danes were no longer able to

prevent the Londoners from opening their gates |

and joyfully receiving their king.”

Such, according to ancient story, were the martial
feats of King Olaf, or Olave, upon the water; but
for his more pious and peaceful actions on land,
which caused the men of Southwark to venerate
his memory, it is needful only to turn to the church
which bears his name, at the south-eastern corner
of the bridge, and of which we shall speak presently.

It was, in reality, one of the two southern land-
| marks and boundaries of the old bridge, the Church

of St. Saviour’s, at the south-western corner of the
| bridge, being the other.

The author of ¢ Chronicles of London Bridge ”
gives the following version of part of a Latin hymn
from the Swedish Missal, sung on St. Olave’s
| festival in his honour :(—

¢¢ Martyred king ! in triumph shining !
Guardian saint ! whose bliss is shriring !
To thy spirit’s sons inclining
From a sinful world confining,

By thy might O set them free !
Carnal bonds around them twining,
Fiendish arts are undermining,

All with deadly plagues are pining ;
But, thy power and prayers combining,
Safely shall we rise to thes. Amen.”

CHAPTER 1II.
SOUTHWARK (continued).—OLD LONDON BRIDGE.

¢ Ablegandz= Tiberim ultra.”—Horace.

Controversy respecting the Trench from Rotherhithe to Battersea—How London Bridge was “built on Woolpacks "—Religious and Royal Pro-
cessions at the Bridge-foot—Partial Destruction of Old London Bridge by Fire—Conflict between the Forces of Henry III. and those of
the Ear] of Leicester—Reception of Henry V. after the Battle of Agincourt—Fall of the Southern Tower of London Bridge—Southwarl:
wholly destitute of Fortifications—Jack Cade’s Rendezvous in Southwark—Death of Jack Cade—Heads on London Biidge—Reception or
Henry VI. and Henry VII.—Reception of Katharine of Aragon—Cardinal Wolscy—Insurrection of Sir Thomas Wyatt—Rebuilding of
the Northern Tower—Standards of the Spanish Armada placed on London Bridge—Southwark fortified by the Parliamentarians, to
oppose King Charles—Reception of Charles 1I.—~Corn Mills on London Bridge—Tradesmen’s Tokens—Bridge-foot—The ““Bear” Inn—
The “Knave of Clubs"—~Bridge Strect—The Shops on London Bridge—The Bridge Honse—General Aspect of Southwark in the Middlz
Ages—Gradual Exteasion of Southwark—Great Fire in Southwark in 1676—Building of New London Bridge.

Stow, in his “Survey of London,” advances as

highly probable the hypothesis that when the first !

stone bridge was erected over the Thames the
course of the river was temporarily changed, being
diverted into a new channel, “a trench being cut
for that purpose, beginning, as it is supposed,
east, about Rotherhithe, and ending in the west,
about Patricksey, now Battersea.”

Strype, too, seems to support this view, when he
writes: “It is much controverted whether the river
Thames was turned when the bridge over it was
built. . . . . But from all that hath been seen and
written upon the turning of the river, it seems very
evident to me that it zwas turned whilst the bridge
was. building.” But Sir Christopher Wren, and
after him Maitland, are of the contrary opinion,
and think that Stow confused the ditch of the tenth
century with that dug in the time of Knut.

Old London Bridge was said to have been * built
on woolpacks:” this, however, is, of course, a play
upon words, for, in reality, it was built largely out
of the produce of a tax on wool. Stow also

states that the bridge-gate at the Southwark end
was one of the four chief gates of the City of
London, and that it stood there long before the
i Norman Conquest, when the bridge was only of
i timber.  But this_ supposition again is strongly
denied by Maitland.

Of London Bridge itself, and many of the his-
torical scenes that were enacted upon it, we have
already spoken in a previous part of this work ;*
but Southwark has played too important a part on
several occasions, in scenes connected with the
bridge, to be altogether lost sight of here. Indeed,
the bridge-foot must have seen very fine and gay
sights in the old days before the Reformation, in
the shape of religious and royal processions. For
instance, in 1392, when Richard II. suspended and
seized on the Charter of the City of London, and
the citizens offcred to re-purchase their rights for
a sum of money, the king was graciously pleased
to travel up to London from Windsor, “to re-assure

* See Vol. IL., pp. g—17.
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them of his favour.” The ceremony of publicly
receiving their Majesties, we are told, began at
Wandsworth, “with great splendour and a consider-
able train,” when four hundred of the citizens of
London, well mounted, and habited in livery of
one colour, rode forth to meet the king. ‘At St.
George’s Church, in Southwark,” says Thomas of
Walsingham, “the procession was met by Robert
Braybrooke, Bishop of Londén, and his clergy,
followed by five hundred boys in surplices. . . . .
When the train arrived at the gate of London
Bridge, nearly the whole of the inhabitants, arranged
in order according to their rank, age, and sex,
advanced to receive it, and presented the king with
a fair milk-white steed, harnessed and caparisoned
in cloth of gold, brocaded in red and white, and
hung about with silver bells; whilst to the queen
(Anne of Bohemia) they presented a palfrey, also
white, and caparisoned in like manner in white and
red.”

In 1212, the Priory of Southwark, and other
parts adjoining the south end, were destroyed by
fire, along with the greater part of the bridge itself,
which was then of wood. The flames having
caught the beams of the bridge, many of the Lon-
doners lost their lives by fire, and others by water,
being drowned in attempting to escape.

In the reign of Henry IIIL (A.p. 1307), Southwark
was the scene of a conflict between the forces of
the king and those of Simon de Montfort, the
sturdy Earl of Leicester, which were marched, we
are told, through the county of Surrey, and being
victorious near the foot of the bridge, forced the
king to beat a retreat, while De Montfort passed in
triumph over the bridge into the City : the citizens
of London being, nearly to a man, upon his side.

Splendid pageants were, doubtless, seen fre-
quently here whilst the Court lived at the Tower,
and when London Bridge was the only way from
the south of England into the City. Of some of
these we have already spoken in the chapter above
referred to, particularly of those in the reign of
Richard II., which was, indeed, a memorable reign
for London Bridge. }

King Henry V. was received here in great state
on his return to London after the victory of Agin-
court ; an event which was celebrated in verse by
John Lydgate or Lidgate, the monk of Bury :—

¢ To London Brygge then rode our kyng,
The processions there they met him right ;
Ave, rex Anglorum, they 'gan syng,
Flos mundi, they said, Godde's knight.
To London Brygge when he com right
Upon the gate he stode on hy—

A gyant that was full grym of myght
To teche the Frenchmen curtesy.

Wot ye well that thus it was ;
Gloria tibi, Trinitas!”

Fabyan tells us, in his “Chronicles,” that in
1437, on Monday, the 14th of January, the great
stone gate and the tower standing upon it, next
Southwark, fell suddenly down at the river, with
two of the fairest arches of the said bridge.” To
which Stow piously adds, “And yet no man
perished in body, which was a great work of
Almighty God.”

It appears from the narratives which have come
down to us concerning the insurrections of Wat
Tyler, Jack Cade, and Falconbridge, that in the
Middle Ages Southwark was still somewhat desti-
tute of fortifications ; and, probably, its first regular
defences were those of the circuit of fortifications
thrown up by order of the Parliament during the
civil war.

Jack Cade seems to have made Southwark his
head-quarters all through his rebellion. In Shake-
speare’s vivid scenes of this rebellion (Henry V7.,
Part 1)), a messenger tells the king :—

‘¢ Jack Cade hath gotten London Bridge ; the citizens

Fly and forsake their houses,” &c.

Jack Cade, after his skirmish on Blackheath,
took up his quarters at the ‘ Hart Inn,” both
before and after his entry into the City. On the
night of Sunday, July sth, 1450, Cade being then
in Southwark, the city captains, the mayor, alder-
men, and commonalty of London, mounted guard
upon the bridge. “ The rebelles,” says Hall, in his
“ Chronicle,” ¢ which neuer soundly slepte, for feare
of sodayne chaunces, hearing the bridge to be kept
and manned, ran with great haste to open the
passage, where betwene bothe partes was a ferce
and cruell encounter. Matthew Gough, more ex-
pert in marciall feates than the other cheuetaynes
of the citie, perceiuing the Kentish men better to
stand to their tacklyng than his ymagination
expected, aduised his company no farther to pro-
cede toward Southwarke till the day appered ; to
the entent that the citizens hearing where the
place of the ieopardye rested, might seccurre their
enemies and releue their frendes and companions.
But this counsail came to smal effect: for the
multitude of the rebelles drave the citizens from
the stulpes [wooden piles] at the bridge-foote, to
the drawe-bridge, and began to set fyre in diuers
houses. Alas! what sorow it was to beholde that
miserable chaunce : for some desyringe to eschew
the fyre lept on hys enemies weapon, and so died ;
fearfull women, with chyldren in their armes, amased
and appalled, lept into the riuer ; other, doubtinge
how to saue them self betwene fyre, water, and
swourd, were in their houses suffocate and smol-
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dered ; yet the captayns nothyng regarding these
chaunces, fought on this drawe-bridge all the nyghte
valeauntly, but in conclusion the rebelles gat the
drawe-bridge, and drowned many, and slew John
Sutton, alderman, and Robert Heysande, a hardy
citizen, with many other, besyde Matthew Gough,
a man of greate wit, much experience in feates
of chiualrie, the which in continuall warres had
valeauntly serued the king, and his father, in the
partes beyond the sea. But it is often sene, that
he which many tymes hath vanquyshed his enemies
in straunge countreys, and returned agayn as a
conqueror, hath of his owne nation afterward been
shamfully murdered and brought to confusion.
This hard and sore conflict endured on the bridge
till ix of the clocke in the mornynge in doubtfull
chaunce and fortune’s balaunce: for some tyme
the Londoners were bet back to the stulpes at
Sainct Magnus Corner; and sodaynly agayne the
rebelles were repulsed and dryuen back to the
stulpes in Southwarke ; so that both partes beyng
faynte, wery, and fatygate, agreed to desist from
fight, and to leue battayll till the next day, vpon
condition that neyther Londoners should passe
into Southwarke, nor the Kentish men into
London.”

During the truce that followed this defence of
London Bridge, a general pardon was procured for
Cade and his followers by the Lord High Chan-
cellor, Archbishop Stafford; and all began to
withdraw by degrees from Southwark with their
spoil. Cade, however, was soon afterwards slain,
and his dead body having been brought up to
London, his head was placed over the south gate
of London Bridge. Mr. Mark A. Lower has been
at the trouble of recording the fact that he was
slain, not at Hothfield, in Kent, but at Heathfield,

near Cuckfield, in Sussex, where a roadside monu- |

ment is erected in his honour.
lowing inscription :—

It bears the fol-

‘“Near this spot was slain the notorious rebel,
Jack CADE,
By Alexander Iden, Sheriff of Kent, A.D. 1450.
His body was carried to London, and his head fixed on
London Bridge.

This is the success of all rebels, and this fortune chanceth
ever to traitors.”—Hall's Chronicle.

By that awful gate which looked towards South-
wark, for a period of nearly three hundred years,
under Tudor and Stuart sovereigns, it must have
been a rare thing for the passenger to walk with-
out seeing one or more human heads stuck upon
a. pike, looking down upon the flow of the river
below, and rotting and blackening in the sun. The
head of the noble Sir William Wallace was for many

months exposed on this spot. In 1471 Falcon-
bridge—* the bastard Falconbridge "—made South-
wark his head-quarters in his impudent attack on
London. He arrived here in May, giving out that
he came to free King Henry from his captivity ;
and by way of proof of his intention, burnt part
of the bridge, together with some of the houses
in the suburbs of Southwark. After meeting with
defeat, his head and those of nine of his com-
rades were stuck together on ten spears, where they
remained visible to all comers, till the elements
and the carrion crows had left nothing of them
there but the bones. At a later period the head
of the pious Fisher, Bishop of Rochester, was
stuck up here, along with that of the honest and
philosophic Sir Thomas More. The quarters of
Sir Thomas Wyatt, the son of the well-known poet
of that name, were exhibited here, at the end of
the bridge, during the reign of Queen Mary.

One of the most imposing pageants witnessed at
London Bridge was that accorded here by the
citizens to Henry VI, on his return to London,
after having been crowned King of France in the
church of Notre Dame at Paris; the “ pageant”
consisting, if Fabyan may be trusted, of a *‘ mighty
gyaunt standyng, with a swoard drawen,” and
figures of three * emperesses,” representing Nature,
Grace, and Fortune; with seven maidens, all in
white, representing the seven orders of the angelic
host, who addressed the king in verses recorded
at full length by Lydgate, of which the following
stanza may serve as a sample :—

‘¢ God the (thee) endue with a crowne of glorie,
And with a sceptre of clennesse and pité,
And with a shield of right and victorie,
And with a mantel of prudence clad thou be:
A shelde of faith for to defendé the,
An helme of hettlé wrought to thine encres
Girt with a girdel of loue and perfect peese (peace).”

Henry VII. was received here in pomp, after
defeating the insurgents, in 1497 ; the heads of the
leaders of the outbreak, Flamoke and Joseph, being
set over the entrance to the bridge.

In 1501, Prince Arthur, eldest son of Henry VIL,
with his bride, Katharine of Aragon, was welcomed
here on his way from “Lambhithe” to witness the
rejoicings prepared for them in the City. Stow
tells us, in his “ Annals,” “that at the entrance
of London Bridge they were greeted by a costly
pageant of St. Katharine and St. Ursula, with many
virgins.” How little did she then think of the fate
that awaited her!

Cardinal Wolsey rode in great state over the
bridge, and through the High Street, Southwark,
and along the Kentish Road, when he left the
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kingdom in 1526, for the purpose of arranging a
marriage between Henry VIIL and the Duchess
d’Alencon. Two years later, the public entry of
Cardinal Campeggio, as legate from the Pope,
into London, to deal with the question of Henry’s
divorce from Queen Katharine, must have been
a brave sight. The nobility rode in advance
from Blackheath towards London Bridge, ““well
mounted, and wearing elegant attire ;” then came
the cardinal himself, in magnificent rcbes, ¢glit-
tering with jewels and precious stones ;” then his
““cross-bearers, the carriers of his pole-axes, his
servants in red livery, his secretaries, physicians,
and general suite.” Next came two hundred
horsemen and a * vast concourse of people.” The
procession is said to have grown to two miles in
length before it reached the City gates. From St.
George’s Church to the foot of the bridge the
road was lined on both sides by the monks and
the other clergy, dressed in their various habits,
with copes of cloth of gold, silver and gold crosses,
and banners, who, we are told, as the legate
passed, ‘“threw up clouds of incense and sang
hymns.” At the foot of the bridge two bishops
received the cardinal, the people shouted for joy,
whilst all the bells of the City were rung, and the
roar of artillery from the Tower and the river-forts
“‘rent the air”—to use Wolsey’s own words—*“as
if the very heavens would fall.”

In the insurrection of Sir Thomas Wyatt in
1553—4,% Southwark formed the rallying-point for
that misguided rebel and his force, some four
thousand strong. His soldiers, meeting with but
little opposition on the south of the Thames,
attacked and sacked the palace of the Bishop of
Winchester, whose fine library they destroyed. As
the artillery in the Tower began to fire on South-
wark next day, in order to dislodge Sir Thomas,
the inhabitants urged him to retreat, in order to
save them from loss and destruction. His sub-
sequent movements and his ultimate fate we have
already recorded.

Stow tells us, in his “ Survey” (vol. i., p. 64),
that in April, 1577, the tower at the northern end
having become decayed, a new one was commenced
in its place ; and that during the interval the heads
of the traitors which had formerly stood upon it
were set upon the tower over the gate at Bridge-
foot, Southwark, which consequently came to be
called the Traitors’ Gate. It may be remembered
that John Houghton, the Prior of the Charter-
house, Sir Thomas More, and Bishop Fisher, were
among the “traitors ” who were thus treated.

About the time when these heads were removed,
several alterations and improvements would seem
to have been made in the bridge, especially in’ the
erection of a “beautiful and chargeable piece of
wood”—7.e., a magnificent wood mansion, which
formed a second Southwark Gate and Tower.

It 1s worthy of note that after the defeat of the
Spanish Armada, eleven of the captured standards
were hung upon London Bridge at the end looking
towards Southwark, on the day of Southwark Fair,
“to the great joy of all the people who repaired
thither.”

When the Parliamentary cause was in the ascen-
dant, and King Charles was expected to attack
the City, Southwark was rapidly fortified, par-
ticularly about the foot of London Bridge, like the
other outlying portions of the metropolis ;+ and
one of Cromwell’s officers, Colonel Rainsborough,
with a brigade of horse and foot, was able to hold
the whole borough of Southwark almost without
opposition.

On Tuesday, the 29th of May, 1660, King
Charles II. entered London in triumph, after
having been magnificently entertained in St.
George’s Fields. About three in the afternoon he
arrived in Southwark, and thence proceeded over
the bridge into the City, attended by all the glory
of London and the military forces of the kingdom.
Lord Clarendon, who makes this “fair return of
banished majesty ” the concluding scene of his
noble “ History of the Great Rebellion,” gives us
but little information as to the details of the
king’s reception at London Bridge, though we
learn incidentally from his paZes that ‘the crowd
was very great.”

Bloome, one of the continuators of Stow, ex-
pressly says that in the Great Fire some of the old
houses at the south end of the bridge—several of
them built in the reign of King John—escaped
the flames.

Two Gothic towers—not uniform in plan, how-
ever—defended the southern end of the original
bridge, and also of the second. At this end of the
bridge were, likewise, four corn-mills, based on
three sterlings, which projected far into the river
westward. They were covered with a long shed,
formed of shingles or thin boards, and could cer-
tainly have been no ornament to the structure to
which they were an appendage. We have already
spoken of the houses and shops which lined the
roadway of old London Bridge,{ but we may here
make mention of the tradesmen’s tokens which
were once in use here. A full list of those used in

# See Vol, 111, p. 125, and Vol. IV., p. 28.

+ See Vol. IV., p. 335 1 See Vol. II., p. 15.
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Southwark will be found in the appendix to Man-
ning and Bray’s “ History of Surrey.” Several of
these tokens relate to London Bridge. The author
of “Chronicles of London Bridge” gives illustra-
tions of several, among which is a copper token,
farthing size, having on the one side, to speak
heraldically, a bear passant, chained; and on the
reverse, the words * Abraham Browne, at y° Bridge-
foot, Southwark ; his half penny.” Another copper

| frequently by name by writers of the seventeenth.
century.

Thus Pepys writes, under date April 3, 1667 :—
%1 hear how the king is not so well pleased of this
marriage between the Duke of Richmond and Mrs.
Stuart, as is talked; and that he, by a wile, did
fetch her to the ‘Bear’ at the Bridge-foot, where
a coach was ready, and they are stole away into
Kent without the King’s leave.” Mr. Larwood
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PRIORY OF ST. MARY OVERY, 1700,

token shows the same device, with the legend
““Cornelius Cook, at the ‘Beare’ at the Bridge-
foot.” Another displays a sugar-loaf, with the
name, “Henry Phillips, at the Bridj-foot, South-
wark.”

The end of London Bridge, on the Southwark
side, was known as Bridge-foot. The “Bear” here
was, for some centuries, one of the most popular of
London taverns; indeed, if we may accept Mr.
Larwood’s statement, it was the resort of aristocratic
pleasure-seckers as early as the reign of Richard II1.
Thus, in March, 1463—4, it was repeatedly visited
by the “ Jockey of Norfolk,” then Sir John Howard,
who went thither to drink wine and shoot at the
target. Peter Cunningham, in his “London, Past
and Present,” adds that the ‘“Bear” is mentioned

observes that the wine sold at this establishment
did not meet with the approbation of the fastidious
searchers after claret in 1691 :—
¢ Through stinks of all sorts, both the simple and compound,
‘Which through narrow alleys our senses do confound,
We came to the Bear, which we now understood
Was the first house in Southwark built after the flood ;
And has such a succession of visitors known,
Not more names were €’er in Welch pedigrees shown ;
But claret with them was so much out of fashion,
That it has not been known there for a whole generation.”
(Last Search after Claret in Southwark, 1691.)
This old tavern was taken down in December,
| 1761, when a quantity of coins, dating as far back as
L the reign of Elizabeth, were found, as may be seen
by a reference to the Public Advertiser of that date.
We learn from the Harleian manuscripts that

P R ——
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there was here another old inn, known as the
“Knave of Clubs,” kept by one Edward Butling,
whose advertisement states that he *“maketh and
selleth all sorts of hangings for rooms, &c.,” and
who, probably, also sold playing-cards, if his sign
had any meaning.

Bridge Street, probably, extended itself gradually
on to the bridge itself; the houses being distin-
guished by signs, some of which have come down
to our times, in the works of antiquaries and on

on London Bridge, facing Tooley Street, sells all
sorts (of) leather breeches, leather, and gloves,
wholesale and retail, at reasonable rates.” It is
clear, from these notices, that it was very doubtful
where London Bridge ended and Bridge Street
actually began.

In the sixteenth century, the street on the bridge
ranked with St. Paul’s Churchyard, Paternoster Row,
and Little Britain, as one of the principal literary

emporia of the City. ‘The Three Bibles,” “The

OLD HOUSES FORMERLY AT BANKSIDE.

tradesmen’s tokens and bill-heads. For instance:
there is extant a small copper-plate tobacco paper,
probably of the relgn of Queen Anne, with a coarse
and rude engraving of a negro smoking, and hold-
ing in his hand a roll of tobacco; above his head |
is a crown, two ships in full sail are behind, and the |

sun issues from the right-hand corner above; in |

the foreground are four little negroes planting and
packing tobacco, and beneath is the name “John |
Winkley, Tobacconist, near y° Bridge, in the
Burrough, Southwark.” ‘We have also seen another
shop bill, of about the same date, displaying, within |

a rich cartouche frame, a pair of embroidered |

small-clothes and a glove : beneath is the legend,

“Walter Watkins, Breeches-maker, Leather-seller,

:and Glover, at the sign of the ¢ Breeches and Glove,’
242

(See page 45.)

| Angel,” and “The Looking-Glass,” are some of the
signs of the publishers established “on London
Bndge, and mentioned on the title-pages of books
pubhshed at this date.

John Bunyan at one time certainly used to
preach in a chapel in Southwark ; but, in all pro-
| bability, the author of ‘ Wine and Walnuts” is
I using the vagueness of after-dinner talkers when he

says that the converted tinker lived on London
. Bridge. Perhaps he was led into the error by the
fact that one of Bunyan’s lesser books was published
| there.

The Bridge House and Yard in Tooley Street
| are closely connected with the history of the
bridge itsel. For Stow tells us, in his “Survey”
(vol. ii., p. 24), that they were so called as being
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“a storc-house for stone, timber, or whatsoever
pertaineth to “the building or repairing of London
Bridge.” He adds that this Bridge House “ seemeth
to have taken beginning with the first foundation
‘of the bridge, cither of stone or timber ;” and that
it covers “a large plot of ground on the banks of
the river Thames, containing divers large buildings
for the stowage of materials ” for the bridge. The
Bridge House, in fact, was long used as a receptacle
of provisions for the navy, and as a store-house for
the public in times of dearth ; ovens were attached
to it, in which the biscuit for the Royal Navy was
baked. It was also used on certain occasions as
a banqueting-hall, when the Lord Mayor came in
his official capacity to the borough. One of these
occasions was at the opering of Southwark Fair, of
which we shall have more to say presently. We
may state here, however, that the fair was insti-
tuted in the rcign of Edward VI, and was held
annually in the month of September. ‘At the
time of this fair, anciently called ‘ Our Lady’s Fair
in Southwark,’” observes the author of “Chronicles
of London Bridge,” *the Lord Mayor and Sheriffs
used to ride to St. Magnus’ Church after dinner,
at two oclock in the afternoon, the former being
vested with his collar of SS., without his hood, and
all dressed in the scarlet gowns, lined, without
their cloaks. They were attended by the sword-
bearer, wearing his embroidered cap, and carrying
the ¢ pearl’ sword ; and at church were met by the
aldermen, all of whom, after evening prayer, rode
over the bridge in procession, and passed through
the fair, and continued either to St. George’s
Church, Newington Bridge, or the stones pointing
out the City Liberties at St. Thomas of Waterings.
They then returned over the bridge, or to the
Bridge House, where a banquet was provided, and
the aldermen took leave of the Lord Mayor; all
parties being returned home, the Bridge Masters
gave a supper to the Lord Mayor’s officers.”

“The two governors of the bridge,” writes the
author of the work above quoted, “have an ex-
cellent house in the suburb of Southwark, as well
as a store-house, containing everything belonging
to their occupation.” From the same work we
learn that a cross, charged with a small saltire, is
supposed to have been the old heraldic device for
Southwark or the estate of London Bridge; and
we know that the arms used for those places are
still Azure, an amulet, ensigned with a cross patée,
Or, interlaced with a saltire, conjoined in base of
the second.

The following just remarks on the general aspect
of Southwark in the Middle Ages are taken from

Dr. R. Paule’s ¢ Pictures of Old London :”"— % On

— P

the other side of the river lay many points, isolated
and unconnected with one another, which are now
joined together into a district of the town that
numbers its hundreds of thousands of inhabitants.
It was only at the outlet of the bridge at South-
wark that, from different causes, there had arisen in
ancient times a town-like settlement. Two great
priories—the monastery of St. Mary Overies and
the convent of Bermondsey—had early given rise
to the active and Dbusy intercommunication which
naturally resulted from the vicinity of such eccle-
siastical institutions as these were. Near to St.
Mary’s, and not far from the bridge, there stood
till the time of the Reformation the magnificent
palace of the Bishop of Winchester, one of the
wealthiest and most powerful prelates in the land,
and whose extensive spiritual jurisdiction included
the county of Surrey. The most important agent
in this great intercommunication was the high road
which ran from the bridge, and extended through
the southern counties to the ports of Kent, Sussex,
and Hampshire. Here heavily-laden wagons were-
constantly moving to and fro; and here, too,
assembled, at the appointed seasons of the year,
the motley crowd of pilgrims who were bound for
the shrine of the holy Thomas & Becket at Can-
terbury. The ‘Tabard’ inn had been known far
and near for many ages, from the vivid descriptions
given by Chaucer, of the busy life and stir which
blended there with devotion and adventure. All
remains of it are not yet (1861) effaced, although
there has been erected in its immediate neighbour-
hood the railway terminus of that great overland
route which connects England with India. . . . .
The greater part of the land lying on the opposite
(z.e., the Surrey) bank of the river consisted of
fields and gardens, with a few larger hamlets, and
some places of amusement, where bear-baiting and
cock-fighting were practised. Immediately opposite
to Westminster rose the chapel and castellated
towers and walls of the princely residence which
the Archbishops of Canterbury had chosen before
the close of the twelfth century for their town
residence, in the immediate neighbourhood of the-
chief offices of state and the tribunals of justice.”
Such must have been, speaking generally, the
appearance of Southwark five centuries ago.

In the time of Elizabeth, if we may rely on the
statements of the * Penny Cyclopazdia,” Southwark
appears to have consisted of a line of street ex-
tending from the bridge nearly to where now is the
Borough Road, formerly called ““Long Southwark ;”
Kent Street, then the high road to Canterbury and
Dover, and of which only the part near St. George’s
Church was lined with houses; a line of street,
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including Tooley or St. Olave’s Street, extending
from the “ Bridge-foot” to Rotherhithe Church;
another line of street running westward by Bank-

- side to where is now the Blackfriars Road ; and,
lastly, Bermondsey Street, branching off from
Tooley Street to Bermondsey Church.  Excepting
near St. Saviour’s Church, there were at that time
scarcely any back or cross streets. Near Bankside
were the Bishop of Winchester’s palace, the Globe
Theatre, the “Stews,” and two “ Bear Gardens” for
baiting bulls and bears. The “villages” of Lam-
beth, Kennington, Newington, and Walworth were
then separated from Southwark, and from each
other also, by open fields.

Towards the end of the seventeenth century
Southwark had extended itself considerably. The
houses on the east side of Blackman Street now
stretched to Newington and Walworth, which thus
became joined on to the metropolis, though St
George’s Fields, on the western side, still remained
open country. Back streets, also, and alleys had
been formed on either side of High Street, as far
as St. George’s Church. In the early part of the
eighteenth century the buildings of Southwark ex-
tended along the riverside as far as Lambeth;
and in the opposite direction Rotherhithe Street
was continued to and even beyond Cuckold’s
Point, where the river bends to the southward.
Later still, in the middle of the eighteenth century,
the opening of Blackfriars Bridge led to the for-
mation of Great Surrey Street; and towards the
close of the century, St. George’s Fields were
enclosed and laid out in new streets. Since the
commencement of the present century, Lambeth
Marsh—which formerly separated Southwark from
Lambeth—has been covered with new streets and
buildings ; and in every direction Southwark has
spread itself till it has united itself with all the
surrounding villages, from Greenwich in the far[
east to Battersea in the far west, and combinedl
them into one large town, having a population of
about 300,000, of which Southwark proper may be
regarded as the nucleus.

In a little less than ten years after the Great Fire |
of London—namely, in May, 1676—Southwark was
visited by a fire which did, in proportion, almost
equal damage with the conflagration which has’
become historical. ¢ It broke out,” writes Mr. C.
Walford, in the “Insurance Cyclopaedia,” “at an |
oilman’s, between the ‘George’ and ¢Tabard’|
inns, opposite St. Margaret'’s Hill. The front of |
the ¢ Tabard’ was consumed, but was immediately
rebuilt, presumably in facsimile of the original,
with its court-yard, galleries, pilgrim’s hall, and

quaint old sleeping-rooms. It is doubtful,” he
adds, “how far any part of the hotel then burnt
may have been part of the actual inn described by
Chaucer : where, on the eve of a pilgrimage, the
pretty prioress, the ¢ Wife of Bath,’ the ¢Knight,
the ¢ Squire,” the ¢ Sumpnour,” and the ¢ Pardoner,’
met, chatted, laughed, and flirted. The ¢White
Hart, whose name was connected with that of
Jack Cade, was also burnt in this fire. The fire-
engines were first worked with hose-pipes on this
occasion, and did good service. It was probably
owing to these that the conflagration was stayed at
St. Thomas’s Hospital.”

The king (Charles II.) was so much touched by
the sight, which recalled vividly the scenes which
he had witnessed ten years before, that he went
down the river in his state-barge to London Bridge,
in order “to give such orders as His Majesty found
fit for putting a stop to it.” It is difficult, however,
to see how a king could be of more use in such an
emergency than a good chief-fireman, or even of as
much service. The buildings being as yet, like
those of Old London, chiefly of timber, lath, and
plaster, the fire spread extensively; and its farther
progress was stayed only “after that about 600
houses had been burnt or blown up.”

Old London Bridge, and the street winding
southward from it, were situated about a hundred
feet eastward of the present bridge and its approach
from the High Street. The building of New
London Bridge was actually commenced on the
15th of May, 1824, when the first coffer-dam for the
southern pier was driven into the bed of the river;
the first stone was laid in June, 1825; and the
bridge was publicly opened by William IV. and
Queen Adelaide on the 1st of August, 1831. “I
was present, a few days ago,” writes Lucy Aikin, in
September of that year, “at the splendid spectacle
of the opening of new London Bridge. It was
covered half-way over with a grand canopy, formed
of the flags of all nations, near which His Majesty
dined with about two thousand of his loyal subjects.
The river was thronged with gilded barges and
boats, covered with streamers, and crowded with

! gaily-dressed people ; the shores were alive with

the multitude. In the midst of the gay show I
looked down the stream upon the old, deserted, half-
demolished bridge, the silent remembrancer of
seven centuries. I thought of it fortified, with a
lofty gate at either end, and encumbered with a
row of houses on each side. I beheld it the scene
of tournaments ; I saw its barrier closed against the
rebel Wyatt; and I wished myself a poet for its
sake.”
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CHAPTER III.
SOUTHWARK (continued).—ST. SAVIOUR’S CHURCH, &c.

¢ How many an antique monument is found
1llegible, and faithless to its charge!
That deep insculp’d once held in measured phrase
The mighty deeds of those who sleep below :
Of hero, sage, or saint, whose pious hands
Those ponderous masses raised—forgotten now,
“I'hey and their monuments alike repose.”

4 ¥ ugh—The Liberty of the Clink—The Old High Streect—The Clock-tower at London Bridge—The Borough.
b4 Lll\r;‘al:igf~s(§;:im5“t,.u ;‘a\a/iso:r}:oéomimar School—’i"hc Patent of Foundation granted by Queen Elizabeth—St. Saviour's Church—The Legend
of Old Audrey, the Ferryman—Probable Derivation of the Name of Overy, or Overie—Foundation of the Priory of St. Mary Overy—
Burning of the Priory in 1212—Building of the Church of St. Mary Magdalen—Historical Events connected with the Church—Religious
Ceremonies and Public Processions—Alterations and Restorations of St. Saviour’s Church—The Lady Chapel used as a Bakehouse—Bishop
Andrewes’ Chapel—John Gower, John Fletcher, and other Noted Personages buried here—Hollar’s Etchings—Montague Close.

Berore procceding with an examination of the
various objects of antiquarian interest abounding
in the locality, it may be as well to state that
Southwark is a gencral name, sometimes taken and
understood as including, and sometimes as exclud-
ing Rotherhithe, Bermondsey, and Lambeth. We
shall use it, at present, in the latter sense.

Black’s “Guide to London,” published in 1863,
divides the district south of the Thames into two
principal portions :—* 1. Southwark, known also
as ‘the Borough,” including Bermondsey and

Rotherhithe, with a population of about 194,000."

2. Lambeth, with the adjacent but outlying dis-
tricts of Kennington, Walworth, Newington, Wands-
worth, and Camberwell, with a population of
386,000.” Southwark is always called ‘the
Borough” by Londoners; and very naturally so,
for it has been a “borough” literally, having re-
turned two members to Parliament since the
twenty-third year of Edward I., and it was for
several centuries the only “borough” adjacent to
the “cities ” of London and Westminster. Under
the first Reform Bill (1832) its limits as a borough
were extended by the addition of the parishes of
Christ Church, Bermondsey, and Rotherhithe, and
also of the “ Liberty of the Clink.”

The Liberty of the Clink, as we learn from the
“ Penny Cyclopzedia” (1842), belongs to the Bishop
of Winchester, whose palace, of which we shall pre-
sently speak, stood near the western end of St.
Saviour's Church, and who appoints for it—or, at
all events, till very lately appointed—a steward and
a bailiff. This part of Southwark appears not to
have been included in the grant to the City.

In the “ New View of London” (1708) we read,
“The Manor of Southwark, by some called the
Clink Liberty, is, in extent, about a quarter of the
parish of St. Saviour’s.
it is under the Bishop of Winchester, who keeps
court by his steward and bailiff; who hold pleas as

at the Burrough (sic) for debt, damage, &c., for
which manor there is a prison.”

There is nothing romantic, to say the least, in
the situation of Southwark. At the best it isa dead
flat, unmixed by a single acre of rising ground.
“What a contrast,” exclaims Charles Mackay, in
“The Thames and its Tributaries,” ““is there now,
and always has been, in both the character and the
appearance of the two sides of the river! The
London side, high and well built, thickly studded
with spires and public edifices, and resounding
with all the noise of the operations of a various
industry ; the Southwark and Lambeth side, low
and flat, and meanly built, with scarcely an edifice
higher than a wool-shed or timber-yard, and a popu-
lation with a squalid, dejected, and debauched
look, offering a remarkable contrast to the cheer-
fulness and activity visible on the very faces of the
Londoners. The situation of Southwark upon the-
low swamp is, no doubt, one cause of the unhealthy
appearance of the dwellers on the south side of the
Thames ; but the dissolute and rakish appearance
of the lower orders among them must be otherwise:
accounted for. From a very early age, if the truth
must be told, Southwark and Lambeth, and espe-
cially the former, were the great sinks and recep-
tacles of all the vice and immorality of London.
Down to the year 1328 Southwark had been inde-
pendent of the jurisdiction of London—a sort of
neutral ground which the law could not reach—
and, in consequence, the abode of thieves and
abandoned characters of every kind. They used

The civil government of men, to prevent their inroads.

to sally forth in bands of a hundred or two hun-
| dred at a time to rob in the City; and the Lord
| Mayor and aldermen for the time being had not
 unfrequently to keep watch upon the bridge for
nights together, at the head of a troop of armed
The thieves, how-
ever, on these occasions took to their boats at mid-
!night, and rowing up the river landed at West-
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minster, where they drove all before them with
as much valour and as great impunity as a border
chieftain upon a foray into Cumberland. These
things induced the magistrates of London to apply
to Edward IIL for a grant of Southwark. The
request was complied with, and the vicious place
was brought under the rule of the City. Driven,
in some measure, from their nest, the thieves took
refuge in Lambeth, and still set the authorities at
defiance. From that day to this the two boroughs
have had pretty much the same character, and have
been known as the favourite resort of thieves and
vagabonds of every description.” It is to be
hoped that in this description of the character of
the “Londoners over the water,” Dr. Mackay has
written with a little of poetical licence, not to say
exaggeration, as he certainly has over-stated the
squalidity of their buildings. The huge palaces of
commerce erected on either side of Southwark
Street in 1875 give the most palpable contradiction
to his statements, which perhaps were a little in
excess of the truth in 1840, when he wrote.

Down to the time of the demolition of Old
London Bridge, and the consequent formation of
the present broad approach to the new bridge,
Southwark retained much of its antique character.
The old High Street, then rich with its pointed
gables, and half-timbered over-hanging storeys,
with florid plaster-work and diamond casements,
such as characterised the street architecture of
ancient London—is now quite altered in appear-
ance. All the picturesque features here mentioned
have long been swept away, and their place was for
a time supplied by the unbroken parapets and the
monotonous brick front of lines of shops ; but even
these in turn have in part been superseded by
buildings altogether of another age and style ; we
refer to the Grecian and Italianised fagade of the
western side of the present High Street, imme-
diately on our right as we leave the bridge.

' “The street of Old Southwark,” writes John
Timbs, in his ‘“Autobiography,” “was in a line
shelving down from the bridge, and crowded with
traffic from morn till night. We remember, about
1809, watching from our nursery window the
demolition of a long range of wood-and-plaster
and gabled houses on the west side of High Street ;
and in 1830 were removed two houses of the time
of Henry VII., with bay windows and picturesque
plaster decorations, reported, though we know not
with how much truth, to have been the abode of
Queen Anne Boleyn.”

Brayley, in his ¢ History of Surrey,” remarks:
“The principal street [of Southwark] is the High
Street, forming a portion of the great road from

»

London through Surrey, and running in 2 south.
westerly direction from London Bridge to St.
Margaret’s Hill, and thence to St. George’s Church.
The part between the bridge and St. Margaret’s
Hill was formerly called Zong Southwark, but is
now called Wellington Street, from which the way
is called High Street as far as St. George’s
Church.”

Near the foot of the bridge, and at the point
where the high level of the bridge begins to slope
down to the original level of the ground, the road
is crossed by the railway bridge over which are
carried the lines connecting London Bridge station
with the stations at Cannon Street and Charing
Cross. Here, too, in the centre of the roadway,
stood for some few years a clock-tower of Gothic
design, surmounted by a spire, and originally in-
tended, we believe, to have contained a statue of
the Duke of Wellington. The tower itself was
erected about the year 1854, but the statue was
never placed in it ; and having been found to be a
continual block to the traffic over the bridge, the
tower itself was in the end demolished.

At the time of the alterations made here, in
consequence of the. rebuilding of London Bridge,
advantage was taken to carry out another improve-
ment for the benefit of the locality, namely, the
erection of a new market-place. Inconvenience
having arisen from the situation of the old market,
which used to be held in the High Street, between
London Bridge and St. Margaret’s Hill, two Acts
of Parliament were obtained in the middle of the
last century, in pursuance of which a market-house
was erected on a piece of ground westward of the
High Street, called Rochester Yard, from having
been formerly the site of a mansion belonging
to the see of Rochester, which was taken down
in the year 1604, and the site of which is still
marked by Rochester Street. The market-place
now consists of a large open paved space on the
south side of St. Saviour’s churchyard; in one
corner of it a neat granite drinking-fountain has
been erected. Several buildings, of a light and
airy character, to serve the purposes of the dealers
and others in the market—which, by the way, is
devoted to the sale of vegetables, &c.—occupy the
south side of the open space ; the principal feature
in these buildings is the large central dome. A
considerable addition of space was made to the
market-place in 1839 by the demolition of the old
St. Saviour's Grammar School, which had existed
on that spot since the time of Queen Elizabeth.
“The old school,” as we learn from the AMirror,
vol. xxxv. (1840), “was a handsome structure, with
very spacious school-room, having the masters
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seat, with sounding-board over. The exterior was
a brick fabric, consisting of three casement windows
on each side of a large doorway, ascended by three
semi-circular stone steps, with a handsome carved
dome, representing two children supporting the
Bible. The second storey had seven lofty case-
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wark, having been purchased by the inhabitants
as a parish church, the desire of instilling useful
knowledge among youth induced Thomas Cure,
the queen’s saddler, and several other benevolent
persons, to found the grammar-school we are now
describing for the instruction of thirty boys of the
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ment windows ; the rooms panelled. The school |
was screened from the churchyard by an iron
railing.”

When Queen Elizabeth came to the throne,
following the example of her brother, Edward VI,
she considered the importance of diffusing know—
ledge among the people, to forward whlch she
not only re- founded the grammar-school of West-
minster, but encouraged her subjects to other like
acts of benevolence.

The priory church of St. Mary Overy, South-

INTERIOR OF ST. SAVIOUR'S CHURCH.

same parish; and for this purpose they obtained
| letters patent from Queen Elizabeth, in the fourth
year of her reign. In these it is recited of the said
grammar-school ;:—

“That Thomas Cure, William Browker, Chris.
topher Campbell, and other discret and more sad
inhabitants of St. Saviour’s, had, at their own great
costs and pains, devised, erected, and set up a
grammar-school, wherein the children of the poor,
as well as the rich inhabitants, were freely brought

up ; that they had applied for a charter to establish
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a succession ; she therefore wills that it shall be
one grammar-school for Education of the Children
of the Parishioners and Inhabitants of St. Saviour,
to be called ‘A Free Grammar-school of the
Parishioners of St. Saviour in Southwark,’ to have
one master and one under-master ; six of the more
discreet and sad inhabitants to be governors, by
the name of ‘Governors of the Possessions and
Revenues and Goods of the Free Grammar-school
of the Parishioners of the Parish of St. Saviour,
Southwark, in the county of Surrey, incorporate
and erected ;’ and they are thereby incorporated,
to have perpetual succession, with power to pur-
chase lands, &c., and that on death or other causes
the remaining governors, and twelve others of the
more discreet and godliest inhabitants, by the
governors to be named, should elect a meet person
or governor . . . having power, with advice of the
Bishop of Winchester, or he being absent, with
advice of any good or learned man, to appoint a
schoolmaster and usher from time to time, &c;

. . and also power to purchase lands not ex-
ceeding £40 a year.

“ All that the parishioners obtained by this patent
of Queen Elizabeth was to be made a corporate
body with succession; the queen gave them
nothing to endow their school. It seems to have
been some time before they proceeded any farther,
for the first patent of Elizabeth granted a lease of
the rectory for sixty years, in order that a school
should be erected ; but by a subsequent patent it
appears that it had not been built till after 1585.

“In 1676 the school was burnt in the great fire
which then destroyed a large part of Southwark,
but it was soon rebuilt.”

The new building having become sadly dilapi-
dated in 1830, the governors resolved on erecting
a new school near St. Peter's Church, in Sumner
Street, the ground being given for the purpose by
Dr. Sumner, Bishop of Winchester, and accord-
ingly the ancient grammar-school was taken down.
We shall have more to say about St. Saviour’s
Grammar School when we reach Sumner Street.

St. Saviour’s Church—one of the finest parochial
churches in the kingdom—in spite of the barbarous
mutilation which it underwent when its nave was
pulled down, is now almost the sole remaining
object of “Old Southwark.” 1In spite of the loss
of its original nave, it is deservedly styled by Mr.
A. Wood, in his “Ecclesiastical Antiquities of
London,” “the second church in the metropolis,
and the first in the county of Surrey.” It is one of
the few parish churches in the kingdom possessing
a ‘““lady chapel” still perfect.

Before the Reformation it was styled the priory
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church of St. Mary Overy, and its early history is
almost lost in the mists of ancient tradition. 'There
is a curious legend connecting the building of the
original London Bridge with the church of St
Mary Overy, but it has been much discredited.
The story is related on the authority of Stow,
who chronicled it as the report of the last prior,
Bartholomew Linsted :—

“ A ferry being kept in the place where now the
bridge is builded, at length the ferryman and his
wife deceasing, left the same ferry to their only
daughter, a maiden named Mary, who, with the
goods left her by her parents, as also with the profits
of the said ferry, builded an house of Sisters on
the place where now standeth the east part of St.
Mary Overy’s Church, above the quire, where she
was buried, unto which house she gave the over-
sight and profits of the ferry.. But afterwards the
said house of Sisters being converted into a college
of priests, the priests builded the bridge of timber,
as all the other great bridges of this land were,
and from time to time kept the same in good
reparation ; till at length, considering the great
charges which were bestowed in the same, there
was, by aid of the citizens and others, a bridge
builded with stone.”

The story of the miserly old ferryman, Audrey,
Mary’s father—how he counterfeited death in order
that his household might forego a day’s victuals, as
he never supposed but that their sorrow would
make them fast at least so long ; and how strangely
he was deceived—has already been told by us.* As
the story, however—regardless of its improbability
—is as closely connected with this venerable fabric
as it is with London Bridge itself, we may be
pardoned for recapitulating some of the main inci-
dents of the tradition. No sooner had the old
man—so runs the story—been decently laid out,
than those about him fell to feasting and making
merry, rejoicing at the death of the old sinner,
who, stretched in apparent death, bore their rioting
for a short time, but at length sprang from his bed,
and, seizing the first weapon at hand, attacked his
apprentice. The encounter was fatal to him ; and
his daughter, the gentle, fair-haired Mary, the heiress
of his wealth, devoted it to the establishment of a
House of Sisters as above mentioned. The house
bore her name of Mary Audrey, with the saintly
prefix ; but in the lapse of time, Audrey became
corrupted into “Overic.” Some old writers, how-
ever, suggest that the religious house was originally
founded in honour of the popular Saxon saint
Audrey, or Etheldreda, of Ely. But a more pro-

* See Vol. I1., p. g.
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bable derivation of the name than either of the
foregoing is from “ over the rie,” that is “over the
water.” Even in these days Londoners north of
the Thames invariably designate the whole of the
southern suburbs as “over the water;” and the
phrase may perhaps be as old as the time of the
building of St. Mary’s “over the rie.”

Long after the good Mary Audrey (or Overie)
died—if, indeed, she ever lived—a noble lady
named Swithen changed the House of Sisters into
a college for priests; and in 1106 two Norman
knights, Willlam Pont de I'Arche and William
Dauncey, re-founded it as a house for canons of
the Augustine order. Giffard, then Bishop of Win-
chester, built the conventual church and the palace
in Winchester Yard close by. It was in this priory
that the fire broke out in 1212, when the greater
part of Southwark was destroyed, and another fire
breaking out simultaneously at the northern end of
London Bridge an immense crowd was enclosed
between the two fires, and 3,000 persons were
burned or drowned. The canons thus burnt out
established a temporary place of worship on the
opposite side of the main road, which they dedi-
cated to St. Thomas, and occupied for about three
years until their own church was repaired.

The church was then dedicated to St. Mary
Magdalen. In 1273, Walter, Archbishop of York,
granted an indulgence of thirty days to all who
should contribute to the rebuilding of the sacred
edifice, and towards the end of the following
century the church was entirely rebuilt. Gower,
the poet, it is stated, contributed a considerable
portion of the funds.

In 1404 Cardinal Beaufort was consecrated to
the see of Winchester, and two years later was
celebrated in this church the marriage of Edmund
Holland, Earl of Kent, with Lucia, eldest daughter
of Barnaby, Lord of Milan. Henry IV. him-
self gave away the bride ““at the church door,”
and afterwards conducted her to the marriage
banquet at Winchester Palace. It was in this
church, too, a few years subsequently (1424), that
James I. of Scotland wedded the daughter of the
Earl of Somerset, and niece of the great Cardinal,
the golden-haired beauty, Jane Beaufort, of whom,
during his imprisonment at Windsor, the royal poet
had become enamoured, doubting, when he first
saw her from his window, whether she was

¢ A worldly creature,
Or heavenly thing in likeness of nature.”

At all events, the king describes her in his verses
as

‘¢ The fairest and the freshest yonge flower

' That ever I saw, methought, before that hour.”

The marriage feast on this occasion, too, was kept
in the great hall of Winchester Palace, and in a
style befitting the munificence of the cardinal.
The marriage, as we are told, was a happy one,
and the bards of Scotland vied with each other in
singing the praises of the queen, and in extolling
her beauty and her conjugal affection. In 1437
James was murdered by his subjects, his brave
queen being twice wounded in endeavouring to save
his life. 3 : '

At the dissolution of religious houses, in 1539,
the priory of black canons—for such was that of
St. Mary Overy’s—of course shared the general
fate of monastic establishments; but the last prior,
Bartholomew Linsted, had the good fortune of
obtaining from Henry VIIIL a yearly pension of
£100. The inhabitants of the parishes of St. Mary
Magdalen and St. Margaret-at-Hill—which latter
church stood on the west side of the :High Street,
on the spot till recently occupied by the Town
Hall—purchased, with the assistance of Stephen
Gardiner, Bishop of Winchester, the stately church
of St. Mary. The priory church was also at the
same time purchased from the king, and the two
parishes were united under the title of St. Saviour’s,
the priory church having been recogunised by the
name of St. Saviour’s for nearly thirty years before.
At the same time the churchwardens and vestry
were constituted a ‘corporation sole.” Six years
before that period’'a dole had been given at the
door of the church, and so great was the crowd and
pressure on that occasion that several persons were
killed. In pre-Reformation times this church was
the scene of many religious ceremonies and public
processions. One of these, conducted with great
pomp and ceremony, is described by Fosbroke in
his economy of monastic life, as follows :—

¢ Then two and two they march’d, and loud bells toll'd s

One from a sprinkle holy water flung ;

This bore the relics from a chest of gold,

On arm of that the swinging censor hung ;

Another loud a tinkling hand-bell rung.

Four fathers went that singing monk behind,

Who suited Psalms of Holy David sung ;

Then o’er the cross a stalking sire inclined,

And banners of the church went waving in the wind.”

Various alterations and restorations have at
different times been made in the fabric of the
church. The Lady Chapel, at the eastern end, is
a relic of the older edifice. The tower of the
church was repaired in 1689; and in 1822 a
complete restoration of the fine Gothic edifice was
commenced. The brick casings with which gene-
rations of “ Goths™ had hidden the beautiful archi-
tecture were removed ; groined roof and transepts
were restored, and a circular window of rare beauty
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added. But even in this great work the taste of
the age, as represented by the vestry and church-
wardens, interfered ; the noble vista of the *long-
drawn aisle” was broken, and a new and sorry
modern nave constructed in its place.

The edifice is very spacious,and is built on the
plan of a cathedral. In its style of architecture,
excepting its tower, it somewhat resembles Salis-
bury Cathedral. It comprises a nave and aisles,
transepts, a choir with its aisles, and at the eastern
end, as above stated, the chapel of the Blessed
Virgin, or, as it is more commonly called, the Lady
Chapel. Contiguous, but extending farther east-
ward, was added a small chapel, which in time came
to be called the Bishop’s Chapel, from the tomb of
Bishop Andrewes having been placed in its centre.
This latter chapel was entered from the Lady
Chapel under a large pointed arch. The chapel
itself was rather over thirty feet in length, and had
a stone seat on each side, and at the east end.
However, as it was thought to injure the effect of
the eastern elevation of the church, as seen from
the new bridge road, it was taken down in the year
1830. A view of the Bishop’s Chapel, from the
last sketch that was taken of it, is given in Taylor’s
““ Annals of St. Mary Overy.”

At the intersection of the nave, transepts, and
choir, rises a noble tower, 35 feet square and 150
feet in height, resting on four massive pillars
adorned with clustered columns. The sharp-
pointed arches are very lofty. The interior of the
tower is in four storeys, in the uppermost of which
is a fine peal of twelve bells. Externally, the
tower, which is not older than the sixteenth
century, somewhat resembles that of St. Sepulchre’s
Church, close by Newgate. It is divided into two
parts, with handsome pointed windows, in two
storeys, on each front ; it has tall pinnacles at each
corner, and the battlements are of flint, in squares
or chequer work.

This tower has been in great jeopardy on more
than one occasion, once through the vibration
caused by the ringing of: the bells, when damage
was done to the extent of several thousand pounds ;
and more recently, when the south-eastern pinnacle
was struck down by lightning, and fell upon the roof
of the south transept, doing considerable damage.

We are told that, during and after the progress
of the Great Fire of London, Hollar busied him-
self from his old and favourite point of view, the
summit of this tower, in delineating the appearance
of the city as it lay in ruins, which is so well
known to us by the help of the engraver’s art.

The western front of the church, as well as its
southern side, has been restored with rubble-stone

within the last half century in a style that reflects
but little credit on the architect. In each corner
rises a slight octagonal tower. In the buttresses,
on each side of the large window, flintwork is
ornamentally inserted. COver the door, which is in
three compartments, in pointed arches, is a plain
sunken entablature, occupying the space formerly
devoted to a range of small pillars, forming niches,
the centre having a bracket, on which is supposed
to have stood the figure of the Virgin. From the
repairs and alterations that have from time to time
taken place in the fabric, the beauty of the interior,
especially in the nave, has been much impaired.
But it is still a noble structure ; indeed, it has been
proposed to restore the nave and make the church
into a cathedral, as a, memorial to the late Bishop
Wilberforce.

The nave, as it at present exists, is awkwardly
reached from the transept by a flight of several
steps, a huge screen blocking up the view from
east to west. The roof of the nave originally was
supported by twenty-six columns, thirteen on each
side, of which the four nearest the western end
were of the massy round Norman character. The
other columns were octangular, with small cluster-
columns added at the four cardinal points. Corre-
sponding with these columns are semi-columns in
the walls, from which spring the arches of the
aisles. There is a gallery in the window storey of
the nave, which was formerly continued over the
arches of the transept and choir. The altar-piece,
or screen, at the east end of the nave forms a com-
plete separation between this part of the structure
and the choir. In fact, the transepts and chancel,
under the existing arrangements, are utterly useless.

From the great supporting columns of the tower
to the altar-screen at the east end of the choir run
five lofty pointed arches, enriched with mouldings,
and the groined roof, of stone, is exceedingly fine.
The screen dividing the choir from the Lady
Chapel is rich in its carving and decoration. On
the east side of the south transept formerly stood
the chapel of St. Mary Magdalen, founded and
built by Peter de Rupibus, Bishop of Winchester.
This chapel was thus described by Mr. Nightingale
in 1818:—%“ The chapeél itself is a very plain
erection. It is entered on the south, through a
large pair of folding doors leading down a small
flight of steps. The ceiling has nothing peculiar
in its character ; nor are the four pillars supporting
the roof, and the unequal arches leading into the
south aisle, in the least calculated to convey any
idea of grandeur or feeling of veneration. These
arches have been cut through in a very clumsy
manner, so that scarcely any vestige of the ancient
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church of St. Mary Magdalen now remains. A
small doorway and windows, however, are still
visible at the east end of this chapel ; the west end
formerly opened into the south transept; but that
also is now walled up, except a part, which leads
to the gallery there. There are in different parts
niches which once held the holy water, by which
the pious devotees of former ages sprinkled their
foreheads on their entrance before the altar. I am
not aware that any other remains of the old church
are now visible in this chapel. Passing through
the eastern end of the south aisle, a pair of gates
leads into the Virgin Mary’s Chapel.” A corre-
spondent of the Mirror, writing in 1832, says that
it was this chapel, and not the Lady Chapel as
had been previously stated, that contained the
gravestone of one Bishop Wickham, who, however,
was not the famous builder of Windsor Castle in
the time of Edward IIIL, but who died in 1595,
the same year in which he was translated from
the see of Lincoln to that of Winchester. “His
gravestone,” he adds, “now lying exposed in the
churchyard, marks the south-east corner of the
site of the aforesaid Magdalen Chapel.” This
chapel was pulled down in 1822. Amongst the
alterations and additions consequent on its removal
are the present windows and doorway of the
transept. The angle formed by the north transept
and the choir was formerly the Chapel of St. John,
now appropriated as the vestry. Beyond the
choir-screen, as already mentioned, is the Lady
Chapel, which was restored by Mr. Gwilt in 1832 ;
its four gables and groined roof are very fine. In
Queen Mary’s time it was used as a consistorial
court by Bishop Gardiner, and here Bishop Hooper
and John Rogers were tried as heretics, and con-
demned to the stake.

After the parish had obtained the grant of the
church, the Lady Chapel was let to one Wyat, a
baker, who converted it into a bakehouse. He
stopped up the two doors which communicated
with the aisles of the church, and the two which
opened into the chancel, and which, though visible,
long remained masoned up. In 1607 Mr. Henry
Wilson, tenant of the Chapel of the Holy Virgin,
found himself inconvenienced by a tomb “of a
certain cade,” and applied to the vestry for its
removal, which, as recorded in the parish books,
was very “friendly” consented to, “making the
place up again in any reasonable sort.”

The following curious particulars of the Lady
Chapel appear in Strype’s edition of Stow’s
Survey :—“1It is now called the Nezw Chapel ; and
indeed, though very old, it now may be called a
new one ; because newly redeemed from such use

and employment as, in respect of that it was built
to (divine and religious duties), may very well be
branded with the style of wretched, base, and un-
worthy. - For that which, before this abuse, was, and
is now, a fair and Dbeautiful chapel, was, by those
that were then the corporation, &c., leased and let
out, and this house of God made a bakehouse.

“Two very fair doors, that from the two side-
aisles of the chancel of the church, and two, that
through the head of the chancel went into it, were
lathed, daubed, and dammed up: the fair pillars
were ordinary posts, against which they piled
billets and bavins. In this place they had their
ovens; in that, a bolting-place; in that, their
kneading-trough ; in another, I have heard, a hog’s
trough. For the words that were given me were
these :—* Z7%is place have I known a hog-sty; in
another, a store-house, o store up their loarded-meal;
and, in all of it, something of this sordid kind and
condition.””

The writer then goes on to mention the four
persons, all bakers, to whom in succession it was
let by the corporation; and adds, that one part
was turned into a starch-house.

In this state it continued till the year 1624,
when the vestry restored it to its original condition,
at an expense of two hundred pounds. In the
course of two centuries it again became ruinous ;
and in 1832 a public subscription was commenced,
and the beautiful chapel was thoroughly restored.
The roof is divided into nine groined arches,
supported by six octangular pillars in two rows,
having small circular columns at the four points.
In the east end, on the north side, are three
lancet-shaped windows, forming one great window,
divided by slender pillars, and having mouldings
with zigzag ornaments. At the north-east corner
of the chapel, a portion had been divided off from
the rest by a wooden enclosure, in which were a
table, desk, and elevated seat. This part was the
Bishop’s court ; but it was usual to give this name
to the whole chapel, in which the Bishop of
Winchester, even almost down to the time of the
above-mentioned restoration, held his court, and
jn which were also held the visitations of the
deanery of Southwark.

At the east end of the Lady Chapel, as stated
above, was Bishop Andrewes’ Chapel, which was
ascended by two steps, and was so called from the
tomb of Dr. Lancelot Andrewes, Bishop of Win-
chester, standing in the centre of it. The Bishop’s
Chapel having been wholly taken down, this fine
monument has been removed into the Lady
Chapel. The Bishop is represented the size of
life, in a recumbent posture, and dressed in his
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robes, as prelate of the Order of the Garter.
Originally this tomb had a handsome canopy,
supported by four black marble pillars; but the
roof of the Bishop’s Chapel falling in, and the
chapel itself being much defaced Dy fire, in 1676,
the canopy was broken, and not repaired. In

the Bible. He was born in London in 1555, and
received the rudiments of his education first at the
free school of the Coopers’ Company, in Ratcliff
Highway, and afterwards at the Merchant Taylors’
School. He afterwards graduated at Pembroke
College, Cambridge. ~He soon became widely

CONSISTORY COURT, ST. SAVIOUR’S CHURCH, 1820.

taking down the monument, at the time of the | known for his great learning ; and, in due course,

demolition of the Bishop’s Chapel, a heavy leaden
coffin, containing the remains of the deceased
prelate, and marked with his initials “ L. A.,” was
found built up within the tomb; and on the re-
erection of the monument against the west wall of
the Lady Chapel, the coffin was carefully replaced
in its original cell.

Dr. Andrewes, a prelate distinguished by his
learning and piety, was one of the translators of

found a patron in the Earl of Huntingdon, whose
chaplain he became. After holding for a short
time the living of Cheam, near Epsom, in Surrey,
he was appointed Vicar of St. Giles’s, Cripplegate,
and in a short time after, prebendary and resi-
dentiary of St. Paul’s, and also prebendary of the
collegiate church of Southwell. In these several
capacities he distinguished himself as a diligent
and excellent preacher, and he read divinity
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lectures three days in the week at St. Paul’s during
term time. Upon the death of Dr. Fulke, he was
chosen master of Pembroke Hall, to which college
he afterwards became a considerable benefactor.
He was next appointed one of the chaplains in
ordinary to Queen Elizabeth, who took great delight
in his preaching, and promoted him to the deanery
of Westminster, in 1601. He refused a bishopric
in this reign, because he would not submit to the

RN
JOHN GOWER.

spoliation of the ecclesiastical revenues. In the
next, however, he had no cause for such scruple,
and having published a work in defence of King
James’s book on the “Rights of Sovereigns,”
against Cardinal Bellarmine, he was advanced to
the bishopric of Chichester, and at the same time
appointed lord-almoner. He was translated to the
see of Ely in 1609 ; and in the same year he was
sworn of the king’s privy council in England, as
he was afterwards of Scotland, upon attending his
majesty to that kingdom.

When he had sat nine years in the see of Ely, he
was translated to that of Winchester, and also
appointed dean of the royal chapel; and to his
honour it is recorded of him, that these prefer-

ments were conferred upon him without any court
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interest, or solicitations on the part of himself or
his friends: it is likewise observed, that though
he was a privy councillor in the reigns of James L
and Charles I., he interfered very little in temporal
concerns ; but in all affairs relative to the Church,
and the duties of his office, he was remarkably
diligent and active. After a long life of honour
and tranquillity, in which he enjoyed the esteem
of three successive sovereigns, the friendship of

SRR A

all men of letters, his contemporaries, and the
veneration of all who knew him, Bishop Andrewes
died at Winchester House, in Southwark, in Septem-
ber, 1626, at the age of seventy-one.

One of the most ancient memorials preserved in
the church is the oaken cross-legged effigy of one
of the Norman knights who founded the priory; it
is in a low recess in the north wall of the choir.
But better known is the monument on the east
side of the south transept, to John Gower, the
poet, and his wife. ¢ This tomb,” says Cunning-
ham, “was originally erected on the north side of
the church, where Gower founded a chantry. It
was removed to its present site, and repaired and
coloured, in 1832, at the expense of the Duke of
Sutherland, whose family claimed relationship or
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descent from the poet Gower. But, according to
the Atheneum (No. 1,537, p. 68), Sir H. Nicolas
and Dr. Pauli have shown that the family of the
Duke of Sutherland and Lord Ellesmere must
relinquish all pretension to being related to, or

TOMB OF JOHN GOWER IN sT. SAVIOUR’S CHURCH.

even descended from, John Gower. They have
hitherto depended solely upon the possession of
the MS. of the ¢Confessio Amantis,” which was
supposed to have been presented to an ancestor
by the poet; but it turns out, on the authority of
Sir Charles Young, that it was the very copy of
the work which the author laid at the feet of
King Henry IV. while he was yet Harry of
Hereford, Lancaster, and Derby !”

Gower, as we have stated above, contributed
largely towards the rebuilding of the church at the
close of the fourteenth century. He was certainly
a rich man for a poet, and he gave, doubtless,
large sums during the progress of the work ; but it
is absurd to suppose, as some have imagined, that
the sacred edifice was wholly built by his money.
Lest any such foolish idea should be entertained,
Dr. Mackay, in his “Thames and its Tributaries,”
places on record the following witty epigram :—

** This church was rebuilt by John Gower, the rhymer,

Who in Richard’s gay court was a fortunate climber ;

Should any one start, ’tis but right he should know it,
Our wight was a lawyer as well as a poet.”

The fact is that Gower was a “fortunate
climber,” not only in the court of Richard, but in
that of the Lancastrian king who succeeded him.
Like many other poets, he “worshipped the rising
sun,” and his reward was that, to use his own
words, “the king laid a charge upon him,” namely,
to write a poem. It is commonly supposed that he
was poet laureate to both of the above-mentioned
kings ; but if this was the case, the post was its
own reward—at all events, no salary is known to
have been attached to it.

Gower is, perhaps, the earliest poet who has
sung the praises of the Thames by name. He
relates in one of his quaint poems how that being
on the river in his boat, he met the royal barge
containing King Henry IV, :—

“* As I came nighe,
Out of my bote, when he me syghe (saw),

He bade me come into his barge,
And when I was with him at large,

Amongst other thynges said,
He had a charge upon me laid.”

The Chapel of St. John, in the north transept of
this church, having been burnt and nearly destroyed
in the thirteenth century, was sumptuously rebuilt
by Gower almost at his sole cost ; he founded also
a chantry there, endowing it with money for a
mass to be said daily for the repose of his soul,
and an “obit” to be performed on the morrow
after the feast of St. Gregory. In this chapel, we
are quaintly told, “he prepared for his bones a
resting, and there, somewhat after the old fashicn,
he lieth right sumptuously buried, with a garland
on his head, in token that he in his life-daies
flourished freshly in literature and science.” The
stone effigy on his tomb represented the poet with
long auburn hair reaching down to his shoulders
and curling up gracefully, a small curled beard,
and on his head a chaplet of red roses (Leland
says that there was a “wreath of joy” interspersed
with the roses); the robe was of green damask
reaching down to the feet; a collar of SS. in gold
worn round the neck, and under his head effigies of
the three chief books which he had compiled, viz.,
the “Speculum Meditantis,” the “ Vox Clamantis,”
and the “Confessio Amantis.” On the wall hard
by were painted effigies of three virtues—Charity,
Mercy, and Pity—with crowns on their heads, and
each bearing her own device in her hand. That of
Charity ran thus >

“En toy qui es fils de Dieu le Pere,
Sauve soit qui gist soubs cest piere.”
That of Mercy thus :—

€¢O bone Jesn, fais la mercie
A T'ame dont le corps gist icy.”

Whilst that of Pity ran as follows :—

“Par ta Pitie, Jesu, regarde
Et met cest aime en sauve garde.”

Not far off was also a tablet with this inscription :—
“Whoso prayeth for the soul of John Gower, as
oft as he does it, shall have M.D. days of pardon.”
Gower’s wife, we may add, was buried near him.

We know little enough of Gower—the “moral
Gower,” as Chaucer calls him—except that he came
of a knightly family connected with Yorkshire, and
that he owned property not far from London, to
the south of the Thames, and probably in Kent.
Though no lover of abuses, he was a firm and
zealous supporter of the ancient Church, and
opposed to the fanaticism of those sectaries who
from time to time endeavoured to uphold the
standard of reform in matters of faith. Henry IV.,
before he came to the throne, conferred on him
the Lancastrian badge of the Silver Swan.
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“Of the rest of his life,” writes Dr. R. Pauli, in
his “Pictures of Old England,” “we know, in
truth, very little. It was not till his old age, when
his hair was grey, that, wearying of his solitary
state, he took a wife in the person of one Agnes
Groundolf, to whom he was married on the 25th of
January, 1397. His very comprehensive will does
not mention any children, but it makes ample
provision for the faithful companion and nurse
of his latter years. After prolonged debility and
sickness, he lost his eye-sight in the year 1401,
and was then compelled to lay aside his pen for
ever. He died in the autumn of 1408, when
upwards of eighty years of age. He lies buried in
St. Saviour’s Church, near the southern side of
London Bridge; and we find from his last will
that he had been connected in several ways with
London, through his estates, which were all in
the neighbourhood of the City. St. John’s Chapel,

in the church already referred to, still contains |

the monument which he had himself designed,
and which, notwithstanding the many subsequent
renovations which it has undergone, is tolerably
well preserved. He lies clothed in the long closely-
buttoned habit of his day, with his order on his
breast, and his coat of arms by his side; but
whether the face, with its long locks, and the
wreath around the head, is intended as a portrait,
it is difficult to say. Greater significance attaches

to the three volumes on which his head
is resting, and which may be said to symbolise his
life—the ‘¢Speculum Meditantis,’” the ‘Vox Cla-
mantis,” and ¢ Confessio Amantis.””

Gower’s works maintained their popularity long
beyond the age in which his lot was cast, as may
be gathered from the fact that his was the mine
from which Shakespeare drew the materials for
his Pericles, Prince of Tyre. In 1402, when blind
and full of years, he followed his old friend
Chaucer to the tomb. Prosaic and unpoetical as
is now the aspect of Southwark, there is no spot in
this great metropolis more worthy of being called
the Poet’s Corner.  Chaucer, as we shall presently
see, has conferred upon the Tabard Inn a literary
immortality. Shakespeare himself dwelt for many
years in a narrow street close by the church of
St. Mary Overy; there he wrote many of his
great dramas, while the neighbouring Bankside
witnessed their performance. Edmund Shakespeare
was, as the register-book of the parish tells us,
a “player,” no doubt through the connection of
his brother with the Globe Theatre hard by. He
was the immortal poet’s youngest brother. The

St. Saviour’s records the fact that he was buried
here on the last day of the year 1607. So
probably William Shakespeare stood by his grave,
Such is the brief summary of all that is known to
history of Edmund Shakespeare; “and,” as Mr.
Dyce remarks, “since his connection with the stage
is ascertained from no other source, he probably
was not distinguished in his profession.”

Fletcher, the friend and fellow play-writer with
Shakespeare, died of the plague of London, in
August, 1625, at the age of forty-six, and was
buried in this church. He had survived his friend
and literary partner, Beaumont—with whom he
lived at Bankside—just nine years. John Fletcher
was a son of the Rev. Dr. Richard Fletcher, who

| was successively Bishop of Bristol, of Worcester,

and of London under Queen Bess. The names of
Beaumont and Fletcher appear as jointly responsible
for upwards of fifty dramas, but there are reasons
for thinking that Fletcher had not much to do
with more than half that number. The circum-
stances of his death are thus described by Sir
John Aubrey :—“In the great plague of 1625, a
knight of Norfolk or Suffolk invited him into the
country. He stayed in London but to make him-
self a suit of clothes, and when it was making, fell
sick and died. This I heard from the tailor, who
is now a very old man, and clerk of St. Marie
Overie.”

“From the proximity of this church to the
Globe Theatre and others on Bankside,” writes
Dr. Mackay, in his “ Thames and its Tributaries,”
“many of the players of Shakespeare’s time who
resided in the neighbouring alleys found a final
resting-place here when their career was over.
Among others, unhappily, Philip Massinger, steeped
in poverty to the very lips, died in some hovel
adjacent, and was buried like a pauper at the
expense of the parish.” Born at Salisbury, in the
year 1584, and having been educated at Alban
Hall, Oxford, Philip Massinger, the playwright and
poet, and the friend and immediate successor of
Shakespeare, came to London to seek his bread
by his pen, which furnished nearly forty plays for
the stage. But in spite of their great celebrity at
the time when they were written and performed,
few of them are known to the present race of play-
goers. A New Way fo Pay Old Debts is occa-
sionally performed; and the ZFata/ Dowry and
Riches (altered from ZV%e City Madam) have been
found amongst modern revivals. Massinger’s last
days were probably spent in Southwark, though
accounts differ as to the latter portion of his career.

Tegister at Stratford-on-Avon tells us that he was | He died in 1639, for the register in that year
baptised there on the 3rd of May, 1580 ; that of records, “buried, Philip Massinger, a stranger "—
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that is, 2 non-parishioner. It is probable, therefore,
that he wished in death to be joined with some of
those who had been his fellow-craftsmen. His grave
is unmarked by any stone or other memorial.

Among the remaining monuments in St. Saviour’s
Church is one bearing the following epitaph on a
member of the Grocers’ Company :—

¢ Garrett some call him, but that was too high;
His name is Garrard who now here doth lie.
Weep not for him, for he is gone before
To heaven, where there are grocers many more.”

Another epitaph to a girl ten years of age
contains this quaint thought, borrowed from an
earthly court :—

¢«Such grace the King of kings bestowed upon her
That now she lives with Him a maid of honour.”

Near the tomb of the poet Gower is another
which exhibits a diminutive effigy of 2 man, an
emaciated figure, in -a winding-sheet, lying on a
marble sarcophagus. At the back is a black tablet
with the following inscription in letters of gold :—

‘‘ Here vnder lyeth the body of WILLIAM EMERSON,
who lived and died an honest man. IHe departed ovt of this
life the 27th of June, 1575, in the year of his age 92. VT
SVM SIC ERIS.”

A curious effigy is that lying on the floor, on
the east side of the north transept, which has been
supposed by some persons to be that of the old
*“ferryman ” above spoken of. Grose has inserted
a representation of this figure in his “Antiquities
of England and Wales,” observing that it is a
skeleton-like figure, of which the usual story is told
that the person thereby represented attempted to
fast for forty days in imitation of Christ, but died in
the attempt, having first reduced himself to that
appearance. There is also an engraving of this
effigy in J. T. Smith’s “ Antiquities of London and
its Environs,” 1791, 4to. Be this figure, however,
who or what it may, at all events its monument has
long survived him ; whether he carried passengers
over the river Thames, or was occupied in teaching
others how to cross that last fatal river which, as
John Bunyan so quaintly says, “hath no bridge,”
can matter but little to us now.

St. Saviour’s parish church differs in point of
clerical administration from almost every other
church in the kingdom, for it has neither rector
nor vicar, nor what is popularly called a “curate,”
but under a peculiar grant the tithes are secured
to the churchwardens for the maintenance of two
“‘chaplains” or “preachers.” The parishioners here
elect their own preachers, and the parish election
vies in scandals with borough elections. In conse-
quence, it has been proposed by the more respect-
able portion to cede the right to the Bishop.

There is an interesting view of St. Mary Overy’s
Church among the etchings of Hollar; it was
worked at Antwerp in 1647. The view is taken
from the north, and shows a porch leading into
the north aisle of the chancel; there is also an
ugly side aisle of Jacobean architecture running
on the north side parallel to the nave. Another
ctching by the same artist, of which we give a
copy on page 30, taken from the other side of the
church, shows a glimpse of St. Paul’s and the City
across the river. Hollar's studies of buildings,
his little landscape and water-side etchings, are
always charming. He is an excellent delineator
of architecture, his drawing and perspective being
admirably executed. He can render landscape
also with great subtilty, giving, for instance, in a
small sketch of a few inches square the knolls
and hollows of a piece of hilly river-bank with
marvellous truth and naturalness. Some one has
written of Hollar that, ¢ whether dealing with brick
and stone, or fields and streams, he is always
dexterous and exact ; and if we were asked to name
the principal characteristic of his work, we should
say it was a perfectly simple and earnest striving
after truth. To some modemn etchers, who have
all sorts of marvellous methods of their own, who
cover the paper with an incomprehensible chance-
medley of black lines and call it ‘green moon-
light sleeping on a bank,” or something of the sort,
Hollar's art may appear but homely, for it is
only the art of transferring what was before him
to paper, so that others may see it as he saw it.”

The antiquarian author of “Chronicles of London
Bridge ” tells us that in his day, when the church-
wardens and vestrymen of St. Mary Overy’s met
for convivial purposes, one of their earliest toasts
was that of their church’s patron saint, under the
irreverent name of ‘“ Old Moll.” It is to be hoped
that such gross irreverence-is now at an end.

St. Saviour’s and its neighbourhood have, how-
ever, much historic interest on quite another score;
for adjoining the northern side of St. Saviour's
Church, and - on the site of the Cloisters, Sir
Anthony Browne, Viscount Montague, built after
the Dissolution a handsome mansion, which gave
name to the still existing Montague Close. In the
memorable year 1605, Lord Monteagle was residing
there when he received the anonymous letter
advising him “as you tender your life, to devise
you some excuse to shift off your attendance at
this Parliament, for God and man have concurred
to punish the wickedness of this time.” The sus-
picions excitea by this mysterious warning led to
the discovery of the Gunpowder Plot. Monteagle
was rewarded by a grant of /200 per annum in
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land and a pension of 4500 in hard cash; and place became, in fact, a sort of minor Sanctuary,
in remembrance of the great event, persons then | the privileges of which grew ultimately to be such
and afterwards residing in Montague Close were | a public nuisance that they were suppressed by the
exempted from actions for debt or trespass. The | strong arm of the law.

CHAPTER 1IV.
SOUTHWARK (continued).—WINCHESTER HOUSE, BARCLAY’S BREWERY, &c.

**Kings and heroes here were guests,
In stately hall at solemn feasts;
But now no dais, nor halls remain,
Nor fretted window’s gorgeous pane.
* *

* * *

No fragment of a roof remains
To echo back their wassail strains.”—Si» W. Scott, * Kenilworth.”

Stow's Descrip'tion of Winchester House—Park Street Chapel—Marriage Feast of James I. of Scotland at Winchester House—The Palace
attacked by the Insurgents under Sir Thomas Wyatt—John, Duke of Finland, lodged here—The Palace sold to the Presbyterians, and
turned into a Prison for the Royalists—Its Recovery by the Bishop of Winchester—Remains of the Old Palace=—The *‘Stews” on the
Bankside—‘‘ Holland’s Leaguer ”—*‘ Winchester Birds *—O0ld Almshouses—Messrs, Barclay and Perkins’ Brewery—Its Early History—MTr.,
and Mrs, Thrale—Dr. Johnson’s Intimacy with the Thrales—Purchase of the Brewery by Me. David Barclay— Origin of the Firm of Barclay
and Perkins—Mrs. Piozzi, and her Literary Acquaintances—Account of the various Processes of Malting, Brewing, &c.—The Brewery
described—Monster Vats—Attack on Generai Haynau—Richard Baxter —Zoar Street Chapel—Oliver Goldsmith—Holland Street—Falcon
Glass Works—The “‘ Falcon " Tavern— Hopton’s Almshouses—Messrs, Potts’ Vinegar Works—St. Peter’s Church—St. Saviour’s Grammar
School—Improvements in Southwark—Southwark Street—The Hop Exchange.

THE site of the Priory of St. Mary Overy, and of
Winchester House, the palace of the Bishops of
Winchester, adjoins the north-west corner of the
nave of St. Saviour’s Church, and extends towards
Southwark Bridge ; it is now occupied by various
wharves, warehouses, manufactories, and other
buildings, among them being the new Bridge House
Hotel, which opens on the main street, close by
the foot of London Bridge. Of the priory we
have already spoken in the preceding chapter.
Winchester House was built early in the twelfth
century, by Walter Giffard, Bishop of Winchester,
on land held of the prior of Bermondsey. Stow,
in his “Chronicles,” mentions it as being in his
time ‘““a very fair house, well repaired, with a large
wharf and landing-place, called the Bishop of
Winchester’s Stairs.” It was, in fact, a stately
palace, with gardens, fountains, fish-ponds, and an
extensive park—Ilong known as Southwark Park—
which reached back nearly as far, in the direction
of Lambeth, as Gravel Lane, and which is still
kept in remembrance by “Park” Street. In New
Park Street is—or rather was—the chapel in which
Mr. C. H. Spurgeon first became known as a
popular preacher. The congregation formerly
assembling in the Baptist ~=cting-house in Carter
Lane, Tooley Street, migrated to New Park Street
Chapel in 1833, on the demolition of their old
chapel to make room for the approaches to new
London Bridge; and here they continued till,
under the pastorate of Mr. Spurgeon, they migrated
to tiie music-hall in the Surrey Gardens, Newington,

and finally to the Metropolitan Tabernacle. The
chapel in Park Street has since become converted
to business purposes, and has been made to serve
as a store-room or goods depot.

Winchester Yard, between St. Saviour’s Church
and Messrs. Barclay and Co.’s brewery, in Park
Street, occupies the place of the court-yard of the
old palace; and Messrs. Pott’s extensive vinegar
works, on part of the site of the park, are, we
believe, still held under lease direct from the see
of Winchester.

Cardinal Beaufort lived here in the early part
of the fifteenth century, whilst holding the im-
portant see of Winchester. In his time the great
hall of the palace, which ran east and west parallel
with the river, was the scene of a splendid banquet ;
for here took place the marriage-feast on the occa-
sion of the matrimonial alliance of James I. of
Scotland with the Lady Joan Somerset, daughter
of the Earl of Somerset, as stated in the previous
chapter. But the palace witnessed at times other
scenes besides those of festivity ; for we read ot
great “brawls” taking place between the cardinal’s
servants and the citizens at the Bridge Gate. Old
Stow describes a disgraceful scene which took place
in Winchester House, when the insurgents against
the government of Queen Mary, under Sir Thomas
Wyatt, had entered Southwark, on the 3rd of
February, 1554. Wyatt’s intention was to have
entered the City by way of London Bridge, as we
have already seen; but notwithstanding that the
citizens of London had cut down the drawbridge,
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the inhabitants of the borough received him well.
Sir Thomas issued a proclamation that no soldier
of his should take anything without paying for it;
gotwithstanding which, some of them attacked the
Bishop of Winchester’s house, made havoc of his
goods, and cut to pieces all his books, “so that
men might have gone up to their knees in the
leaves so torn out.” Wyatt stayed here only two
or three days, when the inhabitants, finding that

| turned the episcopal palace into a prison tor the

royalists ; and in 1649 it was sold for £4,380
to one Thomas Walker, of Camberwell. It was
recovered by the Bishop of Winchester, at the
Restoration, but was not again used as a residence.
Until the time of the civil wars, the Bishops of
Winchester resided here during the sitting of Par-
liament ; but afterwards they removed to Chelsea,
where, as we have seen,* they had another house
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the Governor of the Tower of London had planted
several pieces of ordnance against the foot of the
bridge and on the steeples of St. Olave and St.
Mary Overy, became alarmed, and desired Sir
Thomas to leave them, which he did.

The Swedish envoy, John, Duke of Finland, was
lodged in the Bishop of Winchester’s palace when
he came to solicit the hand of Queen Elizabeth
for his elder brother, Eric, the son and heir of the
King of Sweden. He went in state to visit the
Queen at Greenwich; but his fathers death re-
called-him to Sweden.

Bishop Lancelot Andrewes, as we have already
stated, died at Winchester House in 1626, and was
carried hence to his last resting-place in St. Saviour’s
Church. Twenty years later, the Presbyterians

i provided for them under the sanction of an Act of

Parliament in 1661. A part of the palace was
standing, occupied as tenements and warehouses,
till within the last few years, a fire which occurred
in August, 1814, having destroyed some of the sur-
rounding buildings, and brought to view a portion
of the old hall, with a magnificent circular window.

Allen, in his “ History of Surrey,” published in
1829, says, “ Vain would be the attempt to deter-
mine the extent and arrangement of this palace
from its present remains. The site was probably

| divided into two or more grand courts, the prin-

cipal of which appears to have had its range of
state apartments fronting the river; and part of this

¥ See Vol V., p. 53.
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range is now almost the only elevation that can | “Ordinances” were issued, “touching the govern-

be traced. Though its external decorations on the
north or river front have been either destroyed or
bricked up, yet in the other, facing the south, are
many curious doorways and windows in various
styles, from that of the Early Pointed down to
the era of Henry VIIL, but wofully mutilated, and
concealed by sheds, stables, and warehouses.”
What little remained of the palace after the fire
above mentioned was very soon considerably
diminished. The great wall, which divided the
hall from the other apartments, with the large
circular window, some fourteen feet in diameter,
was built against in the early part of 1828. There
was likewise remaining a doorway, in the spandrils
of which appeared the arms of Bishop Gardiner,
and the same impaling those of the see of Win-
chester. A correspondent of the Gentleman’s Maga-
sine, writing at the above period, observes that
“this doorway is connected with, and, in fact, led
into, a range of buildings shown in Hollar’s ¢ View
of London,’ crea 1660, branching southward of
the hall to a considerable distance, much of which
is still standing.”

The antiquary Pennant, whilst pretending to
do nothing of the kind, insinuates that the Bishops
of Winchester and Rochester, and the Abbots
of St. Augustine’s, Canterbury, Lewes, Hyde,
Waverley, and Battel, had their town residences
here on account of their adjoining the Bordello or
“Stews” on the Bankside. These “stews” com-
prised nearly twenty houses along the river-side,
and were licensed under certain regulations con-
firmed by Act of Parliament.

The houses, which were indeed a most unsavoury
adjunct to Southwark, were nothing more nor less
than a collection of public brothels, leased from
the Bishops of Winchester by various persons, one
of whom was no other than Sir Willlam Walworth,
who struck down Wat Tyler, and thus gave the
dagger to the City arms. We read that, “on
Thursday the Feast of Corpus Christi, June 13th,
1381, in the morning the Commons of Kent brake
down the stew-houses near to London Bridge, at
that time in the hands of the power of Flanders,
who had farmed them of the Mayor of London.
After which they went to London Bridge, in the
hopes to have entered the City; but the mayor
(the famous Sir William Walworth) coming thither
before, fortified the place, caused the bridge to be
drawn up, and fastened a great chaine of yron
acrosse to restraine their entry.” Thus wrote
Stow, and the same story is told in other words by
the old chronicler, Thomas of Walsingham.

As far back as 1162, some Parliamentary

ment of the Stewholders in Southwark, under the
direction of the Lord Bishop of Winchester ;” the
purpose of which seems to have been to restore
the state of things there, “accordinge to the ovlde
customes that hath been vsed and accustomed
tyme out of mynde.” These regulations were
numerous; no single woman was to be kept against
her will, and all were “to be voyded out of the
lordship ” on Sundays and other holidays. When
the ordinances were first enjoined, the number of
stewhouses was eighteen; but in the reign of
Henry VIL, when some fresh regulations were
made, it was reduced to twelve. One of the
houses, says Pennant, but he gives no authority for
the statement, bore the sign of the ¢ Cardinal’s Hat.”
Cardinal’s Cap Alley is, however—or, at all events,
was till lately—to be found in the neighbourhood.
If the holders of the houses broke certain whole-
some rules which were issued respecting them,
they were committed to the episcopal prison of the
Clink, at the corner of Maid Lane. This prison
was removed in 1745 to Deadman’s Place, Bank-
side (so named from the number buried there
during the great plague), but was burnt down in
the riots of 1780, and no other prison has since
taken its place. The poor women living in these
houses, though licensed by the bishops, were not
allowed Christian burial, but were thrown when
dead into unconsecrated graves at a spot called the
Cross Bones, at the corner of Redcross Street.
Henry VIL closed these dens of infamy, but they
were soon opened again, though his son and
successor finally cleared them out, having issued
a proclamation enjoining his subjects “to avoide
the abominable place called the Stewes.” *

In Holland Street, at the end of Bankside, near
Blackfriars Bridge, was another notorious ‘“stew”
frequented by King James I. and his court;
amongst others by the royal favourite, George
Villiers, as we learn from a little tract entitled
“ Holland’s Leaguer.” It is recorded that “many
of the inhabitants of the Bankside, especially those
who lived in the stews adjoining the palace of the
Bishops of Winchester, -were known throughout
London by the court term of the ¢Winchester
Birds” Low players also, then ranking (not,
perhaps, quite undeservingly) with these and other
similar characters, under the common designation
of vagabonds, flocked together to the same spot,
together with fraudulent bankrupts, swindlers,
debtors, and all sorts of persons who had mis-
understandings with the law. Here in former

* See “Stews in Bankside,” in the Antiguarian Magazine, Vol. 11, p. 70.
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years stood the ‘Mint’ and the ‘Clink;’ and
here in the present day (1840) stands the privileged
King’s Bench, within whose ‘Rules’ are con-
gregated the samec vicious and demoralised class
of people that always inhabited it. ‘Stews’ also
still abound, and penny theatres, where the per-
formers are indeed ¢ vagabonds,’ and the audience
thieves.” Thus wrote Charles Mackay, in his
agreeable work, “ The Thames and its Tributaries,”
as lately as 1840. Things, however, have much
improved since that day; at all events, we may
hope that such has been the case.

HALL OF WINCHESTER HOUSE,
(From an Eiching by Hollar, 1647.)

In Deadman’s Place, on the south-west side of
the Borough market, were almshouses for sixteen
poor persons, which were founded in 1584, by
Thomas Cure, and called Cure’s College. Thomas
Cure was saddler to Edward V1., Mary, and Eliza-
beth, and was also M.P. for Southwark, and joint-
founder of the Grammar School.

Another cluster of almshouses close by, in Soap
Yard, were built and endowed by the retired actor,
Edward Alleyn, of whom we shall have more to
say when we come to Dulwich College. Alleyn’s
almshouses have been rebuilt at Norwood. Alleyn
directed by his will (1626) that his executors should
within two years of his death erect ten almshouses
in this parish for five poor men and five poor
women, who shouid be drafted hence, as vacancies
occurred, into his college at Dulwich. The alms-
houses were accordingly “built on part of an en-
closure called the Soap Yard belonging to the
College of the Poor.” The College of the Poor
was founded by letters patent of Queen Elizabeth
in 1584, and was largely endowed. It provided a
home and sustenance for sixteen poor persons, one
of whom was to act as warden and read prayers

daily. In 1685 Henry Jackson founded alms-
houses in Southwark for two women, with twenty
pence a week each ; and sundry others of a like
nature were founded in different parts of the parish.
St. Saviour’s is, in fact, particularly rich in bene-
factions. According to the “ Account of. Public
Charities in England and Wales,” published in
1828, it would appear that the annual income of
the various charities of this parish amounted to
nearly £ 2,700.

Between St. Saviour's Church and Southwark
Bridge Road, with its principal entrance in Park
Street, is the renowned brewery of Messrs. Barclay
and Perkins. Southwark held a reputation for
strong ale from very early times. We have met
somewhere with an old couplet—

¢ The nappy strong ale of Southwirke
Keeps many a gossip from the kirke.”
Chaucer’s host at the Old Tabard drank it, doubt.
less ; and so did the Knight and the Franklin, and
perhaps the mincing “Nonne” herself. That
there were brewcries here as far back as the
fourteenth century we have reason to know, for
Chaucer speaks of “the ale of Southwark” in his
time; and readers of that poet will not have
forgotten, among the inhabitants of this part—
¢ The miller that for dronken was all pale,
So that unethes upon his hors he sat.”

“ Foreigners are not a little amazed,” writes
Boswell, in his ‘“ Life of Johnson,” “when they
hear of brewers, distillers, and men in similar
departments of trade, held forth as persons of con-
siderable consequence. In this great commercial
country it is natural that a situation which produces
much wealth should be considered as very respect-
able ; and no doubt honesty is entitled to esteem.”
Brewing is one of the oldest objects of industry
among us ; and in early ages the quantity of ale
consumed was somewhat larger than is the case
now in proportion to the population and wealth
of the nation. Little is known of the trading
practices of the early brewers ; but the process, so
far as the malting and brewing is concerned, is,
doubtless, essentially the same now as it was three
centuries ago, when hops were imported into this
country from Flanders. By a liberal attention to
the improvements of the age, Messrs. Barclay and
Perkins have placed their large establishment in
its present eminence among the breweries of the
world. “Formerly,” writes Mr. Brayley, in his
‘“ History of Surrey,” *“our great porter brewers
left ale to minor establishments: this is now par-
tially but not entirely changed; two coppers at
Barclay and Perkins’ are therefore applied, as the
occasion requires, to ale-brewing. On the other
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hand, some of the less extensive establishments, in
former times only occupied with ale, now produce
porter also. The difference of the two consists
of modifications in the process, and of certain
additions for the purpose of flavouring or colouring.
The malt and hops are the same, but a very small
portion of malt, when burnt black, suffices to
colour porter and stout. These liquors are more
luscious than ale, and less vinous from undergoing
a less perfect fermentation, that process being con-
siderably shortened, usually to one-third of the time
allowed for ale.”

Before proceeding to describe the brewery in its
various details, it will be as well, perhaps, to speak
of the firm to which it belongs. As early as the
middle of the last century, or a hundred years or
so after the “ Globe” Theatre had passed away,
there stood upon this site a small brewery, owned
by a certain Mr. Edmund Halsey, whose daughter
had married the Lord Cobham of that time.
Having made a fortune out of the establishment,
Mr. Halsey sold the brewery to the elder Mr.

Thrale, who eventually became member of Parlia- |
ment for Southwark, and being a landowner at,

Streatham, served as high sheriff of Surrey. Dr.
Johnson used to give the following account of
the rise of this gentleman :—* He worked at six
shillings a week for twenty years in the great
brewery, which afterwards was his own. The
proprietor of it had an only daughter, who was
married to a nobleman. It was not fit that a
peer should continue the business. On the old
man’s death, therefore, the brewery was to be sold.
To find a purchaser for so large a property was
a difficult matter; and after some time it was
suggested that it would be advisable to treat with
Thrale, a sensible, active, honest man, who had
been employed in the house, and to transfer the
whole to him for thirty thousand pounds, security
being taken upon the property. This was accord-
ingly settled. In eleven years Thrale paid the
purchase-money.” On his death, in 1758, his
son, Mr. Heary Tlrale, succeeded him, and found
the brewery so profitable a concern, that, although
he had been educated to other tastes and habits,
he determined not to part with it. This Mr.
Thrale was a handsome man of fashion, and was
wedded to a pretty and clever girl, Miss Hester
Lynch Salusbury, of good Welsh extraction, and,
as Boswell informs us, “a lady of lively talents,
improved by education.” The lady, we may add,
was short, plump, and brisk. She has herself
given us a lively view of the idea which Dr.
Johnson had ,of her person, on her appearing
before him in a dark-coloured gown : “ You little

creatures should never wear those sort of clothes;
they are unsuitable in every way. What!
have not all insects gay colours?” Mrs. Thrale
was destined, nevertheless, as the mistress of
Streatham Villa, the friend of Johnson, and the
wife of Piozzi, to become a shining light in
English literature. Boswell tells us, in his “ Life
of Johnson,” that the great doctor’s introduction
into Mr. Thrale’s family, which contributed so
much to the happiness of his life, was owing to
her desire for his conversation, is very probable
and the general supposition ; “but,” he adds, “it
is not the truth. Mr. Murphy,” Boswell continues,
‘““who was intimate with Mr. Thrale, having spoken
very highly of Dr. Johnson, he was requested to
make them acquainted. This being mentioned to
Johnson, he accepted of an invitation to dinner
at Thrale’s, and was so much pleased with his
reception, both by Mr. and Mrs. Thrale, and they
so much pleased with him, that his invitations to
their house were more and more frequent, till at
last he became one of the family, and an apartment
was appropriated to him, both in their house at
Southwark, and in their villa at Streatham.”

“The first time,” says Mrs. Piozzi, “ 1 ever saw
this extraordinary man was in the year 1764, when
Mr. Murphy, who had long been the friend and
confidential intimate of Mr. Thrale, persuaded
him to wish for Johnson’s conversation, extolling
it in terms which that of no other person could
have deserved, till we were only in doubt how to
obtain his company, and find an excuse for the
invitation.”

Dr. Johnson had a very sincere esteem for Mr.
Thrale, as a man of excellent principles, a good
scholar, well skilled in trade, of a sound under-
standing, and of manners such as presented the
character of a plain independent English squire.
“I know no man,” said he, ‘““who is more master
of his wife and family than Thrale. If he but holds
up a finger, he is obeyed. It is a great mistake
to suppose that she is above him in literary attain-
ments. She is more flippant, but he has ten
times her learning: he is a regular scholar, but
her learning is that of a schoolboy in one of the
lower forms.”

Thrale, it has been stated, but falsely, married
Miss Salusbury “because she was the only pretty
girl of his acquaintance who would live in South-
wark ; and having married her, proceeded to
enjoy himself with ladies of doubtful reputation at
the theatres, leaving his gay wife to do the honours
at Streatham to old Sam, Fanny Burney, and others
of the set, not forgetting charming, learned Sophy
Streatfield, the mysterous S. S., who won not only
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Thrale’s heart, but those of right reverend bishops
and grave schoolmasters, by her beauty, ready tears,
soft caresses, and fluent Greek and Hebrew. But
the time came when Thrale’s gay career was
suddenly stopped. The bailiffs and the auctioneer
invaded the Southwark brewery; but his clever
wife begged and borrowed till she bought it in.”

Mr. Thrale resided in a house adjoining the
brewery, and here he entertained his friends as
well as at his country seat at Streatham. For some
reason or other he appears to have been unpopular
with the mob, for Boswell tells us that in the
Gordon Riots his house and stock were in great
danger : “The mob was pacified at their first
invasion with about £so in drink and meat ; at
the second they were driven away by the soldiers.”
It will be remembered that Dr. Johnson helped
Mr. Thrale in his contests for the representation of
Southwark, writing for him advertisements, letters,
and addresses ; one of these, dated September s,
1780, is preserved by Boswell.

After Mr. Thrale’s death, in 1781, the brewery
was put up for sale by auction, and Johnson, of
course, was present as one of the executors. Lord
Lucan (writes Boswell) tells a very good story,
which, if not precisely exact, is at least charac-
teristic—that while the sale was going on, Johnson
appeared bustling about, with an ink-horn and a
pen in his button-hole, like an exciseman ; and on
being asked what he considered to be the value of
the property which was to be disposed of, answered,
“Sir, we are not here to sell a parcel of boilers
and vats, but the potentiality of growing rich
beyond the dreams of avarice.”

The brewery was bought by Mr. David Barclay,
junior, then the head of the banking firm of
Barclay and Co., for the sum of £135,000. This
gentleman placed in the brewing firm his nephew,
from America, Mr. Robert Barclay, who afterwards
settled at Bury Hill, and Mr. Perkins, who had
been in Thrale’s establishment as manager or
superintendent ; so that while Mr. Barclay brought
the money to carry on the business, Mr. Perkins
may be said to have contributed the ‘‘brains”—
hence the firm of “ Barclay and Perkins.”

So far and so wide are the joint names of Barclay
and Perkins known upon the sign-boards of way-
side inns, in London and the country, that Mr. G.
A. Sala, in his “ Gaslight and Daylight,” suggests
that “a future generation may be in danger of
assuming that Messrs. Barclay and Perkins were
names possessed in an astonishing degree by
London citizens, who, proud of belonging to such
respectable families, were in the habit of blazoning
the declaration of their lineage in blue and gold on

oblong boards, and affixing the same to the fronts
of their houses ! ”

But we have not yet quite done with the beautiful
Mrs. Thrale. After the death of her first husband,
as we have already intimated, she became—contrary
to the wishes and advice of Dr. Johnson—the wife
of a Mr. Piozzi, and spent much of her time in her
charming abode at Streatham, in the enjoyment of
a select circle of literary acquaintances. Rogers
was very intimate with the Piozzis, and often
visited them at Streatham. He says, “ The world”
(in which Dr. Johnson was, of course, included)
“was most unjust in blaming Mrs. Thrale for marry-
ing Piozzi; he was a very handsome, gentlemanly,
and amiable person, and made her a very good
husband. In the evening he used to play to us
most beautifully on the piano. Mrs. Piozzi's
daughters would never see her after that marriage ;
and, poor woman, when she was of a very great
age, I have heard her say that she would go down
on her knees to them if they only would be
reconciled to her.”

Tom Moore, who breakfasted with her after
she was turned eighty, speaks of her as still a
“wonderful old lady,” with all the quickness and
intelligence of a gay young woman : ‘‘faces of
other times seemed to crowd over her as she
sat—the Johnsons, Reynoldses, &c.” Madame
D’Arblay speaks of her as “a wonderful character
for talents and eccentricity, for wit, genius,
generosity, spirit, and powers of entertainment.”
Miss Seward said that “ her conversation was that
bright wine of the intellect which has no lees;”
and even Dr. Johnson, who did not think very
highly of the female sex, owned that “her colloquial
wit was a fountain of perpetual flow.” Indeed, he
used to dwell on her praises with a peculiar delight
and a paternal fondness, which showed that he
was quite proud and vain of being so intimately
acquainted with her. Macaulay commends her as
“one of those clever, kind-hearted, engaging, vain,
pert young women, who are perpetually saying or
doing something that is not exactly right ; but who,
do or say what they may, are always agreeable.”
Add to this the words of Sir Nathaniel Wraxall:
“She was, the provider and conductor of Dr.
Johnson, who lived almost constantly under her
roof, or more properly under that of Mr. Thrale
both in London and at Streatham. He did not,
however, spare her any more than other women in
his attacks if she courted and provoked his ani-
madversions. She was also a butt of the satirists ;
thus Gifford writes :—

¢ See Thrale’s gay widow with a satchel roam,
And bring in pomp laborious nothing home.”
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And Dr. Wolcot (Peter Pindar), even more mali- | year burnt to the ground, with the exception cf a
ciously :— very small portion of the walls. As it is one of the
“sights ” of the metropolis, and indeed of Europe,
RS et Srmbiorafity Trow porter’ our ‘readers may be intereste'd with a somewhat
Give up her anecdotical inditing, detailed account of the establishment, and of the
And study housewif'ry instead of writing.” | various processes of malting, brewing, &c., as here

““For that Piozzi's wife, Sir John, exhort her
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Mrs. T}lrale left three daughters. One of them was * carried on. To begin at the beginning, then, we
- Lady .Kelth, another a Mrs. Mostyn ; her collection will commence with a description ot the process of
of re}xcs of Mr. Thrale and Dr. Johnson was sold ' malting, the object of which is—by forced vegeta-
at Silwood Lodge, Brighton, in the autumn of tion of the grain, and then checking that tendency,
1857, soon after Mrs. Mostyn’s death. by gradually and slowly increasing heat from 130

The brewery of Messrs. Barclay and Perkins, one to 160 degrees—to separate the particles of starch,
- -of the greatest establishments of the kind in the | and render the saccharine matter formed easily
world, occupies some thirteen or fourteen acres of | soluble in hot water. For this purpose, the barley
ground ; the present building dates its erection loge steeped for about two days, in which time it
from 1832, the old brewery having been in that ‘ imbibes nearly half its weight of water. It next
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lies, a few inches deep, on a floor for a fortnight,
during which time it is repeatedly stirred to prevent
its heating. When the grain is sprouted, its roots
extending about half an inch in length, it is kiln-
dried on an iron floor heated by coke, gradually
and slowly, commencing at 9o degrees, and not
exceeding at last 160 degrees, an operation of two
or three days ; after this the sprouts are separated
by sifting from the malt, which is then fit for the

|
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=

l

brewer or distiller.
brewing, the author above quoted says: “The
brewer, having first ground the malt, mixes it with
as much hot water as it will imbibe, stirring the
mixture until it is perfectly and equally soaked;
the heat of the water must be some degrees below
the boiling-point, or it will cake the meal. When
well stirred, or mashed, it is covered up from ex-
ternal air for about three hours ; then the liquor is
drawn off, and boiled for an hour or more with a
due proportion of hops (hop blossom), say a pound
to the bushel. As all the saccharine matter is not
by this first mashing extracted, a second, and even
a third, is had recourse to, requiring, however,
less time, and allowing hotter water than the first.
When the liquor, or wort, as it is called, is drawn
244

BARCLAY’S BREWERY, 1820,

In describing the process of |

from the copper duly boiled, the hop dregs are
strained off, and the wort must be cooled as fast as
possible, otherwise the disposition of the beer to
turn sour will be much greater ; even a larger pro-
portion of hop will hardly save it. When the wort
is quite cool it is to be fermented. Wine from
grapes will ferment of itself, but beer requires yeast,
or barm, from a previous brewing. This is usually
added gradually as the wort appears to require it,

and in various proportions, according to the inten-
tion of the brewer, whether he wishes to save time
in the operations, and to produce a full luscious
beverage for early use, or a more vinous and clear
liquor of great strength for long preservation.
Such are the simple objects of brewing; but a
variety of circumstances in the practice requires
great care and experience, and not a little acute-
ness of perception. Even with all these qualifica-
tions, the effects of weather used often to be highly
injurious, and are so still to persons who brew in a
small way without the improvements lately ac
quired from science. These are so great that with
them brewing is carried on indifferently in hot or
cold weather, throughout the year, and not as
formerly, in March and October chiefly. The
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principal improvements are in the formation of

mashing-tuns or rakes, whereby the malt is mashed | nt
acquires a fresh activity for a few days longer, when

in an exceedingly small space of time, and without
exposure to the atmosphere, so that all is equally
soaked ; boilers that afford the most speedy and
controllable supply of hot water at the least expense
of fuel, an arrangement for drawing ofi the wort
and passing it through iron pipes laid in cold water
many hundreds or thousands of yards in continuity,
so that the wort is cooled in an incredible short
time, and other modes of effecting the same pur-
pose by quick evaporation in metallic shallow
vessels. The fermentation is, on the contrary,
carried on in wooden vessels of very great depth,
perhaps of thirty feet; whilst a perfect control is
maintained that enables the superintendent to pro-
mote the generation of carbonic acid gas, or to
draw it off, as the case may require.”

At the brewery of Messrs. Barclay and Perkins
all these operations are to be seen in the utmost
perfection, and on the most magnificent scale.
The brewhouse, or mashing stage, is 225 feet long,
by 6o feet in width, and very lofty, with an inge-
nious and elaborate iron roof. Within this large
space are five complete sets of brewing apparatus,
perfectly distinct in themselves, but directly con-
nected with the great supply of malt from the floor
above, of watercisterns from below, and of motive
force from the steam-engine behind, as well as the
vast coolers, fermenting vats, &c. Each of the
copper boilers cost nearly -£5,000 (about £24,000
altogether) ; each consists of a furnace, a globular
copper that holds 350 barrels, a pan or covering
boiler that contains 280 barrels, and a cylindrical
cistern that will contain 120 barrels, on arrange-
ments equally beautiful and useful, from its com-
pactness and the economy of heat.
water is drawn from one of these copper boilers
to the corresponding mash-tun underneath, which
measures about twenty feet in diameter, and holds
150 quarters of malt. It is supplied with machinery
that works from a centre on a cog-rail which
extends over the circumference of the tun, and stirs
the malt. The mash-tun has a false bottom, which
in due time lets off the “ wort” through small holes
to an under-back, whence it is pumped back to
the emptied copper, from which it received the hot
water, and there mixed with hops, to be boiled,
and again run off into a cistern thirty feet each
way, where, passing through a perforated bottom,
it leaves the hops, and is pumped through the
cooling “tubes, or refrigerator, into an open cooler,
-and thence to the fermenting squares, which are
coffers about twenty-five or thirty feet deep, and
fifteen feet square, in which the fermentation by

The hot |

yeast is carried on for some days ; from these it is
drawn off into pontoons, where the fermentation

it gradually ceases, and the liquor becomes clearer :
it is then put into the large vat, where it remains
till required for use. The vats at Barclay and
Perkins’ establishment are nearly 200 in number,
the smallest containing 600 barrels of beer, and the
largest 3,300 barrels, measuring 36 feet in diameter
at top, 4o feet at the bottom (or 125 feet in circum-
ference), and 4o feet in height. Altogether, they
must hold more than 150,000 barrels; and the
number of casks (butts or barrels), many of them
filled, amount to something over 64,000.

We have stated that the brewery contains five
magnificent boilers with corresponding mash-tuns,
and every adjunct. So far the arrangement and
explanation are simple enough, and so is, to the
eye of an experienced engineer, the machinery
that connects and keeps in motion every part of
these stupendous operations. It is otherwise to
persons unaccustomed to the variety and mul-
tiplicity of cog-wheels working at different angles,
which communicate action in different and opposite
directions from one end of the premises to the
other, in what may be denominated a maze of
systematic order. The malt is conveyed from one
building to another, even across a street, entirely
by machinery, and again to the crushing rollers
and mash-tun ; the cold and the hot water, and the
wort and the beer, are pumped in various directions,
almost to the exclusion of human exertions, nearly
every portion of the heavy toil being accomplished
by the steam-engine. Of all the combinations,
none is more complete than what is called the
“Jacob’s ladder:” this consists of an endless chain
working on two rollers at a considerable distance
from each other. Along this chain buckets are
fastened close to each other ; these buckets dipping
into a heap of malt near one extremity of the
chain, carry it on to the other end, where, revolving
on the other roller, they are capsized, and thus
emptied ; they, of course, return to the first roller,
where a second inversion places them again in
the position required for filling by their own
progress through the heap of malt to be removed.
There are no less than twenty-four lofts, each
capable of containing 1,000 quarters of malt. The
“Jacob’s ladders” and the refrigerators are among
the greatest improvements achieved : the one saves
immense labour, simplifies and perfects the work,
and, of course, reduces the expenses, and con-
centrates the operations; the other economises
time, and improves the beverage. More space and
more hands can be applied to those portions of the
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business that require them ; and hence a remarkable |

degree of method, neatness, cleanliness, and quiet
are observable throughout the establishment.

The portions of the brewery which we have
described above lie on either side of Park Street,
being connected by a bridge, which is reached
from the upper storeys. On leaving these parts of
the establishment, we pass through the engine-
room, on the ground-floor, and emerging into the
yard, notice the well from which the great supply
of water is drawn for consumption in the brewery.
In connection with this well, we may state a
curious geological fact. This brewery, as we have
shown above, is situated near the south bank of
the Thames ; that of the City of London Brewery
Company is in Thames Street, on the opposite
side of the river. It is not a little singular that
when the pump of the well at Messrs. Barclay’s
is worked, the level of the water in the well of the
City brewery is visibly affected, thus proving that
the watery stratum passes clean under the Thames,
just as it would under dry land, without being in
any way connected with the water of the river.

The long ranges of building on the north side
of the brewery are used as the carpenters’ shops,
the cooperage, &c. In the former a very large
amount of work is done in connection with fittings
for the various public-houses belonging to the firm,
besides other work which may be required in the
brewery. On the south side of the yard is another
range of buildings, separated from the other by an
avenue, over which a large pipe crosses to convey
the beer from the ‘“rounds”—as the huge tanks
which contained it are called—to the store-vats.
'These vats are contained in a series of store-rooms,
apparently almost interminable. Long galleries,
branching off north, south, east, and west, are
crammed as full of vats as the circular form of the
vessels will permit, some larger than others, but
all, nevertheless, of gigantic proportions. Some
idea may be formed of the extent of the vat-
galleries when we state that there are nearly
200 vats, the average capacity of which, large and
small together, is upwards of 30,000 gallons. Two
of the vats are each capable of containing 3,500
barrels of thirty-six gallons each, and the weight,
when full of porter, is stated to be about 500 tons.
By the aid of a guide we ascend one of the steep
ladders, and mounting to the top, obtain a kind of
bird’s-eye view of these mighty monsters, and then
emerging through a small doorway in the roof,
obtain a good view not only of the whole range of
buildings forming the brewery, but also of St.
Saviour’s Church and other places round about.

The storerooms in front of us, as we look

down on the north side, we were informed, had
gradually and completely enclosed a small grave-
yard, which has at last been partially built wpon,
and all traces of its previous uses swept away.
As this grave-yard does not appear to have been
parochial, or attached to any church, it was, in
all probability, the same as that which we have
mentioned above as having been formerly used
as the burial-place of the unfortunate victims of
the plague in Bankside. On the south side of
the brewery is an extensive range of stabling,
spacious enough to afford proper accommodation
for zoo dray-horses.

Messrs. Barclay and Perkins, down to a com-
paratively recent period, stood quite at the head of
the principal porter and ale brewers of London ;
but latterly Messrs. Hanbury and Co. seem to have
taken the lead. Nevertheless, a very large business
is done annually by Messrs. Barclay and Perkins,
not only in the way of home consumption, but also
for' shipment abroad, and the average quantity
of malt consumed by them amounts to about
130,000 quarters annually, or about 650 quarters
every working day throughout the year, besides
a proportionably large quantity of hops. The
brewery is a great attraction for visitors to London,
and more especially foreigners, and the “ visitors’
book” will be found to contain the names of
many eminent personages. One of the best-
remembered visitors, perhaps, is Marshal Haynau,
who was speedily and unceremoniously ejected
by the draymen some years ago, in consequence
of his alleged ill-treatment of Polish or Hungarian
women, which had come to the knowledge of
Messrs. Barclay and Perkins’ draymen.

Marshal Haynau, during the sanguinary war in
1849 against the Hungarians, had gained consider-
able notoriety from his excessive cruelty towards
the Magyars, particularly the women. The follow-
ing year, having fallen into disgrace with the
Imperial Court of Vienna, and losmg his military
command, he occupied himself in a tour through
Europe, visiting London in due course. On the
4th of September, 1850, he paid a visit to Barclay’s
brewhouse, and complied with the customary
practice of signing the visitors’ book on entering
the brewery. In less than two minutes the word
was passed throughout the establishment that the
notorious Hungarian woman-flogger was then in
the building. A number of the men quickly
gathered round him as he was v1ew1ng the large
vat, and commenced showing signs of hostility.
Finding that his presence was so decxdedl; ob-
jectionable, the marshal was about to retire, but
this he was not permitted to do without receiving
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some marks of violence from the draymen and
workmen employed in the brewery. A truss of
straw was dropped on his head as he was passing
through the stables, his hat was then beaten over
his eyes, his clothes torn off his back, and he was
almost dragged along by his beard and moustaches,
which were of enormous length. Some of the
carters employed in the brewery and labourers
from the Borough Market commenced lashing him
with their whips, accompanied with the cry, “ Down
with the Austrian butcher!” “Give it him!”
Both himself and his two companions endeavoured
to defend themselves against the mob of workmen,
now swelled to upwards of 500. In his attempts
to escape from his pursuers he rushed along Bank-
side, and entered the ““ George ” public-house, close
by followed by the throng. Several rooms were
entered by the mob, but in vain. At last the
marshal was discovered crouching in a dust-bin
attached to the house. In the meantime the police
having been sent for, appeared on the scene, and
with some difficulty the crowd was dispersed and
the marshal conveyed through a back-door to a
police galley which happened to be near at hamfti.
He was then rowed to Waterloo Bridge, and con-
veyed to Morley’s Hotel.

“We have often,” writes Charles Knight, “had
occasion to sigh over the poverty of London in the
article of genuine popular legends ; one brewhouse
is among the exception. The names of Henry
Thrale and Dr. Samuel Johnson must go down
to posterity together. The workmen at Barclay
and Perkins’s will show you a little apartment in
which, according to the tradition of the place,
Johnson wrote his dictionary. Now this story,”
he adds, “has one feature of a genuine legend—it
sets chronology at defiance.” He might have added
that it sets at defiance topography also ; for it is
well known that the dictionary was compiled, as
shown by us in our first volume,* in the neighbour-
hood of Fleet Street.

The site of the Globe Theatre, of which we shall
speak in the following chapter, is believed to be
covered by part of the premises of Messrs. Barclay
and Perkins’ brewery, at a short distance from the
spot on which once stood the town-house of Mr.
Thrale.

Deadman’s Place, according to tradition, took
its name from the number of dead interred there
in the great plague, soon after the Restoration.
Elmes, in his “ Topographical Dictionary,” says it
is the second turning on the left in Park Street,
going from the Borough Market ; as shown above,

* See Vol. 1., p. 112,

it has now become partly absorbed in Messrs.
Barclay and Perkins’ brewery. Pike tells us that
little more than fifty years ago there existed in
Southwark Park a burial-ground in which many of
the Nonconformist worthies were interred. This
cemetery was called Deadman’s Place, and was
situated not far from New Park Street Chapel.

Not far from the brewery, in Park Street, there
stood formerly a timber edifice, where Mr. Wads-
worth’s congregation was accustomed to assemble,
and where Richard Baxter was wont occasionally
to preach. ¢ Just when I was kept out of Swallow
Street,” says Baxter, “his [Mr. Wadswortl’s] flock
invited me to Southwark, where, though I refused
to be their pastor, I preached many wmonths in
peace, there being no justice willing to disturb us.”
Baxter died in the Charterhouse in 16g1.

At a short distance westward, in Zoar Street,
an obscure part of the Borough, close by Gravel
Lane, which forms the western boundary of South-
wark, there is, or, at all events, there was till very
lately, an old Dissenting meeting-house, but now
converted into a carpenter’s shop, which tradition
affirms to have been used by John Bunyan for
religious worship. “It is known,” says Mr. R.
Chambers, in his “Book of Days” (vol. ii, p.
290), “to have been erected a short while before
the Revolution, by a few earnest Protestants, as a
means of counteracting a Catholic school which
had been established in the neighbourhood under
the auspices of- James II. But Bunyan may
have preached in it once or twice, or even occa-
sionally during the year preceding his death in
1688.” One of its ministers was John Chester,
the ejected minister of Wetherby, in Leicestershire.
When Bunyan preached in this chapel, thousands
of people were attracted by the charm of his magic
eloquence. It mattered not whether the service
was held on the Sunday, or “a morning lecture
by seven o'clock on a working-day in the dark
winter-time.” In 1740 this congregation removed
to Deadman’s Place, and about fifty years later
they migrated to Union Street. The old chapel
in Zoar Street was subsequently used by the
Wesleyans, and at last became a brewery and a
factory. A view of the chapel, as it appeared in
1812, has been engraved for the standard edition
of Bunyan’s works ; and another view of the edifice,
as it was in 1864, will be found in the “ Book of
Days,” at the page quoted above.

It was in Bankside at one time that poor Oliver
Goldsmith was practising medicine on his own
account, though without much success. This was
in the interval after he had been engaged as: an
assistant in a chemist’s shop near Fish- Street Hill,
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and before he became a schoolmaster at Peckham.
Goldsmith’s strong passion for dress, at this period
of his checkered career, we are told, exhibited
itself in a second-hand suit of green and gold,
which made him a rather conspicuous personage in
the thoroughfares of the Borough ; while a want of
neatness, and of money to pay the washerwoman,
was clearly betrayed in his shirt and neckcloth,
often of a fortnight’s wear. But contentment or
pride provided a covering for his poverty, and he
told a friend that “he was practising physic, and
doing very well.” The green suit was afterwards
changed for a black one, with a patch on the left
breast, which he ingeniously concealed by holding
up his cocked hat when he was conversing with
his patients. A polite person once endeavoured
to relieve him from this apparent incumbrance,
“which only made him press it more devoutly to
his heart.”

Bankside is described in the “New View of
London,” published in 1708, as lying *between
Upper Ground Street and St. Saviour’s Dock.”
The thoroughfare now bearing the name extends
from St. Saviour’s Church westward nearly to Black-
friars Bridge. Not far from Bankside there was
a Crucifix Lane, near Barnaby (now Bermondsey)
Street and Parish Street, which, with Cardinal’s Hat
Court, seem to have been so named as belonging
at some distant period to the old religicus house
of St. Mary Overy.

A little to the west of St. Saviour’s Church is
Stoney Street, which ran down to the water-side,
nearly opposite to Dowgate, and probably was the
continuation of the Watling Street road. - “ This,”
says Pennant, “is supposed to have been a Roman
trajectus, and the ferry from Londinum into the
province of Cantium.” Marks of the ancient cause-
way have been discovered on the London side.
Of this the name evinces the origin. The Saxons
always gave the name of Street to the Roman
roads, and here they gave it the addition of Stoney,
from the pavement they found beneath it.

Between Southwark Bridge Road and the
southern end of Blackfriars Bridge is Holland
Street, which marks the site of the ancient moated
manor-house, called Holland’s Leaguer, of which
we have spoken above. All vestiges of the house
have long been swept away. In Holland Street,
on the spot where once stood the tide-mill of the
old manor of Paris Garden, are the Falcon Glass
Works, one of the most important manufactories
in Southwark. It may be mentioned here, in
passing, that old Southwark was noted for its
artists in glass, who are known to have glazed the
windows of King’s College Chapel, Cambridge, in

the reign of Henry VIII. The Falcon Works
have existed here for more than a century. ¢ Their
present importance and excellence,” as we learn
from Brayley’s ¢ History of Surrey” (1843), “are
mainly due to the taste and exertions of the present
proprietor [Mr. Apsley Pellatt], and the employ-
ment of skilful hands on materials that science and
experience approve. By these means the most
elegant productions of the Continent are advan-
tageously rivalled, and in some respects surpassed.
The number of persons employed is from one
hundred to one hundred and twenty in the glass-
house, and about thirty elsewhere. The weight
of glass manufactured in the course of a year,
into chandeliers, illuminators for ships or cellars,
toilet or smelling-bottles, ornamental glasses of
every description for the table, and various objects
for medical and philosophical purposes, has been
20,000 Ibs.” Since the repeal of the excise duty
on glass the quantity worked has been very largely
increased, and the quality improved. Mr. Apsley
Pellatt, who was for.some years M.P. for Lambeth,
died in 1864.

Close by the glass works, on the site of the
Falcon drawing-dock, was situated the ¢ Falcon
Tavern,” famous for its connection with the name
of William Shakespeare. Here the great “poet
of all time” and his companions would refresh
themselves after the fatigue of the afternoon per-
formances at the Globe hard by. “It long con-

‘tinued,” says Mr. Larwood, “ to be celebrated as a

coaching inn for all parts of Kent, Surrey, and
Sussex, till it was taken down in 1808.” The
name, as shown above, is still preserved in the
Falcon Glass Works, and also in the Falcon Stairs.
A house is still standing, or was till lately, which
is considered to have been part of the original
tavern, and, at all events, occupies its site and
immortalises his name.

In the rear of the Falcon Glass Works, opening
upon Holland Street—or that part of it which was
till lately called the “Green Walk”—is a small
cluster of almshouses, founded in 1730, by a Mr.
Hopton, for the purpose of affording shelter for
“poor decayed householders of the parish of
Christchurch,” together with a yearly pension of
A 12 to each inmate.

Previous to the erection of Southwark Bridge,
in 1814, Bankside, from London to Blackfriars
Bridges, presented a comparatively uninteresting
succession of wharves and warehouses, together
with irregular-built dwelling-houses ; but upon the
formation of the viaduct to the new bridge, ex-
tensive improvements were planned on each side,
the most important-of which was the erection of
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a huge pile of building westward, by the Messrs.
Pott, upon a tract of ground which, for upwards
of two centuries, has been used for manufacturing
purposes. These premises were occupied as
vinegar-works by a Mr. Rush, so long ago as 1641,

and continued in his family till 1790, when they

came into the possession of the Messrs. Pott, whose
family had carried on a manufactory of the same
kind for seventy years in Mansel Street, White-
chapel. The ground here, as we have already
shown, originally formed a portion of the park of

the ancient palace of the Bishops of Winchester. 1
The property, as we have stated, is still held of the

| wish of a certain Miss Hyndman, to the erection

of churches in populous districts. A further sum
of about _£1,700 was raised by subscription among
the parishioners, for the enclosure, decoration, and
furniture of the edifice.

Since the annexation of Southwark to London,
as stated in a previous chapter, its ecclesiastical
districts have gradually been increased by sub-
divisions.  The two parishes of St. Mary’s and
St. Margaret’s, indeed, as we have already shown,
have been united, the old church of St. Saviour’s
being made to do duty for both ; but the parish of
Christ Church, as nearly as possible co-extensive
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see of Winchester, by Messrs. Pott, who, conjointly
with the Bishop of Winchester, in 1838-9, gave a
portion of the grounds for the site of the new
parish church of St. Peter’s, and of the new
grammar-school of St. Saviour’s.

The church and school stand on the north side
©of Sumner Street—so named after Dr. Sumner,
late Bishop of Winchester—which connects South-
wark Bridge Road with Park Street. The church
is a poor building, in imitation of the Pointed style,
and is constructed of fine light brick, with stone
dressings. At the western end rises an embattled
tower, with square turrets at the angles; the
eastern gable is surmounted with an enriched cross,
turrets, &c.; the principal entrances are at the
west end, and at the south side, under an enriched
stone headway, beneath the central window. The
cost of building was contributed by the trustees of
“Hyndman’s Bounty ;” being a portion of the
<donation of £100,000 devoted, in fulfilment of the

PLAN OF BANKSIDE, EARLY IN THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY.

with the Manor of Paris Garden, has been formed
out of St. Saviour’s, as also has the still more
modern parish of St. Peter’s, of which we have
spoken above. The parish of St. John’s, Horsely-
down, has in like manner been taken out of St.
Olave’s; and the hospital church of St. Thomas
has been made parochial. Of the churches
belonging to the two last-named parishes, and also
of Christ Church, Blackfriars Road, we shall speak
in due course.

St. Saviour’s Grammar School, as we have already
had occasion to state, stood originally on the south
side of St. Saviour’s Church; it was founded by
Queen Elizabeth in 1562, for the use of the
parishioners, “poor as well as rich.” It was burnt
down a few years after its establishment, but was
rebuilt. In 1839 the school was removed to a
more convenient site in Sumner Street, where the
present school and schoolhouse were built about
the year 1838. At the same time the statutes
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were revised by the Court of Chancery, and the
education now given .is that of a public school,
while the endowment is sufficient to allow of the
charges being reduced to a most moderate scale.
The school was reformed in 1850 under a scheme
approved by the Court of Chancery, the usual
«classical and commercial course being prescribed.
‘The visitor is the Bishop of Rochester, though for-
merly that office was held by the successive Bishops
of Winchester. By the statutes it is provided that the

THE GLOBE THEATRE, TEMP. ELIZABETH.

master shall be “a man of a wise, sociable, loving
disposition, not hasty or furious, or of any ill
example, but wise and of good experience to
discern the nature of every several child ; to work
upon the disposition for the greatest advantage,
benefit, and comfort of the child, and to learn with
the love of his book, if such an one can be got.”
The school and master’s house, &c., which
nearly adjoin the western end of St Peter’s
Church, are built of brick, with stone dressings, in
the Elizabethan Domestic style, from the designs
of Mr. Christopher Edmonds, architect. By the
charter of incorporation, the original endowment
amounted to £ 4o per annum; Six governors were
appointed, who were to be advised in the appoint-
ment and government of the master and usher by

the Bishop of Winchester, “ or any other good and
learned man.” Immediately after the charter, the
governors ordered that the schoolmaster’s wages
should be 420 yearly ; that children of the parish
should be taught free, paying 2s. 6d. entrance, and
8d. per annum towards brooms and rods. The
whole number of scholars was not to exceed
100; the head-master taking forty for his own
advantage; in 1614 he was allowed a dwelling-
house in the parish, rent-free; and the governors

(Sez page 43.)

had the discretion of increasing his stipend, and
taking children of other parishes and places. In
the above year also, John Bingham, one of the
governors of the school, founded an endowment
for two poor scholars at Cambridge or Oxford—
“none but poor and such as were forward in
learning, and might be fit for the University.”
According to the Parliamentary Report, in 1818,
the annual income of this school amounted to
£387 155. 1d: At that time there were sixty-
eight boys upon the foundation; each paid 41
entrance, and §s. a quarter to the writing-school,
and the like to the classical school. The above
report states, “ With the exception of writing
and arithmetic, the education given at the school
is, according to the provisions of the charter,
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entirely classical. It appears that this has operated
to deter poor persons who might be entitled to
send their children there from so doing; but we
are assured that” no poor child, whose parents
have applied for his admission, has been refused.”
‘The average number of children is now about 120,
and the school is thrown entirely open. There
are several valuable scholarships ; and the pupils
are prepared for the Universities, Civil Service,
and other public examinations, combined with a
thorough commercial education.

To the south of Sumner Street, and connect-
ing the two great thoroughfares of the Borough
and Blackfriars Road, is a broad roadway, called
Southwark Street. It was formed about the year
1860, and its sides are lined with some lofty and
handsome warehouses, offices, and other places
of business, which present a marked improve-
ment on the ordinary street architecture of old
Southwark. In the formation of this street a large
number of courts and alleys were swept away,
and a great alteration was made in the west side
of the High Street, by the removal of the Town
Hall, of which we shall presently speak. The
preparations for the erection of Southwark Bridge
had cleared away several narrow streets on the
Surrey side of the river, and materially altered
the appearance of the neighbourhood. Bandyleg
Walk, a dirty lane between Maid Lane (now New
Park Street) and Queen Street (now Union Street),
are on the spot where formerly was a waste piece
of ground. The Dyers’ Field, with a filthy pond
in the centre, became Great Guildford Street; and
the name of Union Street was conferred upon
the thoroughfare between the end of Charlotte
Street and the Borough. The district between
the Blackfriars Road and Bandyleg Walk had an
unsavoury ~eputation in the last century. Gravel
Lane, Ewer Street, and the adjacent courts and
alleys, were the St. Giles’s of Southwark, inhabited
by a dense colony of Irish, whose frequent drunken
bouts and faction fights were, in those days of
the old “Charlies,” sufticiently desperate to warn
off steady-going people from the locality. On the
north side of the street, westward of Southwark
Bridge Road, are some extensive blocks of model
lodging-houses, erected by the Peabody trustees.
The range of buildings covers a large extent of
ground; and the houses themselves, which are
constructed of brick, and upon the most improved
principles, are several storeys in height.

At the eastern end of Southwark Street, near
its junction with the High Street, and close by
the Borough Market, stands the Hop Exchange,
which was built about 1865, from the designs of

Mr. Moore. This is a large and magnificent
range of buildings, several storeys in height, in
which are offices, &c., used by hop merchants and
others, and enclosing a lofty hall, in which the
business of the exchange is carried on. The
hall, which is approached from the street by a
short flight of steps, and a vestibule, in which are
some handsome iron gates, is surrounded by three
galleries, which serve as means of communication
to the various offices. In the rear are some ex-
tensive warchouses and stowage for hops, &c.
The railings of the galleries are appropriately
decorated, and the hall itself is covered in with
a glass roof.

It has been said of St. Petersburg that more
labour is expended in the foundations of the houses
than on the houses themselves; and so it is with
Southwark Street. The subway which runs along
its centre, as stated in a previous part of this
work,* is a piece of building which will last for
many generations. Underneath that subway, which
is seven feet high in the centre, is the sewer;
the gas and water pipes are laid in the subway.
There is a communication from it for gas and
water to every house, the repair of the pipes will
not necessitate the opening of the streets, and pas-
sengers are saved the disagreeable intelligence of
“ No thoroughfare,” when driving in a cab to catch
a train. This subway, indeed, is 2 most excellent
piece of building, and has been finished in a
masterly manner; and the same degree of ex-
cellent workmanship may be said to have been
bestowed upon the fronts of the houses on either
side of the street. Altogether, Southwark Street
is more like an old Roman street, especially in
its subway, than anything of modern times. In
architecture it may be called Parisian, for the
style of the houses is borrowed from that which
dominates in Paris, and is identified with the
period of Louis XIV. Near the eastern end of the
street the roadway is crossed by a railway arch,
over which passes the lines connecting London
Bridge and Cannon Street Stations with Waterloo
and Charing Cross ; whilst the other end of the
street passes under the London, Chatham, and
Dover Railway, close by Blackfriars Bridge Station.
In the middle of the roadway, at either end of
the street, are ornamental shafts, surrounded by
lamps, for the ventilation of the subway.

Altogether, the Bankside of to-day is a notably
different place from the Bankside of theatres and
pleasure-gardens as it appeared two centuries ago,
and which we shall now proceed to describe.

* See Vol V., p. 239.
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CHAPTER V.
SOUTHWARK (continued).—BANKSIDE IN THE OLDEN TIME;

““ Totus orbis agit histrionem.”

Appearance of Bankside in the Seventeenth Century—The Globe Theatre—Its Destruction by Fire-—Shakespeare’s Early Connection with the
Playhouse—James Burbage—Rebuilding of the Globe Theatre—Public and Private Theatres—The Rose Theatre—Ben Jonson—The Hope
and Swan Theatres—Paris Garden—Bear-baiting—Prize-fighting —Samuel Pepys’ Description of the Sport—John Evelyn’s Visit to Bank-
side—The ‘“ Master of the King’s Bears ”—Bad Repute of Paris Garden—Visit of Queen Elizabeth to Paris Garden—Bear Alley— Public
Gardens in Southwark—Bankside at the Time of the Great Fire of London — Dick Tarleton—The * Tumble-down Dick "—~Waterside

Public-houses.

In the present chapter we must ask our readers
to transport themselves along with us, mentally,
some 250 or 300 years, to the Bankside with
which Shakespeare and Burbage, and Ben Jonson,
and Beaumont and Fletcher were familiar. They
will see no rows of densely-crowded courts and
alleys, with their idle and dissolute, gin-drinking
inhabitants ; but before their eyes there will rise at
least three large round structures of singular ap-
pearance, not unlike small martello towers, open
to the sky above, together with one or two plots
of enclosed ground scaffolded about for the use
of spectators. These are the Paris Gardens, and
the Globe, the Hope, and the Swan Theatres.
And besides these, there are the stately palaces
of the Bishops of Winchester and Rochester, as
we have already shown ; and all to the south are
green fields and hedgerows.

“On the southern bank of the Thames,” writes
Mr. J. H. Jesse, in his “ London,” between Black-
~ friars Bridge and Southwark Bridge, is Bankside.
Here was the Globe Theatre, immortalised as the
spot where Shakespeare trod the stage; here was
the celebrated ¢Paris Garden;’ here stood the
circuses for ‘bowll-baytyng’ and ‘beare-baytyng,’
where Queen Elizabeth entertained the French
ambassadors with the baiting of wild beasts. Here
stood the Falcon Tavern—the ‘Folken Inne’ as
it is styled in the ancient plans of Bankside—
the daily resort of Shakespeare and his dramatic
companions ; here, between Southwark Bridge and
London Bridge, the site still pointed out by ¢ Pike
Gardens,” were the pike-ponds, which once sup-
plied our monarchs with fresh-water fish; and,
lastly, here were the park and the palace of the
Bishop of Winchester.”

It will be seen at once, from the above quota-
tion, that the ancient topography of the southern
bank of the Thames (or Bankside) between Lon-
don and Blackfriars Bridges, is peculiarly interest-
ing to the lover of dramatic lore, as well as to
the student of the sports and pastimes of our
ancestors. Down to the middle of the seventeenth
century, and probably much later, with the ex-
ception of a few houses extending westward along

the bank of the river, and sundry places of.amuse-
ment, the greater part of the land hereabouts would
seem to have been waste and unenclosed.

The Globe Theatre, as already mentioned by
us, occupied part of the site now covered by
Messrs. Barclay and Perkins’ Brewery.

In the “ History of St. Saviour’s, Southwark,”
published in 1795, we read that “the passage
which led to the Globe Tavern, of which the play-
house formed a part, was, till within these few
years, known by the name of Globe Alley, and
upon its site now stands a large storehouse for
porter.” It was called the Globe from its sign,
which was a figure of Hercules, or Atlas, sup-
porting a globe, under which was written, * Zofus
mundus agit histrionem?” (“All the world acts a
play”); and not, as many have conjectured, from
its circular shape ; for the Globe, though a rotunda
within, was to the outward view a hexagon.

We have no description of the interior of the
Globe, but that it was somewhat similar to our
modern theatres, with an open space in the roof;
or perhaps it more resembled an inn-yard, where,
in the beginning of Queen Elizabeth’s reign, many
of our ancient dramatic pieces were performed.
The galleries in both were arranged on three sides
of the building ; the small rooms under the lowest,
answered to our present boxes, and were called
rooms ; the yard bears a sufficient resemblance
to the pit, as at present in use, and where the
common people stood to see the exhibition ; from
which circumstance they are called by Shakespeare
“the groundlings,” and by Ben Jonson “ the under-
standing gentlemen of the ground.” The stage was
erected in'the area, with its back to the gateway,
where the admission money was generally taken.
The price of admission into the best rooms, or
boxes, was in Shakespeare’s time a shilling, though
afterwards it appears to have risen to two shillings
and halfa-crown. The galleries, or scaffolds, as
they were sometimes called, and that part of the
house which in private theatres was named the
pit, seem to have been the same in price, which
was sixpence, while in some meaner playhouses it
was only a penny, and in others twopence.
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The Globe Theatre, according to Mr. Dyce, in
his “Life of Shakespeare,” was first opened late
in 1594, or early in the following year; at all
events, within twenty years of the opening of the
first theatre in London. During the summer,
the Lord Chamberlain’s “servants,”—of whom
Shakespeare was one—acted at the Globe, return-
ing in the winter to the theatre at Blackfriars,
which was more effectually sheltered from the
weather. They also occasionally changed their
venue by playing at the “ Curtain,” in Shoreditch,
and at the theatre in Newington Butts.

No sooner did James I. ascend the throne, than
he issued from Greenwich a royal proclamation,
authorising, by name, “ Qur servants, Lawrence
Fletcher, William Shakspeare, Richard Burbage,”
&e. &c., “freely to use and exercise the art and
faculty of plays, comedies, tragedies, histories, in-
terludes, morals, pastorals, stage-plays, &c. &c.,
as well within their now usual house, called the
Globe, within our County of Surrey, as also within
any town halls . . . or other convenient places
within the liberties . . . of any other city, univer-
sity, town, or borough whatever within our realms.”

Shakespeare and his associates at this time
were at the head of the Lord Chamberlain’s com-
pany, performing at the Globe in the summer ;
but by virtue of it they ceased to be the Lord
Chamberlain’s servants, and became “the king’s
players.” It may be added that “ Mr. Shakespeare,
of the Globe,” is mentioned in a letter from Mrs.
Alleyn to her husband, the founder of Dulwich
College.

If any doubt exist as to the extent of Shake-
speare’s connection with the theatres in Bankside,
it will be removed by the lines of Ben Jonson,
in allusion to the fondness for dramatic per-
formances which marked our last Tudor and our
first Stuart sovereign :—

¢ Sweet Swan of Avon, what a sight it were
To see thee in our waters yet appear,

And make those flights upon the banks of Thames
That so did take Eliza and our James.”

“It was here,” writes Charles Mackay, in his
“Thames and its Tributaries,” “ near the spot still
called the Bankside, that the Globe Theatre stood
at the commencement of the seventeenth century ;
the theatre of which Shakespeare himself was in
part proprietor, where some of his plays were
first produced, and where he himself performed
in them. It was of an octagonal form, partly
covered with thatch, as we learn from the account
in Stow, who tells us that in 1613, ten years after
it was first licensed to Shakespeare and Burbage,
and the rest, the thatch took fire by the negligent

discharge of a piece of ordnance, and in a veiy
short time the whole building was consumed. 'The
house was filled with people to witness the repre-
sentation of King Henry the Eighth; but they all
cscaped- unhurt. This was the end of Shake-
speare’s theatre ; it was rebuilt, however, appa-
rently in a similar style, in the following year.”

Theatres in those times were very different
structures from what they are in the present day;
they were unroofed, circular or hexagonal edifices,
shielded from the rain by a canvas covering, and
without scenery or decorations, as well as innocent
of “stalls” or “boxes,” for the more aristocratic
part of the audience sat upon the stage, among
the performers, drinking beer and enjoying a
friendly pipe. The central area in the public
theatres was termed “the yard,” the word “pit”
being restricted to private theatres; the pits-
were furnished with seats, which was not the case
with the ¢ yards.” ¢ Cressets, or large open
lanterns,” writes Mr. Dyce, “served to illuminate:
the body of the house ;-and two ample branches,
of a form similar to those now hung in churches,
gave light to the stage. The band of musicians,
which was far from numerous, sat, it is supposed,,
in an upper balcony, over what is now called:
the stage-box ; the instruments chiefly used were
trumpets, cornets, hautboys, lutes, recorders, viols,
and organs. Nearly all these theatres were of
wood ; and the public theatres were open to the
sky, the luxury of a roof being confined to ‘private *
theatres—whatever these may have been. On the
outside of each was a sign indicative of its name ;
and on the roof a flag was hoisted during the time
of performance.”

- The peculiar construction of the theatre in
Shakespeare’s time is referred to by the poet him-
self, for he thus speaks of the Globe Theatre in
the play of Henry V. :—

¢ Can this vast cockpit hold
The field of vasty France ? or can we cram
Into this wooden O the very casques
That did affright the air at Agincourt?”

In these early days of the drama, a curtair
occupied the place of scenery, while the scene
supposed to be represented was inscribed on a
board, and hung up at the back of the stage,
such, for instance, as “This is a house,” or
“This is a garden.”

‘¢ Piece out our imperfections with your thoughts”

is the bidding of the poet; and he spoke to an
audience who could do even better than that,
who could forget them altogether, in their appre-
hension of the spiritual grandeur and magnificence:
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that was then with them in the cockpit. ¢ There | the ground in less than two hours, with a dwelling.
is something, it must be owned,” observes Charles | house adjoyning ; and it was a great marvaile and
Knight, in his “ London,” “ occasionally amusing, | a fair grace of God that the people had so little
as well as delightful, in the simplicity of the | harm, having but Zwo narrew doors to get out.”
old stage: in Greene’s Pinner of Wakefield, two| 1In 1613 was entered in the Stationers’ books,
parties are quarrelling, and one of them says, | “A doleful Ballad of the General Conflagration of
‘Come, sir, will you come to the town’s end,  the famous Theatre called the Globe.” ,
now?’ in order to fight. ¢Aye, sir, come,’ answers ‘ Taylor, the water poet, commemorates the event
the other; and both then, we presume, move a ' in the following lines :—

fev.v feet across'the stage, .to another pa.rt ; but “ As gold is better that in fire’s tried,

evidently that is all, for in the next line the So is the Bankside Globe, that late was burn’d ;
speaker continues, ‘Now we are at the town’s For where before it had a thatched hide, 3
end—what shall we say now?’” And yet it was |. Now to a stately theatre *tis turn'd ;

! " Which is an emblem that great things are won

here, and with such accessories as those mentioned
By those that dare through greatest dangers run.”

above, that were first produced nearly all the won-
derful plays of the mighty poet. | It is also alluded to in some verses by Ben
An account of the accident mentioned above | Jonson, entitled “An Execration upon Vulcan,”
is given by Sir Henry Wotton, in a letter dated | from which it appears that Ben Jonson was in
July 2, 1613 : “ Now to let matters of state sleepe, | the theatre when it was burnt.
I will entertain you at the present with what; The exhibitions given at the Globe appear to
happened this week at the Banks side. The  have been calculated for the lower class of people,
King’s players had a new play, called 4% is Zrue, and to have been more frequent than those at
representing some principal pieces of the reign of | the Blackfriars, till early in the seventeenth cen-
Henry VIIL, which set forth with many extra-| tury, when it became less fashionable and fre-
ordinary circumstances of pomp and majesty even | quented. The Globe was immediately contiguous
to the matting of the stage; the knights of the | to the Bear Garden ; and it is probable, therefore,
order with their Georges and Garter, the guards that those who resorted thither went to the theatre
with their embroidered coats, and the like ; suffi- | when the bear-baiting sports were over, and such
cient in truth within awhile to make greatness | persons were not likely to form a very refined
very familiar, if not ridiculous. Now King Henry | audience.
making a masque at the Cardinal Wolsey’s house, | It has often been said that Shakespeare, on his
and certain cannons being shot off at his entry, | first arrival in London from Stratford-on-Avon,
some of the paper or other stuff, wherewith one  was received into the playhouse in a subordinate
of them was stopped, did light on the thatch, position, and associated with company of a mean
where, being thought at first but idle smoak, and low rank; but Mr. Dyce sees reason for be-
and their eyes more attentive to the show, it | lieving that “he never was attached to any other
kindled inwardly, and ran round like a train, con- | company (of players) than that which owned the
suming within less than an hour the whole house | Blackfriars and the Globe.” Among Shakespeare’s
to the very ground. This was the fatal period of fellows at this time were Marlowe, Greene, Lodge,
that virtuous fabrick, wherein yet nothing did Beaumont, Fletcher, Peele, Chettle, Burbage, and
perish but wood and sfraw, and a few forsaken a few others.
cloaks ; only one man had his breeches set on; We have already made some mention of Bur-
fire, that would perhaps have broyled him, if he | bage in our account of Blackfriars Theatre,* but
had not, by the benefit of a provident wit, put it as there is a certain sense in which  Master”
out with a bottle of ale.” James Burbage, carpenter, &c., of the parish of
From a letter of Mr. John Chamberlaine to | St. Leonard’s, Shoreditch, may be regarded as the
Sir Ralph Winwood, dated July 8, 1613, in which | father of the English stage, some additional notice
this accident is likewise mentioned, we learn that of him here, in connection with the Globe, may
the theatre had only two doors. “ The burning not be altogether out of place.  Although the
of the Globe or playhouse on the Bankside on | drama had flourished in the shape, at all events,
St. Peter’s day cannot escape you ; which fell out of miracle-plays and such-like performances in
by a peal of chambers (that I know not upon | the ages before the Reformation, yet under our
what occasion were to be used in the play), the ‘ Tudor sovereigns the drama was not held in high
tampin or stopple of one of them lighting in the | —
thatch that covered the house, burn’d it down to l * See Vol. I, p 2on.
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honour, nor was the profession of a dramatist Lord Mayor’s jurisdiction. Two circumstances
regarded as worthy of respect. Royal and court | favoured his idea : firstly, his father-in-law was a
authority had all along set its face against plays | man of substance, own%ng a few houses at Shore-
and interludes as dangerous to the morals of the | ditch; and secondly, in the previous year, just
young, and, therefore, things to be forbidden to | prior to the revels at Kenilworth, Queen Elizabeth
the citizens of London and their apprentices. | had permitted her favourite, the Earl of Leicester,
Indeed, all plays were strictly interdicted within to collect a body of actors, and to enrol them

the City; and on one occasion, when it became 'under a patent from the crown. At the head of
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known that a play was to be performed at the
“Boar's Head,” in Aldgate, the Lord Mayor re-
ceived an order from Queen Mary to stop the
performance. In the early part of Elizabeth’s
reign it was found that the dramatic element was
too strongly mixed up with human nature to be
quite suppressed, and that it was better to bear
with and hold in check what could not be utterly
forbidden. Accordingly, in the year 1575, when
the Lord Mayor had issued an edict altogether
inhibiting plays within the circuit of the City, one
James Burbage, a carpenter, bethought himself that
he would erect a structure of wood, which would
serve for a theatre, on a site just beyond the

this body was placed James Burbage. Aided by
the help of his father-inlaw, he obtained from
a neighbour a lease of some land in Shoreditch,
with permission from the landlord to build on it
a theatre of wood. He did so forthwith; the
play-house was opened ; crowds flocked to it, and
it was soon known over London as “The Theatre.”
Its success was so great that some opposition was
soon threatened ; but Burbage saw his chance,
and built hard by a rival theatre, which he called
“The Curtain.” These two buildings became the
nursery of the English stage. In the one Ben
Jonson obtained his first engagement as a writer
and vamper of plays, and took to the stage for
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a living. Encouraged by his double success at
Shoreditch, James Burbage grew bolder, and soon
afterwards erected a third theatre at Blackfriars,
under the nose of the Lord Mayor and of the
lords and ladies who lived around the Bridewell
Palace; and in spite of their remonstrances, he
held his own, supported, no doubt, by Leicester’s
influence. In the year 1576 he opened the Black-
friars Theatre, which soon became the leading play-

some sense, manager too, there was no combined
effort at producing a genuine English drama. But
from the moment that James Burbage, like a
second Thespis, erected his wooden theatre in
Shoreditch, the calling of the player began to
assume a definite character, and acting grew into
the dignity of an art and a profession. Shake-
speare found all these theatres, and others too, in
existence when he came to London from Stratford
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house of the metropolis, and which is connected
with the name of William Shakespeare.

Several other playhouses now sprung up in
quick succession—viz., the “Red Bull” and the
“Fortune,” in the north of London; and on the
south of the river, in Southwark, the ‘“Rose,” the
““Hope,” the ‘Swan,” and the “Globe,” near
the “Bear Garden.” Driven out of the City, and
put to their wits’ end for an honest livelihood, the
poor players, who now began to style themselves
“ Her Majesty’s Servants,” began to build theatres
in all the suburbs ; and to James Burbage is due
the credit of having enabled them to do so. In
fact, until he came forward to assist the poor
dramatists by his skill as a carpenter, and, in
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in 1585 or the following year; and it is quite
possible that, if it had not been for James Burbage,
he would never have come to the metropolis, or
written for us and for all time either Ham/et or
Macbeth, as he would have had no stage on which
to perform them. At all events, when he came
to town, and joined the company at the Black-
friars, he became a fast friend of James Burbage
and ot his son Richard, who became the Roscius
of his age, and the original actor of most of
Shakespeare’s principal characters. The elder
Burbage did not live to see the lease of his first
theatre expire, and the building demolished and
carried across the river into Southwark by his
son Cuthbert. But he saw the Earl of Leicester’s
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actors formally established as members of a recog-
nised profession, and able to influence the age in
which they lived. James Burbage died about the
year 1594; his son Richard survived him for
twenty years, dying two years before his friend
Will Shakespeare. It may be of interest to add
that the whole Burbage family lived and died in
Holywell (now High) Street, Shoreditch, and were
buried, along with several other “poor players,”
in St. Leonard’s churchyard.

In 1596 Shakespeare appears to have lived near
the Bear Garden, in Southwark. “I have yet to

learn,” writes Mr. Dyce, ¢ that the fancy of Shake-

speare could not luxuriate in rural images, even
amid the fogs of Southwark and Blackfriars.”

Shakespeare does not appear to have sustained
any loss by the burning of the Globe Theatre,
for he had parted with his interest in theatrical
property on retiring to Stratford-on-Avon. His late
partners, however, were sufferers to a very consider-
able extent, and Shakespeare, in all probability,
contributed—along with King James and many
of the nobility and gentry of the day—to the
rebuilding of the theatre in the course of the
following year.

As is well known, the line quoted as a motto
to this chapter was the motto of the Globe
Theatre; but it may not be known that this
motto was the cause of two couplets of verse, by
Ben Jonson and Shakespeare respectively, quoted
by Mr. Dyce from “Poetical Characteristics,” a
manuscript formerly in the Harleian collection.
Ben asks—

¢ If but stage-actors all the world displays,
Where shall we find spectators of their plays ?”

To this “Gentle Will” replies, with pleasant
repartee :—

“ Little or much of what we see we do ;
We’re all both actors and spectators too.”

Besides the Glabe, there were, as stated above,
three other theatres on the Bankside, calied the
“Rose,” the “ Hope,” and the “Swan.” These
appear, for some undiscovered reason, to have
been called “private” theatres. * There was this
difference between these and the Globe and other
public theatres, that the latter were open to the
sky, except over the stage and galleries ; but the
private theatres were completely covered in from
the weather. On the roof of all of them, whether
public or private, a flag was always hoisted to
mark the time of the performances.”

The Rose Theatre had the honour of number-
ing Ben Jonson, in his early days, as one of its
play-writers. In Henslowe’s “ Diary,” the manager,
under date July 28, 1597, acknowledges the receipt

of 3s. 9d. as part of “Bengemmens Johnsone’s
share ;” and, from another entry, it would appear
that on the same day Henslowe lent him four
pounds. Early in the December of the same
year, there is an entry of twenty shillings lent to
jonson upon a book which he was to write for the
company before Christmas, the plot having been
already shown to its members. These facts show
that he had then gained some standing, though not,
perhaps, a very high one, as a dramatic writer.

From the Rose we follow him to the Globe,
where we find him for the first time associated
with Shakespeare, on whose recommendation the
company of that theatre accepted his first very
successful hit, Every Man in his Humour, which
drew on him the notice of Queen Elizabeth.

Whilst writing for the theatres, Ben Jonson lived
on the Bankside, whence he afterwards removed to
the house of a wool-comber, just outside Temple
Bar, and close to the ¢ Devil Tavern,” where we
have already made his acquaintance.*

The Rose Theatre stood at the north end of
what was formerly called Rose Alley; it is men-
tioned by Taylor the “water-poet,” in his “True
Cause of the Waterman’s Suit concerning Players,”
1615. The Hope Theatre was near at hand,
though we cannot identify its site precisely.

The Swan Theatre, near the Globe, was standing
previous to 1598, and was so named from a house
and tenement called the ¢ Swan,” mentioned in a
charter of Edward VI., by which the manor of
Southwark is granted to the City of London. It
fell into decay in the reign of James I., was closed
in 1613, and was subsequently used only for gladia-
torial exhibitions. Yet in its time it had been well
frequented ; for a contemporary author says, “It
was the continent of the world, because half the
year a world of beauties and brave spirits resorted
to it.”’

It may be mentioned here, in passing, that on this
side of the Thames there was also another theatre
at Newington Butts, of which, however, we know
little except the fact that it was “frequented by
the citizens in summer.” In the days of the late
Tudors and early Stuarts, the performances usually
commenced at 3 p.m., and the prices of admisston
ranged from “a shilling for the best boxes or
rooms,” down to sixpence, twopence, and even a
penny for the pit and galleries ; and it is worthy of
note that in the reign of the Protestant Elizabeth
plays were acted both publicly and at Court on
Sundays as well as on other days of the week, and
under her successor at Court.

* See VoL L., p. 30
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But the theatres were not, as already hinted, the
only places of public amusement along the Bank-
side. A sort of circus, called -t the time the Paris
Garden, was erected and op aed here about the
middle of the sixteenth cencury, as a place for
bear-baiting. The public were admitted by the
payment of a penny at the gate, a penny at the
“entry of the scaffold ” or raised seats, and a third
penny for “quiet standing.” So popular indeed
did the sport become that it even trenched on the
theatres proper, and reduced their receipts. In
1591, as Mr. Chambers tells us in his “ Book of
Days,” an order was issued from the Privy Council
forbidding plays to be acted on Thursdays, because
that day had been long set apart for ¢ bear-baiting
and such pastimes.” The Lord Mayor of London
appears to have followed with a public notice com-
plaining that “in some places the players do use
to recite their plays to the great hurt and destruc-
tion of the game of bear-baiting and such like
pastimes, which are maintained for her Majesty’s
pleasure.” It may be remarked that Elizabeth had
been right royally entertained by Lord Leicester
at Kenilworth with combats of dogs and bears,
and no doubt often amused herself by witnessing
the same scenes nearer home ; so that in all pro-
bability she was occasionally present at Bankside,
when, as we are told, “the baiting of bulls and of
bears was the favourite holiday pastime of her
Londoner subjects.”

In Aggas’s plan of London, taken in 1574, and
in the plan taken by Braun about the same time,
the bear-gardens are represented as plots of ground
with scaffolding for the spectators, bearing the
names of the “Bowlle Baytyng,” and the “ Beare
Baytynge.” “In both plans,” says Thomas Allen,
in his “ History of Surrey,” “ the buildings appear
to be circular, and to have been evidently intended
as humble imitations of the ancient Roman amphi-
theatre. They stood in two adjoining fields, sepa-
rated only by a small strip of land; but some
differences are observable in the spots on which
they are built. In Aggas’s plan, which is the
earlier of the two, the strip of land which lies
between them contains only one large pond,
common to the two places of exhibition; but in
Braun’s this appears divided into three ponds, be-
sides a similar conveniency near each theatre. The
use of these pieces of water is very well explained
in ‘ Brown’s Travels’ (1685), where we find a plate
of the ¢Elector of Saxony his beare garden at
Dresden,” in which is a large pond, with several
bears amusing themselves in it, the account of
which is highly curious :—¢ In the hunting-house in
the old town are fifteen bears, very well provided

for, and looked unto. They have fountains and
ponds to wash themselves in, wherein they much
delight ; and near to the pond are high ragged posts
or trees set up for the bears to climb up, and scaf-
folds made at the top to sun and dry themselves ;
where they will also sleep, and come and go as the
keeper calls them.’ The ponds and dog-kennels
for the bears on the Bankside are clearly marked
in the plans alluded to; and the construction of
the amphitheatres themselves may be tolerably well
conceived, notwithstanding the smallness of the
scale on which they are drawn. They evidently
consisted, withinside, of a lower tier of circular
seats for the spectators, at the back of which a sort
of screen ran all round, in part open, so as to admit
a view from without, evident in Braun’s delineation
by the figures who are looking through on the out-
side. The buildings are unroofed, and in both
plans are shown during the time of performance,
which in Aggas’s view is announced by the display
of little flags or streamers on the top. The dogs
are tied up in slips near each place of ¢baytyng,’
ready for the sport, and the combatants are actually
engaged in Braun’s plan. Two little houses for
retirement are at the head of each theatre.”

The “ Bear Garden,” as this place came in process
of time to be called, was still a place of frequent
and favourite resort among the cavaliers of the
reign of Charles I. ; but the sport of bear-baiting
went against the consciences, or, at all events, the
stomachs, of the ¢ Roundheads,” who did their
very best to suppress it. At the Restoration, how-
ever, it was revived (with some of the least good
points of the Royalist faith and practice), and the
Paris Garden again looked up, though only for a
time.

As a specimen of the sort of amusements which
went on here under the Stuart kings, let us take the
following out of Samuel Pepys’s “ Diary ” for 1666.
He writes, under date of August 14, a few days
before the Great Fire of London :—¢ After dinner,
I went with my wife and Mercer to the Bear-
Garden, where I have not been, I think, of many
years, and saw some good sport of the bulls tossing
the dogs—one into the very boxes ; but it is a very
rude and nasty pleasure. We had a great many
Hectors in the same box with us (and one very fine
went into the pit and played his dog for a wager,
which was a strange sport for a gentleman), where
they drank wine, and drank Mercer’s health first,
which I pledge with my hat off.”

On the 28th of May in the following year, Pepys
was again here; for under that date we find him
writing :—*‘ Abroad, and stopped at Bear-garden
Stairs, there to see a prize fought. But the house



T2

OLD AND NEW LONDON.

[Southwark,

so full there was no getting in there, so forced to
go through an ale-house into the pit, where the
bears are baited ; and upon’ a stool did see them
fight, which they did very furiously, a butcher and
a waterman. The former had the better all along,
till by-and-by the latter dropped his sword out of
his hand, and the butcher, whether or not seeing
his sword dropped I know not, but did give him a
cut over the wrist, so as he was disabled to fight
any longer. But Lord! to see in a minute how
the whole stage was full of watermen to revenge
the foul play, and the butchers to defend their
fellow, though most blamed him: and there they
all fell to it, knocking and cutting down many
on each side. It was pleasant to see; but that
I stood in the pit and feared that in the tumult
I might get some hurt. At last the battle broke
up, and so I away.”

Again he writes, under date September gth of
the same year: “To the Bear Garden, where now
the yard was full of people, and those most of them
seamen, striving by force to get in. I got into the
common pit, and there, with my cloak about my
face, 1 stood and saw the prize fought, till one of
them, a shoemaker, was so cut in both his wrists,
that he could not fight any longer; and then they
broke off. His enemy was a butcher. The sport
very good ; and various humours to be seen among
the rabble that is there.”

The inimitable secretary would seem to have
been rather partial to this rough kind of sport, for
we again find him here on the 12th of April, 1660,
as shown by the following entry, under that date
in his “ Diary : "—* By water to the Bear Garden,
and there happened to sit by Sir Fretchville Hollis,
who is still full of his vain-glorious and prophane
talk. Here we saw a prize fought between a
soldier and a country fellow, one Warrel, who
promised the least in his looks, and performed the
most of valour in his boldness and evenness of
mind, and smiles in all he 'did, that ever I saw;
and we were all both deceived and infinitely taken
with him. He did soundly beat the soldier, and
cut him over the head. Thence back to White
Hall, mightily pleased all of us with the sight,
and particularly this fellow, as a niost extraordinary
man for his temper and evenness in fighting.”

John Evelyn went on one occasion to witness
the “sports” at Bankside, but apparently he was
too disgusted to go there again, Here is the
record of his visit, as told in his * Diary ” under date
of 16th of June, 1670 :—“ I went with some friends
to the Bear Garden, where was cock-fighting, dog-
fighting, beare and bull baiting, it being a famous
day for all these butcherly sports, or rather bar-

barous cruelties. The bulls did exceeding well,
but the Irish wolfe-dog exceeded, which was a tall
greyhound, a stately creature indeede, who beate a
cruell mastiff. One of the bulls toss'd a dog full
into a Jady’s lap, as she sat in one of the boxes at a
considerable height from the arena. Two poore
dogs were kill'd, and so all ended with the ape on
horseback, and I most heartily weary of the rude
and dirty pastime.”

Chambers, in his “Book of Days,” quotes a
statement from the learned Erasmus, who visited
England in the reign of Henry VIIL, to the effect
that the royal establishment included a ¢ Master of
the King’s Bears,” and that even the great noble-
men had their bear-wards ; and that “many ¢ herds
of bears’ were regularly trained for the arena.”
He also extracts from Laneham's account of the
festivities at Kenilworth Castle the following pic-
turesque description of a bear-baiting held -on
July 14, 1575, the sixth day of her Majesty’s stay,
when thirteen bears and a number of ban-dogs
(a kind of mastiff) were tied up ready in the inner
court. Laneham quaintly writes, comparing the
baiting to a scene in Westminster Hall :—* The
bears were brought forth into the court, the dogs
set to them, to argue the points, even face to face.
They had learned counsel also of both parts (z.e,
on both sides) . . .. Very fierce, both th’ one
and tother, and eager in argument. If the dog in
pleading would pluck the bear by the throat, the
bear, with traverse, would claw him again by the
scalp; confess an he list but avoid he could not
that was bound to the bar: and his counsel told
him that it could do him no policy in pleading.
Therefore, thus with fending and fearing, with
plucking and tugging, scratching and biting, by
plain tooth and nail to (the one) side and tother,
such expense of blood and of leather was there
between them as a month’s licking, I ween, will
not recover; and yet they remain as far out as
ever they were. It was a sport very pleasant
of these beasts to see the bear with his pink eyes
leering after his enemy’s approach, the nimbleness
and weight of the dog to take his advantage, and
the force and experience of the bear again to avoid
the assault: if he were bitten in one place, he
would pinch in another to get free: if he were
taken once, then what shift with biting, with
clawing, with roaring, tossing, and tumbling, he
would work to wind himself from them, and when
he was loose, to shake his ears twice or thrice, with
the blood and the slaver about his phisnomy (szc)
was a matter of goodly relief.”

Ben Jonson is reproached by Dekker with having
been so degraded as to have performed at Paris
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Garden. These places seem always to have been
in bad repute even when they flourished most.
-Crowley, a versifier of the reign of Henry VIII,
thus speaks of the Paris Garden :—
“What folly is this to keep with danger

A great mastiff dog and foul ugly bear,

And to this anent, to see them two fight

With terrible tearings, a full ugly sight :

And methinks these men are most fools of all

Whose store of money is but very small.

And yet every Sunday they will surely spend

One penny or two, the bearward’s living to mend.

¢¢ At Paris Garden, each Sunday, a man shall not fail
To find two or three hundred for the bearward’s vale :
One half-penny apiece they use for to give,
‘When some have not more in their purses, I believe.
Well, at the last day their consciences will declare
That the poor ought to have all that they may spare.
If you, therefore, go to witness a bear-fight,
Be sure God His curse will upon you light.”

Pennant, who quotes these verses, seems to
consider the last two lines as a prophecy of the
calamity that happened at the Garden in the year
1582. An accident, “heaven-directed,” as he says,
befell the spectators ; the scaffolding, crowded with
people, suddenly fell, and more than a hundred
persons were killed or severely wounded. The
Bear Garden, it may be added, in spite of its name,
would appear to have been chiefly used, during the
latter period of its existence, for bull-baiting.
Randolph, in his “Muse’s Looking-glass,” makes
the following reference to this particular species of

amusement (—
“ Lastly, he wished

The bull might cross the Thames to the Bear Garden,

And there be sorely baited.”

It was to the Globe Theatre and the Bear
Garden probably that Hentzner alludes in his
“Travels in England,” published in the reign of
Elizabeth, when he writes :— Without the city are
some theatres, where actors do represent almost
every day some tragedy or comedy to numerous
audiences: these are concluded with excellent
music, a variety of dances, amid the excessive
applause of those that are present. There is also
another place, built in the form of a theatre, which
serves for the baiting of bulls and of bears; they
are fastened behind, and then worried by great
English bull-dogs, but not without great risque
to the dogs, from the horns of the one, and the
teeth of the other; and it sometimes happens they
are killed on the spot ; fresh ones are immediately
supplied in the places of those that are wounded or
tired. To this entertainment there often follows
that of whipping a blinded bear, which is performed’
by five or six men, standing circularly with whips,
which they exercise upon him without any mercy,

as he cannot escape from them because of his
chain; he defends himself with all his force and
skill, throwing down all who come within his
reach, and are not active enough to get out of it;
on which occasions he frequently tears the whips
out of their hands, and breaks them. At these
spectacles, and everywhere else, the English are
constantly smoking tobacco. In the theatres, fruits,
such as apples, pears, and nuts, according to the
season, are carried about to be sold, as well as ale
and wine.”

The theatres and gardens at Bankside, however,
in spite of their bad reputation, were occasionally
patronised by royalty ; for we read that Queen
Elizabeth, on the 26th of May, 1599, went by
water with the French ambassadors to Paris
Gardens, where they saw a baiting of bulls and
bears. Indeed, Southwark seems to have long
been of sporting notoriety, for, in the Humorous
Lovers, printed in 1617, one of the characters
says, “I’ll set up my bills, that the gamesters of
London, Horsley-down, Southwark, and New-
market may come in and bait him [the bear] here
before the ladies,” &c. It may here be added,
as a scrap of antiquarian information, that the first
exhibition of bear-baiting in England of which we
read, was in the reign of King John, at Ashby-de-la-
Zouch, where *thyss straynge passtyme was intro-
duced by some Italyans for his highness’ amusement,
wherewith he and his court were highly delighted.”

It is clear that the “sport” to be witnessed in
the Bear Garden was still under the patronage and
countenance of royalty some century or so later
than the reign of Elizabeth, for in 1675 we read
of a warrant signed by Lord Arlington, ordering
ten pounds to be paid to Mr. James Davies, the
“master of his Majesty’s bears, bulls, and dogs,”
for “making ready the rooms at the Bear Garden,
and baiting the bears before the Spanish am-
bassadors.”

The celebrated actor, Alleyn—the founder of
Dulwich College, of whom we shall have more to
say anon—enjoyed this lucrative post as ‘““keeper
of the king’s wild beasts, or master of the Royal
Bear Garden, situated on the Bankside in South-
wark.” The profits of this place are said by his
biographer to have been “immense,” sometimes
amounting to 4500 a year; and will account for
the great fortune of which he died possessed. A
little before his death, he sold his share and patent
to his wife’s father, a Mr. Hinchtoe, for £580.

Isaac D’Israeli, in his ¢ Life of Charles I.,” men-
tions the fact that the Sabbatarian view of Sunday
was much advanced in London by the accident
mentioned above which occurred here in 1582 :—
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At Paris Garden, where public amusements were
performed on Sundays, a crowded scaffold gave
way ; and by this accident, some were killed, and
many were wounded.” The Lord Mayor (who

was a leading Puritan) made religious capital out
of the fact by sending a formal notice of it to
Lord Burleigh, as a “judgment of heaven for the
violation of the Sabbath,” thereby confusing the
seventh with the first day of the week.

reasons alleged for this royal grant are stated by
Anderson, in the quaint language of the time, to
have been for “the honest and reasonable recrea-
tion of good and civil people, who for their quality
and ability may lawfully use the games of bowling,
tennis, dice, cards, tables, nine-holes, or any other
game hereafter to be invented.”

The Puritans’ aversion to the sport, however, as
Macaulay remarks, arose not so much from pity for

We find that, in spite of his Puritan education,
King James I. had the good sense to legalise
those rational amusements without which life in a
crowded metropolis would be past endurance. It
is well known that he published the “Book of
Sports,” but it is not equally well known that
in 1620 he issued his royal licence to Clement
Cottrell, the groom-porter of his household, to
license certain houses for bowling-alleys and tennis-
courts, and even for cards and dice. Twenty-four
bowling-alleys were licensed under this authority
in London and Westminster, four more in South-
wark, one in St. Catherine’s, one in Shoreditch, and
two in Lambeth. Within these same limits, fourteen
tennis-courts were allowed, and also forty *taverns
or ordinaries for playing at cards and dice.” The

THE BOROUGH, HIGH STREET, IN I1825.
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the bull or the bear, as from envy at the pleasure
felt by the spectators. Verily, an amiable and
saint-like trait! On the Restoration of Charles I1.,
and the downfall of the Puritan faction, it can
hardly be a matter of surprise to find that the
legislation which had so long been applied to the
suppression of even rational amusements should
have taken a swing in the opposite direction.

It mav be added, that although bear-baiting and
bull-baiting never flourished under our later Stuart
or our earlier Hanoverian sovereigns, it was not
until 1835 that the practice was actually put down
by Act of Parliament, which forbade the keeping
of any house, pit, or other place for baiting or fight-
ing any bull, bear, dog, or other animal. “And
thus,” observes Mr. Chambers, “after an existence
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of at least seven centuries, this ceased to rank
among the amusements of the English people.”

Strype, in his first edition of “ Stow,” published
in 1720, speaking of Bear Alley, on this spot, says,
“Here is a glass-house, and about the middle a
new-built court, well inhabited, called Bear Garden
Square, so called, as being built in the place where
the Bear Garden formerly stood, until removed to
the other side of the water ; which is more con-
venient for the butchers and such like, who are
taken with such rustic sports as the baiting of bears
and bulls.”

In the early part of the last century it would
seem that another Bear Garden at Hockley in-
the-Hole, near Clerkenwell, had superseded this
place of amusement in the public favour, probably
on account of the absence of bridges across the
Thames ; and consequently, when it is suggested in
the Spectator of August 11th, 1711, that those who
go to theatres merely for a laugh had better “seek
their diversion at the Bear Garden,” in all pro-
bability the reference is zof to Bankside.

The name of the Bear Garden, however, still
exists in this neighbourhood, being painted up
at the corner of a court between the Bankside and
Sumner Street.

The old Paris Garden—the name of which, too,
still survives in this locality—was circular, open
to the sky, surrounded with a high wall, without
external windows ; the scaffolds, or boxes, were in
a wooden structure in the interior, surmounted by
a high-pitched roof and a cupola.

The names of these and of many other such
places of amusement bear testimony to the spirit of
national jollity on the part of Londoners during
the eighteenth century. But pleasure-gardens are
almost as transitory as pleasure itself; of all these
not one now remains ‘“the sad historian of the
pensive tale” of bygone mirth and merriment.
The jests have passed away, and so are the trees
beneath which, and the walls within which, those
jests were uttered, and those who pealed back
echoes of the loudest laughter are silent in their
graves.

In the neighbourhood of the theatres were
several public gardens near the Thames, then a
pellucid and beautiful stream. There were the
Queen’s Pike Gardens (now Pye Gardens), where
pike were bred in ponds; the Asparagus Garden,
and Pimlico Garden. The last-named was a very
fashionable resort, and famous for the handsome
dresses of the promenaders. Indeed, to ‘‘walk
in Pimlico ” was"a proverbial phrase for an intro-
duction to the very &t of society.

In Chambers’ “Book of Days” is given a view

i

of London during the Great Fire in 1666, as seen:
from the rear of Bankside, from a print of the period
by Visscher. The foreground is poetically raised,
so as to represent a fairly high hill, though there
is no high ground all the way down to Clapham ;
on it are sitting well-dressed citizens coolly survey-
ing the disaster, while their dogs are lying asleep
by their side. Evelyn writes in his “Diary:”—
“2 Sept. This fatal night, about ten, began that
deplorable fire neere Fish Streete in London.—3.
I had public prayers at home. The fire continuing,
after dinner I took coach with my wife and sonn,
and went to the Bankside in Southwark, where we
beheld the dismal spectacle, the whole Citty in
dreadfull flames neare the water side ; all the houses
from the Bridge, all Thames Street, and upwards
towards Cheapside, downe to the Three Cranes,
were now consum’d. The poore in-
habitants were dispers'd about St. George’s Fields,
and Moorefields as far as Highgate, and severall
miles in circle, some under tents, some under
miserable hutts and hovells, many without a rag or
any necessary utensils, bed or board, who from
delicatenesse, riches, and easy accommodations in
stately and well furnish’d houses, were now reduced
to extreamest misery and poverty.”

Chambers tells us, in his work above quoted,
that there was an ale-house in Southwark, which
had on its walls an authentic portrait of Dick
Tarleton, the eccentric comic actor of Elizabeth’s:
time. No doubt this “ale-house” was in the
neighbourhood of Bankside; but though Dick’s.
name was kept up by tradition for upwards of
a century, and though his jests were collected
and published, with notes and illustrations, by
the Shakespeare Society, it is.impossible now to
identify the house in which many of Shakespeare’s:
players no doubt used to congregate.

Another old tavern, formerly standing in the
neighbourhood, bore the sign of ¢ The Tumble-
down Dick,” which afforded, as the ¢ Adventurer”
says, a fine moral on the instability of human
greatness, and the consequences of ambition. It
refers, of course, to Richard Cromwell, and his
fall from the power bequeathed to him by his
father Oliver. An allusion to this tumbling pro-
pensity occurs in Butler's “ Remains,” in the tale.
of the “Cobbler and the Vicar of Bray:”—

¢ What’s worse, old Noll is marching off ;
And Dick, his heir apparent,
Succeeds him in the Government,
A very lame Vice-Gerent.
He'll reign but little time, poor tool!
But sink beneath the state,

That will not fail to ride the fool
’Bove common horseman’s weight.”
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Of several of the old inns and taverns of South-
wark we shall have occasion to speak when dealing
with the High Street; but we may remark here
that those in Bankside, and along by the river
generally, had a peculiar characteristic of their
own, which has been well described by Charles
Dickens in ¢ Qur Mutual Friend ” and some other
of his works. George Augustus Sala, too, in his

“Gaslight and Daylight,” tells us, with a certain
amount of drollery, how that ‘the Surrey shore
of the Thames, at London, is dotted with damp
houses of entertainment ;” and then he goes on to
describe the typical waterside public-house, the
“Tom Tug’s Head,” as *surrounded on three
sides by mud, and standing on rotten piles of
timber, and with its front always unwashed.”

) CHAPTER VI
SOUTHWARK (continued)—HIGH STREET, &c.

‘“ Brevis est via.”—Virgil, *“Eclogues.”

The Southwark Entrance to London Bridge—The Town Hall—Southwark Fair—Union Hall—Dr. Elliotson—Mint Street=Suffolk House—
Lant Street—Charles Dickens's Home when a Boy—The Mint—Great Suffolk Street—The ‘ Moon-rakers”—The Last Barber-surgeon—
Winchester Hall—Finch’s Grotto Gardens—The Old Workhouse of Southwark—King’s Bench Prison—Major Hanger, Dr. Syntax, Haydon,
and George Moreland, Inmates of the King's Bench—The ‘‘Marshal” of the King’s Bench—Alsager’s Bleaching-ground—Blackman
Street—Sir James South—Eliza Cook—Kent Street—A Disreputable Neighbourhood—The Lock Hospital—A Hard-working Philanthropist
~St. George’s Church—The Burial-place of Bishop Bonner—Marriage of General Monk and Nan Clarges—The Marshalsea—Anecdotes of
Bishop Bonner—Colonel Culpeper—Dickens’s Reminiscences of the Marshalsea—The Sign of “The Hand ”—Commercial Aspect of
Southwark—Sanitary Condition of Southwark—Appearance of Southwark in the Seventeenth Century.

TrE Borough, High Street, as we have already
shown, serving for many centuries as the entrance
into London from Surrey and Kent, and, indeed,
flfom the Continent, has always been a very im-
portant thoroughfare of the metropolis; but, as a
pleasant, gossiping writer of modern times, Mr.
Miller, has truthfully observed in his “ Picturesque
Sketches”—“What a different feature does the
Southwark entrance to London Bridge present to
what it did only a few brief years ago! Every
few minutes omnibuses are now thundering to
and from the railway terminus; while passengers
think no more of journeying to Brighton and
back, and remaining eight or ten hours there,
on a long summer’s day, than they formerly did of
travelling to Greenwich ; for it took the old, slow
stage-wagons as long to traverse the five miles to
the latter as our iron-footed steed to drag the five
aundred passengers at his heels, and land them
within sight of the wide, refreshing sea.”

Starting from St. Saviour’s Church, and passing
under the railway bridge which spans the road,
we now make our way southward. The alterations
made in the High Street, when Southwark Street
was planned and formed, involved the demolition
of the Town Hall. This building stood at the
angle formed by the High Street and Compter

Street, and dated its erection from the close of |

the last century, when it was built in place of an
older edifice, which had become ruinous. The
old Town Hall, in its turn, too, occupied the
place of a still older hall, having been rebuilt in

the reign of Charles II. After the union of the
parish of St. Margaret-at-Hill with that of St
Saviour’s, the old church of the former parish was
desecrated, being used partly as a prison, and
partly as a court of justice. The building was
destroyed in the fire of 1676. A statue of the
king was placed in front of the building by which
it was succeeded ; and on the base of the pediment
was an inscription notifying the “re-edification,”
with the date 1686. On one side of the statue
were the arms of London ; and on the other, those
of Southwark. On the occasion of the rebuilding
of the hall in 1793, the statue of the king, instead
of being replaced in its original situation, was sold,
and set up in a neighbouring court called Three
Crown Court, upon a pedestal of brickwork, the
inside of which, strange to say, was made to serve
as a watch-box for a “Charley.” At the same
time, a figure of Justice, which had formerly, in
conjunction with one-of Wisdom, supported the
Lord Mayor’s seat in the Town Hall, was placed
near the bar of a neighbouring coffee-house. On
this event, the following jex d’esprit is preserved in
Concanen and Morgan’s “ History of the Parish of
St. Mary Overy :"— v
¢¢ Justice and Charles have left the hill,
The City claimed their place ;
Justice resides at Dick West’s still ;
But mark poor Charles’s case :
Justice, safe from wind and weather,
Keeps the tavern score ;

But Charley, turned out altogether,
Keeps the watch-house door.”
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After remaining for some time in Three Crown
Court, the poor unfortunate monarch, we believe,
found a resting-place in the shady nook of a garden
in the New Kent Road. The prison, or compter,
as it was called, was removed to Mill Lane, Tooley
Street, but has since been demolished.

The new Town Hall was a very plain and un-
pretending structure. It consisted of a rusticated
basement, from which rose four Ionic pilasters.
The windows were arched, and the interior was
fitted up as a police-office. The police-court was
eventually removed further southward, to Blackman
Street. In front of the Town Hall, facing Black-
man Street, the hustings for the election of repre-
sentatives for the borough were usually erected.

The Town Hall has been occasionally used for
criminal trials. Thus we read that on the 23rd of
June, 1746, eight of the judges went in procession
from Serjeants’ Inn to the Town Hall on St. Mar-
garet’s Hill, and opened the special commission
for the trial of the prisoners concerned in the
rebellion in Scotland. Those prisoners who were
found guilty and received sentence of death were
soon afterwards hung, drawn, and quartered on
Kennington Common. Between their trial and
execution the prisoners were confined in the new
gaol, Southwark.

On St. Margaret’s Hill, in the immediate neigh-
bourhood of the Town Hall, Southwark Fair was
formerly held. This fair, afterwards so famous,
was established by virtue of a charter from King
Edward VI., dated 1550. The charter cost the
good citizens of London nearly £650—a large
sum at that period—and the fair itself was to
be held on the 7th, 8th, and gth of September. It
was one of the three great fairs of special impor-
tance, described in a proclamation of Charles I.,
‘“unto which there is usually extraordinary resort
out of all parts of the kingdom.” The fairs here
referred to, according to Rymer, were ¢ Bartho-
lomew Fair, in Smithfield ; Sturbridge Fair, in Cam-
bridge; and Our Lady Fair, in the borough of
Southwark.” It was opened in great state by the
Lord Mayor and Sheriffs, who rode over London
Bridge, and so on to Newington, thence back
to the Bridge House, where, of course, was a
banquet. “The ‘hood-bearer’ on this occasion,”
writes John Timbs, “wore a fine embroidered cap,
said to have been presented to the City by a
monastery in 1473.”

Allusions to the fair are frequent enough in the
old writers ; but it is most familiar to us through
Hogarth’s picture of “Southwark Fair.” In his
time the fair lasted fourteen days, and extended
from St. Margaret’'s Hill, the spot where it was

originally held (near the Town Hall), to the Mint ;
and of course the visitors comprised a considerable
portion of the inhabitants of that favoured locality.
In Hogarth’s plate—a copy of which we repro-
duce on page 55—we see Figg, the prize-fighter,

"I with plastered head, riding on a miserable nag;

Cadman, a celebrated rope-dancer, is represented
flying by a rope from the tower of St. George’s
Church to that part of the Mint which lies in the
rear of the houses opposite. The portrait of
another famous rope-dancer, Violante, is introduced
by Hogarth. From the steeple of the church
of St. Martin’s-in-the-Fields, soon after its com-
pletion, this slack-rope performer descended, head
foremost, on a rope stretched across St. Martin’s
Lane to the Royal Mews, in the presence of the
princesses and a host of noble personages. Besides
these characters, Hogarth shows us a beautiful
woman beating a drum, attended by a black boy
with a trumpet; a booth tumbling down, and the
name of the piece to be performed, the FaZl of
Bagdad, is inscribed on the tottering paper lantern.
Tamerlane, in full armour, is being taken into
custody by a bum-bailiff; and in the background
are shows with enormous placards announcing the
Royal Wax-work, the horse of Troy, and the won-
derful performances of Bankes and his horse. If
the company frequenting the fair was of a strange
sort, the entertainments offered appear to have
been of a suitable character. From old advertise-
ments of the fair, of dates between 1730 and 1740,
we learn that at Lee and Harper’s great booth
was performed a thrilling tragedy called Bateman,
or the Unhappy Marriage; but, lest the audience
should be too much affected, it was lightened by
the Comical Humours of Sparrow, Pumpkin, and
Sheer going to the Wars. There appears to have
been as great a taste for burlesque as that which
now exists ; but the subjects were curiously chosen.
We have the rudiments of a modern pantomime
in The Fall of Phaéton, interspersed with comic
scenes between Punch, Harlequin, Scaramouch,
Pierrot and Columbine, “which,” we are told, “the
town has lately been in expectation to see per-
formed.” The performers, it should be remembered,
were not wretched show-folk, but the regular actors
of the large theatres, who regularly established
booths at Bartholomew’s and Southwark Fairs, in
which the most charming actresses and accom-
plished actors thought it no disgrace to appear in
the miserable trash mentioned above. In the
biography of ¢ Jo Miller,” we read that the sound
of Smithfield revelry had but just died away, to be
caught up, as if in echo, by Southwark, when the
Daily Post, having shed a tearful paragraph upon
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the opening sepulchre of ‘“ Matt Prior,” proceedeth
to tell how that “Mr. Doggett, the famous player,
is likewise dead, having made a standing provision
annually for a coat and badge, to be rowed for
by six watermen on the 1st of August, being
the day of His Majesty’s happy accession to the
Throne.” This was on the 23rd of September,
1721. Two days afterwards we read, “ Yesterday
the remains of Mr. Dogget were interred at Eltham,
in Kent.” So far the humble player—now for the
«courtier poet. “The same evening the remains of
Matthew Prior, Esquire, were carried to the Jeru-
:salem Chamber, and splendidly interred in West-
minster Abbey.” When “Jo” received the news
of Doggett’s death, we have not the smallest doubt
:that he was too much overcome to go on with
the part he was playing at Southwark Fair; and
having that day divided the profits of the Smithfield
-speculation with Pinkey and Jubilee Dickey, he
:assiduously mourned his departed master at the
“ Angel Tavern,” which then stood next door to
the King’s Bench.

Besides the theatrical entertainments, Faux’s
sleight of hand and the mechanical tricks and
dexterity of Dr. Pinchbeck were for many years
favourite adjuncts of Southwark Fair.

John Evelyn in his “ Diary,” under date 13th
September, 1660, says, “I saw in Southwark, at
St. Margaret’s Faire, monkies and asses dance and
do other feates of activity on ye tight rope; they
were gallantly clad @ /& mede, went upright, saluted
the company, bowing and pulling off their hatts;
they saluted one another with as good a grace as
if instructed by a dancing-master. They turned
heels over head with a basket having eggs in it,
without breaking any ; also with lighted candles
in their hands and on their heads, without extin-
guishing them, and with vessells of water, without
spilling a drop. I also saw an Italian wench
daunce and performe all the tricks on y* tight rope
to admiration ; all the Court went to see her.
Likewise here was a man who tooke up a piece
of iron cannon of about 400 lb. weight, with the
haire of his head onely.”

From Pepys’s own quaint and amusing descrip-
tion, too, we glean some further particulars of the
entertainments provided here. On the 21st of Sep-
tember, 1668, he writes : “To Southwark Fair, very
dirty, and there saw the puppet-show of Whittington,
which is pretty to see; and how that idle thing do
work upon people that see it, and even myself
too! And thence to Jacob Hall’s dancing on the
ropes, where I saw such action as I never saw
before, and mightily worth seeing; and here took
acquaintance with a fellow who carried me to a

tavern, whither came the music of this booth, and
by-and-by Jacob Hall himself, with whom I had
a mind to speak, whether he ever had any mischief
by falls in his time. He told me, ‘Yes, many,
but never to the breaking of a limb.’ He seems a
mighty strong man. So giving them a bottle or
two of wine, I away.”

In the reign of George II. the fairs of London
were in the zenith of their fame. Mr. Frost ob-
serves in his “Old Showmen :”—‘ During the
second quarter of the eighteenth century they were
resorted to by all classes of the people, even by
royalty ; and the theatrical booths which formed
part of them boasted of the best talent in the
profession. Not only were they regarded as the
nurseries of histrionic ability, as the provincial
theatres came afterwards to be regarded ; but they
witnessed the efforts to please of the best actors
of the London theatres when in the noon of their
success and popularity. Cibber, Quin, Macklin,
Woodward, Shuter, did not disdain to appear before
a Bartholomew Fair audience, nor Fielding to
furnish them with the early gushings of his humour,
The inimitable Hogarth made the light of his
peculiar genius shine upon them, and the memories
of the ¢Old Showman’ are preserved in more than
one of his pictures.” Southwark Fair was not
finally suppressed till 1763. The booth-keepers
used to collect money for the relief of the prisoners
in the Marshalsea hard by.

In the registers of the parish of St. Margaret’s
occurs the following curious entry, under date
1451-2 : “Rec* in dawnsing [dancing] money of
the Maydens, iiis. viij.” To what this may refer,
whether to any religious ceremony or public pro-
cession, it is at this distant period difficult to tell.

At the east end of Union Street, close by St
Margaret’s Hill, formerly stood Union Hall. On
the opening of this street to the Borough by taking
down the “Greyhound Inn,” in 1781, Union Hall
was built by subscription, for the use of the magis-
trates, previous to which time they sat at the “Swan
Inn,” which was afterwards converted into a private
house. On the passing of the Police Act in 1830
Union Hall was made one of the Metropolitan
police offices. On the destruction of the old Town
Hall, as above mentioned, the sessions for the
county were held there, though it was not adequate
to the business till the county gaol and a sessions
house were built nearer to Newington Butts.

At No. 104 in the High Street was born Dr.
Elliotson, F.R.S., the celebrated physician. He
was the son of a chemist and druggist, whose house
bore the sign of the “ Golden Key,” of which a
token exists. Dr. Elliotson was a devoted student
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of mesmerism and mesmeric influences, upon which
he wrote largely. Thackeray, it may be added,
was taken ill when writing “Pendennis,” and was
saved from death by Dr. Elliotson, to whom, in
gratitude, he dedicated the novel when he lived to
finish it. Dr. Elliotson died in 1868.

Mint Street, opposite St. George’s Church, keeps
in remembrance a mint for the coinage of money,
which was established here by Henry VIIL at
Suffolk House, the residence of his brother-in-law,

Edward VL, in the second year of his reign, cams
from Hampton Court and dined at this house,
where he knighted John Yorke, one of the Sheriffs
of London. He afterwards returned through the
City to Westminster. Queen Mary gave the man-

sion to Nicholas Heath, Archbishop of York, “ and
to his successors for ever, to be their inn or lodging
for their repair to London,” as a recompense for
York House, Westminster, which was taken from
Wolsey and the see of York by her royal father.

2.

= e
A

Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk. The mansion
was a large and stately edifice, fronting upon the
High Street. It was ornamented with turrets and
cnpolas, and enriched with carved work ; at the
back, the range of outbuildings formed an enclosed
court. The house was sometimes called the
“Duke’s Palace,” as well as Suffolk House ; and it
is likewise mentioned as ‘‘ Brandonne’s Place, in
Southwarke,” in Sir John Howard’s expenses, under
the year 1465. It was exchanged by the Duke
of Suffolk with Henry VIIL., the king giving him
in return the house of the Bishop of Norwich in
St. Martin’s-in-the-Fields. On this exchange the
mansion took the name of Southwark Place, and a
mint was established here for the king’s use.

THE MINT, SOUTHWARK,

IN 1825,

Archbishop Heath sold the premises, which
were partly pulled‘down, many small cottages being
built on the site. Some portion of the house which
was left became the residence of Edward Brom-
field, who was Lord Mayor in 1637. He was
owner of the premises in 1650. His son John was
created a baronet in 1661, and in 1679 he was
described as “of Suffolk Place, Bart.,” in the
marriage settlement with Joyce, only child of
Thomas Lant, son and heir of William Lant, a
merchant of London. This estate devolving to the
Lant family, we find that in the reign of Queen
Anne an Act was passed for the improvement of
Suffolk Place, empowering Thomas Lant to let
leases for fifty-one years. In 1773 it was advertised
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to be let as seventeen acres, on which were 4o00
houses, with a rental of £1,000 per annum. The
entire estate was sold early in the present century,
in ninety-eight lots, the rental of the estate having
been just doubled. The family of Lant are still
kept in remembrance by Lant Street, which runs
from Blackman Street parallel with Mint Street.

A back attic at the house of an Insolvent-

court agent” belonging to the Marshalsea, in Lant |

| late Duke of Suffolk, in the reign of Henry VIIIL,,
coming into the king’s hands, was called Southwork
(sic) Place, and a mint of coinage was there kept
for the king. The inhabitants of late—like those
of the White Fryars, Savoy, &c.—have assumed to
themselves a protection from arrests for debts,
against whom a severe though just statute was
made in the 8 and g William and Mary, whereby
any person having moneys owing from any in these

THE KING’S BENCH,

Street, was one of the temporary homes of Charles
Dickens when a boy ; it was the same in which he
described Mr. Bob Sawyer as living many years
afterwards. “A bed and bedding,” he writes,
“were sent over for me and ,made up on the floor.
The littie window had a pleasant prospect of a
timber-yard ; and when I took possession of my
new abode, I thought it was, a Paradise.” The
various members of the family of the Insolvent-
Court Agent are immortalised as the ¢ Garlands”
in the “Old Curiosity Shop.”

The Mint is thus curiously described in the
“New View of London,” published in 1708 :—
“It is on the west side of Blackman Street, near
against St. George’s Church, and was so called for
that a sumptuous house, built by Charles Brandon,

246

SOUTHWARK, IN 1830.

pretended privileged places, may, upon a legal pro-

cess taken out, require the Sheriffs of London and
| Middlesex, the head Bailiff of the Dutchy Liberty,
or the High Sheriff of Surrey, or Bailiff of South-
work, or their deputies, to take out a posse comi-
tatus, and arrest such persons, or take their goods
upon execution.” And then follows a long list of
penalties, including the pillory, to which all persons
resisting their authority are exposed. It is added,
“Yet potwithstanding this place pretends ‘as much
to Privilege as before, though this Act has supprest
all other (such-like) places. And these streets are
reckoned within the compass of this Mint—viz.,
Mint Street, Crooked Lane, and Bell’s Rents ; also
Canhon Street, Suffolk Street, St. George Street,
( Queen Street, King Street, Peter Street, Harrow
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Alley, Anchor Alley, and Duke Street, all in the
parish cf St. George’s, Southwork.” The Mint, as
the district was called, consisted, therefore, of several
streets, whose inhabitants claimed the privilege of
protection from arrest for debt—a privilege which,
says the “Ambulator ” (1774), “has since been sup-
pressed by the legislature, who have lately passed
an Act for establishing a Court of Conscience here
for the better recovery of small debts.”

The place had become a refuge for the worst
characters—in fact, another Alsatia, into which
few bailiffs or officers of justice dared to venture.
Felons and outlaws, debtors and vagabonds, herded
there ; and to this day it is one of the plague-spots
of the metropolis. Marriages, not @ Zz mode, like
those of Mayfair and the Fleet, were performed
here constantly, and lnrrhwaymen and burglars
found a secure retreat in its mazy courts. Mat o’
the Mint is one of Macheath’s companions, and
Jonathan Wild was a frequent visitor. To poor
authors it was a more secure Grub Street; but
though duns could not enter, starvation and death
could. Here, in 1716, died Nahum Tate, once
poet laureate, and, in conjunction with Brady, the
author of that metrical version of the Psalms which
superseded Sternhold and Hopkins's psalmody in
prayer-books. Allusion is often made to the pre-
cincts of the Mint by the poets and comic writers.
The reader of Pope’s satires will not forget the
lines—

‘¢ No place i3 sacred, not the church is free,
E’en Sunday shines no ¢ Sabbath Day’ to me ;

Then from the Mint walks forth the man of rhyme,
Happy to catch me just at dinner-time.”

Nathaniel Lee, the dramatist, lived often in the
Mint; he had frequent attacks of insanity, and at
one period of his life spent four years in Bedlam.
He wrote eleven plays, and possessed genius (as
Addison admitted) well adapted for tragedy, though
clouded by occasional rant, obscurity, and bombast.
Latterly, this ill-starred poet depended for subsis-
tence on a small weekly allowance from the theatre,
He died in 1691 or 1692. Pope often alludes to
the Mint with scorn, and he makes mention of
Lee’s existence here in the following couplet :—

¢* In durance, exile, Bedlam, or the Mint,
Like Lee or Budgell, I will thyme and print.”

There are numerous allusions in old gossiping
books and pamphlets of the seventeenth century to
the customs of the Mint, the vagabond population
of which maintained their privileges with a high
hand. If a bailiff ventured to cross the boundary
of the sanctuary, he was seized and searched for
proofs of his calling ; then, when the perilous docu-
ments were found, dravced by the mob from pump

to pump, and thoroughly soused. A ducking in
one of the open sewer ditches followed, and then
he was made to swear, kissing a brickbat debaubed
with filth from the c/oaca, that he would never again
attempt to serve a process in the Mint. The next
step was the payment of certain fees for the pur-
chase of gin. If he had no money in his pockets,
he was handed over to the tender mercy of the
women and boys, who gave him a few more duck-
ings and shampooings with filthy brickbats, and
then kicked him out of the precincts.

An attempt was made to curtail the privilege of
protection afforded by the Mint in the reign of
William IIIL, but it was not finally suppressed till
the Georgian era.

Thomas Miller, in his “Picturesque Sketches of
London,” published in 1852, gives the following
description of the old Mint, which he had written
seven years previously, after visiting the remains of
this dilapidated neighbourhood :—¢ Stretching from
St. George’s Church, in the Borough, into the high
road which leads to the cast-iron bridge of South-
wark, are no end of narrow courts, winding alleys,
and ruined houses, which a bold-hearted man would
hesitate to thread after dusk. Here stand numbers
of houses which are unroofed and uninhabited.
Years ago they were doomed to be pulled down,
and it was resolved that a wide open street should
be built upon the space they now occupy. Years
may still roll on before they are removed. There
is no place like this in the suburbs of London, no
spot that looks so murderous, so melancholy, and
so miserable. Many of these houses, besides being
old, are very large and lofty. Many of these courts
stand just as they did when Cromwell sent out his
spies to hunt up and slay the Cavaliers, just as
they again were hunted in return, after the Restora-
tion, by the Royalists, who threaded their intricacies,
with sword and pistol in hand, in search of the
fallen Roundheads. There is a smell of past ages
about these ancient courts, like that which arises
from decay—a murky closeness—as if the old winds
which blew through them in the time of the Civil
Wars had become stagnant, and all old things had
fallen and died just as they were blown together,
and left to perish. So it is now. The timber of
these old houses looks bleached and dead ; and
the very brickwork seems never to have been new.
In them you find wide, hollow-sounding, decayed
staircases, that lead into great ruinous rooms, whose
echoes are only awakened by the shrieking and
running of large black-eyed rats, which eat through
the solid floors, through the wainscot, and live and
die without being startled by a human voice. From
the Southwark Bridge Road you may see the roofs
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of many of these great desolate houses; they are
broken and open ; and the massy oaken rafters are
exposed to the summer sun and the snow of winter,
Some of the lower floors are still inhabited ; and at
the ends of these courts you will see standing, on
a fine day, such characters as you will meet with
nowhere besides in the neighbourhood of London,
Their very dress is peculiar ; and they frequent the
dark and hidden public-houses which abound in
these close alleys—placed where the gas is burning
all day long. Excepting the courts behind Long
Lane, in Smithfield, we know no spot about London
like this, which yet fronts St. George’s Church, in
the Borough.”

“The Mint,” says Charles Knight, in his “ Lon-
don,” ““was the scene of ‘the life, character, and
behaviour’ of Jack Sheppard; and within the
same precincts, at the ‘Duke’s Head,’ still stand-
ing in Redcross Street, his companion in villainy,
Jonathan Wild, kept his horses. The Mint and
its vicinity has been an asylum for debtors, coiners,
and vagabonds of every kind, ever since the middle
of the sixteenth century. It is districts like these
which will always furnish the population of the
pnsons, in spite of the best attempts to reform and
improve offenders by a wise, beneficent, and en-
lightened system of discipline, until moral efforts
of a similar nature be directed to the fountain-
head of corruption. There are districts in London
whose vicious population, if changed to-day for
one of a higher and ore moral class, would
inevitably be deteriorated by the physical agencies
by which they would be surrounded, and the
following generation might rival the inhabitants of
Kent Street or the Mint.”

The Mint is awfully memorable in modern
annals ; for amid the squalor of its narrow streets
appeared, in 1832, the first case of Asiatic cholera
in the metropolis. Again, Thomas Miller, in his
work above quoted, refers to this miserable locality
when he says, “The. ‘Land of Death,” in which
we dwelt, was Newington, hemmed in by Lambeth,
Southwark, Walworth, Bermondsey, and other
"gloomy parishes, through which the pestilence*
stalked like a destroying angel in the deep shadows
of the night and the open noon of day.”

In the autobiographical reminiscences of his
childhood, which are embodied in his ‘Life,”
by Mr. John Forster, Charles Dickens describes
the quaint old streets of ‘“low-browed” shops
which lay between Rowland Hill's chapel in the
Blackfriars Road, and his humble lodgings in Lant
Street, mentioned above, along which he had to

* The cholera, during the visitation of 1849,

-

pass night by night, in returning from his drudgery
at Hungerford Stairs. He tells us of the boot-lace
and hat and cap shops which he patronised, and
of another shop conspicuous for its sign of “a

-golden dog licking a golden pot,” over the door,

and which may still be seen at the corner of Char-
lotte Street, Blackfriars Road. He tells us also
how on Saturday nights he would be seduced into
the inside of show-vans containing the “Fat Pig,”
the ¢ Wild Indian,” and the ¢ Little Dwarf Lady,”
in this immediate neighbourhood.

In the early part of the year 1877, steps were
taken by the Metropolitan Board of Works with
the view of levelling with the ground a large part
of the disreputable néighbourhood now under
notice. The areas comprised Mint Street, King
Street, and Elizabeth Place. Mint Street area in-
cluded the wretched street of that name, associated
with robberies, and crimes of all sorts, which leads
from the Borough to Southwark Bridge Road ; and
it was further proposed to widen the new street and
Harrow Street to a minimum width of thirty feet,
and to extend Little Lant Street of the same width
into Mint Street, at a cost of over £15,000.

Great Suffolk Street, nearer * Stones’ End,” is
named from Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk,
who, as stated above, lived here, in Suffolk House.
This street was formerly known by the name of
“Dirty Lane,” an appellation which it very well
deserved. The “ Moon-rakers” is the sign of a
public-house in this street, where it has stood for
upwards of half a century. ¢ The original of this,”
says Mr. Larwood, in his “ History of Sign-boards,”
“may have been one of the stories of the ‘Wise Men
of Gotham.” A party of them going out one bright
night, saw the reflection of the moou in the water ;
and, after due deliberation, decided that it was a
green cheese, and so raked for it. Another version
is, that some Gothamites, passing in the night over
a bridge, saw from the parapet the moon's reflec-
tion in the river below, and took it for a green
cheese. They held a consultation as to the best
means of securing it, when it was resolved that
one should hold fast to the parapet whilst tlie
others hung from him hand-in-hand, so as to form
a chain to the water below, the last man to seize
the prize. When they were all in this position,
the uppermost, feeling the load heavy, and his
hold giving away, called out, ‘Hallo ! you below,
hold tight while I take off my hand to spit on it!’
The wise men below replied, ‘All right!’ upon
which he let go his hold, and they all dropped into
the water, and were drowned.”

In this street lived the last barber who let blood
and drew teeth in London, the last of the barber-
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surgeons ; he died there about 1821, as Mr. Cun-
ningham was told by an old and intelligent hair-
dresser in the Strand ; “To which,” adds Mr. John
Timbs, in his “ Autobiography,” “I may add my
remembrance of his shop-window, with its heap of
drawn teeth, and the barber’s pole at the door.
His name was Middleditch, and, renovare dolorem,
I have a vivid recollection of his dentistry.”

At the comer of Great Suffolk Street and South-
wark Bridge Road stands Winchester Hall. This
is neither more nor less than a concert-room, of
the ordinary music-hall type, and is attached to a
public-house which originally bore the sign of ““The
Grapes.” Close by this spot, in former times, were
some well-known pleasure-grounds. They bore the
name of Finch’s Grotto Gardens, and were situated
on the west side of Southwark Bridge Road. They
were first opened as a place of public resort about
the first year of the reign of George III. Here
Suett and Nan Cuttley acted and sang, if we may
trust the statement of John Timbs, who adds that
the old Grotto House was burnt down in 1796, but
soon afterwards rebuilt, a stone being inserted in
its wall with the following inscription :—

¢ Here herbs did grow
And flowers sweet ;

But now ’tis called
St. George’s Street.”

“Within my remembrance,” writes Mr. John
Reynolds in his agreeable work, “ Records of My
Life,” “there was a place called Finch’s Grotto
Gardens, a sort of minor Vauxhall, situated near
the King’s Bench Prison. There was a grotto in
the middle of the garden, and an orchestra and
rotunda. The price of admission was sixpence,
and the place was much frequented by the humbler
classes.” He goes on to say, as a proof of the
estimate in which the place was held, that “ Tommy
Lowe, after having once been proprietor of Mary-
lebone Gardens, and having kept his carriage, ¢was
absolutely reduced to the necessity of accepting an
engagement at these Grotto Gardens.”

Finch’s Grotto Gardens, doubtless, was one of
those suburban tea-gardens which were at one time
pretty plentiful in the outskirts of London. The
Prussian writer, D’Archenholz, in his account of
England, published towards the close of the last
century, is represented by Chambers as observing
that, “ The English take a great delight in the public
gardens near the metropolis, where they assemble
and take tea together in the open air. ‘The number
of these in the neighbourhood of the capital is
amazing, and the order, regularity, neatness, and
even elegance of them are truly admirable. They
cre, however,” he adds, “very rarely frequented by

people of fashion ; but the middle and lower ranks
go there often, and seem much delighted with the
music of an organ which is usually played in an
adjoining building.”

A large building, occupying three sides. of a
quadrangle, adjoining Finch’s Grotto Gardens, was
at one time the workhouse of St. Saviour’s parish.
It was built at an expense of about £ 5,000, and
was "opened in 1777. Under the new Poor Law
Act, the parish of St. Saviour’s forms a union with
that of Christchurch; St. Saviour’s is the larger
parish of the two.

At the south-west corner of Blackman Street,
and at the entrance to the Borough Road, stands
the large building, surrounded by a high brick
wall, formerly known as the King’s (or Queen’s)
Bench Prison. The original King’s Bench Prison
stood on the east side of the High Street, near
the Marshalsea, and was certainly as old as the
time of Richard IL. Thither Prince Hal (after-
wards Henry V.) was sent by Judge Gascoigne
for endeavouring “w rescue a convicted prisoner,
one of his personal attendants—that is, if we may
believe the genial old gossiper, Stow—but some
historians have repudiated the story altogether.
It is, however, mentioned by Hall, Grafton, and
Sir Thomas Elyot, a favourite of Henry VIIIL,in
his book called * The Governour.”

In a play called Henry V., written in the time of
Elizabeth, before 1592, in the scene in which the
historical account of the violence of the prince
against the chief justice is introduced, Richard
Tarlton, a famous comedian and mimic, acts both
judge and clown. One Knell, another droll come-
dian of the time, acted the prince, and gave the
chief justice such a blow as felled him to the
ground, to the great diversion of the audience.
Tarlton, the judge, goes off the stage, and returns
as Tarlton, the clown: he demands the cause of
the laughter. “ Oh,” says one, “hadst thou been
here to have seen what a terrible blow the prince
gave the judge.” ‘What! strike a judge!” says
the clown: “terrible indeed must it be to the
judge, when the very report of it makes my cheek
burn.”

Readers of the “Uncommercial Traveller” of
Charles Dickens will not forget the glimpse that
we catch from him of the interior of the old King’s
Bench Prison, and of its many inmates suffering
and dying of the “dry-rot.” The prison was re-
moved to the present situation towards the close
of the last century. Wilkes was confined here in
1768, and the mob endeavoured to rescue him.
A riot ensued, the military were called out, and
fired on the people in St. George’s Fields, which
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at that time extended as far as this spot. A
spectator, William Allen, was killed, and the jury
returned a verdict of “wilful murder” against the
soldier who fired the shot. The soldier was a
Scotchman, a countryman of “Jack Boot,” and in
those days that was enough to condemn him. The
tomb of Allen might be seen in the old church at
Newington Butts. The King’s Bench Prison was

burnt down by Lord George Gordon’s rioters in

1780. It was, however, speedily rebuilt, and is
thus described by Mr. Allen, in his “ History of
Surrey,” 1829 :—* The prison occupies an exten-
sive area of ground ; it consists of one large pile
of building, about 120 yards long. The south, or
principal front, has a pediment, under which is a
chapel. There are four pumps of spring and river
water. Here are 224 rooms, or apartments, eight
of which are called state-rooms, which are much
larger than the others. Within the walls are a
coffee-house and two public-houses; and the shops
and stalls for meat, vegetables, and necessaries of
almost every description, give the place the appear-
ance of a public market; while the numbers of
people walking about, or engaged in various
amusements, are little calculated to impress the
stranger with an idea of distress, or even of con-
finement. The walls surrounding the prison are
abont thirty feet high, and are surmounted by
cheveaux de frise; but the liberties, or ‘rules,’ as
they are called, comprehend all St. George’s Fields,
one side of Blackman Street, and part of the
Borough High Street, forming an area of about
three miles in circumference. These rules are
usually purchasable after the following rate, by the
prisoners : five guineas for small debts; -eight
guineas for the first hundred pounds of debt, and
about half that sum for every subsequent hundred
pounds. Day-rules, of which three may be ob-
tained in every term, may also be purchased for
4s. 2d. for the first day, and 3s. rod. for the others.
Every description of purchasers must give good
security to the governor, or, as he is called,
marshal. Those who buy the first-mentioned may
take up their residence anywhere within the pre-
cincts described ; but the day-rules only authorised
the prisoner to go out on those days for which they
are bought. These privileges,” adds the writer,
“render the King’s Bench the most desirable (if
such a word may be thus applied) place of incar-
ceration for debtors in England; hence persons
so situated frequently remove themselves to it by
habeas corpus from the most distant prisons in the
kingdom.” A strict attention to the “rules,” it
may be added, was very seldom enforced—a fact
&0 notorious, that when Lord Ellenborough, as

-ing him in his duties.

chief justice of the King's Bench, was once applied
to for an extension of the “rules,” his lordship
gravely replied that he really could perceive no
grounds for the application, since to his certain
knowledge the rules already extended to the East
Indies! In cases of this kind, however, when
discovery took place, the marshal became answer
able for the escape of the debtor. This prison
was properly a place of confinement for all cases
that could be tried in the Court of King’s Bench.
“The discipline of the prison,” writes Mn
Richardson, in his ¢ Recollections of the Last Half
Century,” “was tyrannical, yet lax, capricious and
undefined. The regulations were either enforced
with violence and suddenness, or suffered to
become a dead letter. Nobody cared much about
them ; and at one time or other they were broken
by every prisoner within the walls. Occasionally
an example was made of a more than usually
refractory inmate ; but the example was despised
as a warning, and operated as an incentive to
infraction. The law by which the prisoners were
kept in some sort of moral subordination emanated
from themselves, and from the necessity which
is recognised in all communities of combinations
of the weak to resist the oppressions of the strong,
a very mild administration of justice was acknow-
ledged and enforced. The exigencies of the
system demanded dispatch and vigour. A sort of
‘lynch-law’ superseded the orders of the marshal.
It was the duty of that functionary to reside in
a house in the court-yard, within the outward
boundary of the prison. It was meant by the
legislature that he should be at hand to administer
justice, to attend to applications for redress, to
enforce obedience by his presence, prevent dis
turbance among the unruly host of his subjects,
and to carry into effect the orders which, as a
servant of the Court of King’s Bench, he was
bound to see respected. It is notorious that Mr.
Jones, for many years the marshal of the’ prison, did
not reside. He was only in attendance on certain
days at his office, and held a sort of court of inquiry
into the state of his trust, the turnkeys and the
deputy-marshal acting as amici curie, and instruct-
He made, at stated times,
inspections of the prison; and in his periodical
progress was attended by his subordinates in great
state. He was a fat, jolly man, rather slow in his
movements, not very capable of detecting abuses
by his own observation, and not much assisted
in his explorations by others. It was a mere farce
to see him waddle round the prison. His visits
produced no beneficial effect: the place, somewhat
more orderly during the time of his stay, on,the
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moment of his departure relapsed into its normal | ranks, callings, professions and mysteries—nobles
state of irregularity and disorder. In the halcyon | and ignobles, parsons, lawyers, farmers, tradesmen,
days of his authority there was no such institution | shopmen, colonels, captains, gamblers, horse-
as the Court for the Relief of Insolvent Debtors. | dealers, publicans, butchers, &c. The wives of
The legislature from time to time cleared out the | many of these shared the fortunes and misfortunes
over-gorged prisons by passing Acts to discharge ; of their husbands; and scores of widows and

THE MARSHALSEA PRISON, IN THE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY.

unfortunate insolvents, and what was called the  spinsters were amongst the majority who could not
‘Lords’ Act’ helped to prevent the enormous  pass the gates. It may be calculated that the
conflux of such people. But this inefficient kind | numerical strength of this strange colony amounted
of legislation was not what was wanted ; it acted  to an average of eight hundred or a thousand
as a temporary alleviation of the miseries and | individuals.”

abominations of the system, but it failed to abate The state of this gaol is thus described by
the nuisance, which may be said to have flourished | Smollett, about the time of its establishment in the
with renewed vigour from the prunings which Borough Road; it was much in the same state
removed its effects. The consequence was that | down till late in the present century :—* The
the prison was crowded with persons of all classes, King’s Bench Prison . . . appears like a neat little
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regular town, consisting of one street, surrounded
by a very high wall, including an open piece of
ground, which may be termed a garden, where the
prisoners take the air, and amuse themselves with a
variety, of diversions. Except the entrance, where
the turnkeys keep watch and ward, there is nothing
in the place that looks like a gaol, or bears the least
colour of restraint. The street is crowded with
passengers ; tradesmen of all kinds here exercise
their different professions; hawkers of all sorts
are admitted to call and vend their wares, as in
any open street in London. There are butchers’
stands, chandlers’ shops, a surgery, a tap-house,
well frequented, and a public kitchen, in which
provisions are dressed for all the prisoners gratis,
at the expense of the publican. Here the voice of
misery never complains, and, indeed, little else
is to be heard but the sound of mirth and jollity.
At the further end of the street, on the right hand,
is a little paved court leading to a separate building,
consisting of twelve large apartments, called state-
rooms, well furnished, and fitted up for the recep-
tion of the better sort of Crown prisoners; and
on the other side of the street, facing a separate
direction of ground, called the common side, is
a range of rooms occupied by prisoners of the
lowest order, who share the profits of a begging-
box, and are maintained by this practice and some
established funds of charity. We ought also to
observe that the gaol is provided with a neat
chapel, in which a clergyman, in consideration of
a certain salary, performs divine service every
Sunday.”

John Howard, the philanthropist, found in the
King’s Bench Prison a subject for deserved com-
plaint. He describes the Gatehouse at West-
minster as empty, but this as full to overflowing,
Indeed, it was so crowded in the summer of 1776,
that a prisoner paid five shillings for a separate
bed, and many who had no crown-pieces to spare
for such a luxury, lay all night in the chapel. The
debtors, with their families, amounted to a thou-
sand, two-thirds of whom were lodged within the
prison walls, the rest “living within the rules.”

Here, at the close of the last century, the
notorious George Hanger, Lord Coleraine, was
an inmate for nearly a twelvemonth. We have
already had occasion to speak of this. eccentric and
unfortunate nobleman.* At one time he tried to
“make both ends meet” by recruiting for the East-
India Company, and at another by starting as a
coal merchant. With respect to the former occu-
pation, he tells us that he spent /s500— costs

-

¥ SCG Vel. V. P 294.

out of pocket,” as the lawyers say—in establishing
and organising agencies for recruits in all the large
towns of England, but that an end was put to this
work by various disputes among the directors in
Leadenhall Street as to the best place for recruit-
ing barracks. The decision, wherever it placed the
depdt, threw him out of employ, robbed him of
his 4500 and six years’ labour, and lost him an
income of £ 600 a year. The result was that he was
sent to the King’s Bench, and had to start afresh
with a capital of £40 in hand! No wonder that
next year he thought of trade in earnest as much
better than such precarious work. Not long before
this, Major Hanger—as he was more frequently
called—had become one of the jovial associates
of the then Prince of Wales, who made him one of
his equerries, with a salary of 4300 a year, an
appointment which, together with the employment
which he undertook of raising recruits for the East
India Company, afforded him the means of living
for a time like a gentleman. His good fortune
did not, however, last long, and the major was
soon on the high road to the King’s Bench, which
he entered in June, 1798 He spent about ten

‘months in “those blessed regions of rural retire-

ment,” as he jokingly styles his prison, possibly
remembering the lines of Lovelace—
¢ Stone walls do not a prison make,
Nor iron bars a cage ;

Minds innocent and peaceful take
That for a hermitage ;”

and he declares that he “lived there as a gentleman
on three shillings a day.” Released from prison,
he now applied for employment on active service,
but in vain ; so he formed the resolution of taking
to trade, and set up at one time as a coal mer-
chant, and at another as dealer in a powder for
the special purpose of setting razors. Specimens
of this powder he carried about in his pocket to
show to “persons of quality,” whom he canvassed
for their patronage! How far he flourished in the
coal business we do not hear; but, as he mentions
a kind friend who gave him a salary sufficient to
keep the wolf from the door, in all probability
he did not make one of those gigantic fortunes
which the coal owners and coal merchants are
in the habit of realising now-a-days at the cost of
the long-suffering British householder.

In this prison were confined many of the objects
of Government prosecutions during the ministries
of Pitt, Addington, Perceval, and Lord Liverpool.

John Timbs tells us, in his * Autobiography,”
that amongst those who were living here in lodg-
ings, “within the rules of the King’s Bench,” in
1822, was the indefatigable and eccentric William
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Coombe, better known as “ Dr, Syntax,” the author
of “A Tourin Search of the Picturesque.” He
wrote this to fit in with some drawings by Rowland-
son; and the two combined, published by Acker-
man, in the Strand, became one of the luckiest of
literary ventures. Besides the above work, Coombe
was also the author of “The Letters of a Noble-
man to his Son ” (generally ascribed to Lord Lyttel-
ton), the “German Gil Blas,” &c. He had travelled,
when young, as a man of fortune, on the Continent,
and had made “the grand tour,” and had been a
companion of Lawrence Sterne. In middle life,
however, he ran through his fortune, and took to
literature as a profession, and among other con-
nections he had formed one with Mr. Walter, of
the Z7mes. Mr. Crabb Robinson tells us in his
“ Diary” that “at this time, and indeed till his
death, he was an inhabitant of the King’s Bench
Prison,” and that “when he came to Printing
House Square it was only by virtue of a day-rule.
I believe,” adds Mr. Robinson, “ that Mr. Walter
offered to release him from prison by paying his
debts ; but this he would not permit, as he did not
acknowledge the justice of the claim for which he
suffered imprisonment. He preferred to live upon
an allowance from Mr. Walter, and was, he said,
perfectly happy.” Coombe is said to have been
the author of nearly seventy various publications,
none, however, published with his own name. He
ran through more than one fortune, and died at an
advanced age.

Poor Haydon,* about 1828, was an inmate of
this prison, where he painted a “ Mock Election”
that was held within its walls. The picture was
purchased by George IV. for £g5o00. Another
painter of note who was consigned to the King’s
Bench was George Morland. In 1799 he was
arrested, and being allowed to live ““within the
rules,” instead of within the gaol itself, he took a
house in the neighbourhood, in St. George’s Fields,
which soon became the haunt of all the profligates
of the prison. “In this cavern of indolence, dissi-
pation, and misery,” writes the author of “Great
Painters and their Works,” “ Morland reigned and
revelled. But the inevitable end was approaching.
He was struck with palsy ; and when the Insolvent
Act of 1802 brought release, it was to the poor
miserable wreck—physical, intellectual, and moral
—of what had once been George Morland.”

In the early part of the present century, the
smoluments of the “marshal” of the King’s Bench
mmounted to about £3,590 a year; of which £872
wose from the sale of beer, and 42,823 from the

* See Vol, V., p, 209
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for the better regulation of this prison, by which
the practice of granting “day-rules” was abolished ;
and the prison thenceforth, till its abolition as a
debtor’s prison about the year 1860, was governed
according to regulations provided by one of the
secretaries of state. After the abolition of im-
prisonment for debt, this prison remained unoccu-
pied for a short period. It was afterwards used
as a military prison, and about 1870 it passed into
the hands of the Convict Department.

Near the King’s Bench Prison was the manu-
factory and bleaching-ground of Mr. Alsager, who
gave up his prospcrous business in order to write
the ¢ City Articles” for the Z7mes, in which he
ultimately came to own a share.

Again making our way towards London Bridge,
we pass by “Stones’ End” into Blackman Street,
a thoroughfare mentioned in “The Merry Man’s
Resolution” published in the “Roxburgh Ballads:”

¢ Farewel to the Bankside,
Farewel to Blackman’s Street,
‘Where with my bouncing lasses
I oftentimes did meet ;
Farewel to Kent Street garrison,
Farewel to Horsly-down,
And all the smirking wenches
That dwell in Redriff town :
And come, love,
Stay, love,
Go along with me;
For all the world I'll forsake for thes.”

In a large house, on the east side of this street,
resided for many years Mr. (afterwards Sir James)
South, the son of a chemist and druggist. While
practising medicine, South gave special attention
to astronomy. Between 1821 and 1823, from the
roof of his house, which was nearly opposite Lant
Street, he, in conjunction with Mr. (afterwards Sir)
J. F. Herschel, made some valuable observations
on 380 double and triple stars, both astronomers
being armed with what in that day were considered
powerful telescopes of five inches aperture, con-
structed by Tulley. A few years later South re-
moved to Campden Hill, Kensington, where he
fitted up a telescope of larger dimensions. Of the
sale of his instruments at the last-named place we
have given an account in a former chapter.* He
was one of the founders of the Royal Astronomical
Society, and was knighted by William IV. in 1830.
He died in 1867.

George IV., in his last hours, expressed a desire
that Sir James should receive from the Civil List
a pension of 4300 per annum, which was con-

* See Vol. V., p. 231,

About the year 1840 an Act was passed |

v
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ferred by King William IV. Many years ago,
when it was thought desirable by some persons to
have a second national observatory, Sir Jamecs
South offered to build it at his own expense, and
endow it with his own magnificent instruments ; but
the offer was declined by the Government. A
scientific account of Sir James South’s astronomical
observations in Blackman Street, and of their
results, accompanied by an elaborate description
of the five-feet and seven-feet telescopes with which
they were made, will be found in the “Philosophical
Transactions ” for 1825.

Another distinguished native of the same part of
Southwark is the gifted poetess, Eliza Cook, who
was born here in December, 1818, and who from
early womanhood has stirred the hearts of the
middle classes of Englishmen and Englishwomen
by her spirited and hearty songs as few other poets
have done. Joseph Lancaster, the educationist,
was born in Kent Street in 1778.

Until the formation of the Dover Road early
in the present century, Kent Street, commencing
eastward of St. George’s Church, at the north end
of Blackman Street, was part of the great way
from Dover and the Continen: to the metropolis.
This narrow thoroughfare, originally called Kentish
Street, was a wretched and profligate place. As
far back as 1633 it was described as ‘very long
and ill-built, chiefly inhabited by broom-men and
mumpers,” and to the last it was noted for its
turners’ and brush-makers’ shops, and broom and
heath yards; yet some of these men rose to wealth
and position. John Evelyn tells us of one Burton,
a broom-man, who sold kitchen-stuff in Kent
Street, “whom God so blessed that he became a
very rich and a very honest man, and in the end
Sheriff of Surrey.” During the plague in 1665,
Evelyn, under date of 7th September, writes :
“ Came home, there perishing neere 10,000 poor
creatures weekly ; however, I went all along the
City and suburbs from Kent Street to St. James’s,
a dismal passage, and dangerous to see so many
coffins expos'd in the streetes, now thin of people;
the shops shut up, and all in mournful silence, as
not knowing whose turn might be next. I went to
the Duke of Albemarle for a pest-ship, to wait on
our infected men, who were not a few.”

Kent Street was the route taken by Chaucer’s
jolly pilgrims, of whom we shall have more to say in
the next chapter, when dealing with the “ Tabard”
Inn ; by the Black Prince, when he rode a modest
conqueror with the French king by his side; and
by which Jack Cade’s rabble rout poured into the
metropolis, quite as intent, we may fairly suppose,
upon plunder as upon political reform. In this

l

street, as early as the fourteenth century, stood the
Loke, an hospital for lepers, afterwards known as
the Lock, a name still retained by the well-known
hospital in the Harrow Road, Paddington.* An
open stream, or rather ditch, dividing the parishes
of St. George and St. Mary, Newington, was also
called the Lock ; but whether it derived its name
from the hospital, or the hospital from the stream,
is uncertain. It rose in Newington (the open
ground on its banks being called Lock’s Fields,
a name which it still retains), was crossed from
early times by a bridge at the end of Kent Street,
and flowed through Bermondsey into the river.
Kent Street has borne its evil reputation to the
present day; and it is immortalised in Charles
Dickens’s ‘Uncommercial Traveller” as “the
worst kept part of London—in a police sense, of
course—excepting the Haymarket.” Smollett says,
“JIt would be for the honour of the kingdom to
improve the avenue to London by way of Kent
Street, which is a most disgraceful entrance to
such an opulent city. A foreigner, in passing this
beggarly and ruinous suburb, conceives such an
idea of misery and meanness, as.all the wealth
and magnificence of London and Westminster are
afterwards unable to destroy. A friend of mine
who brought a Parisian from Dover in his own
post-chaise, contrived to enter Southwark when it
was dark, that his friend might not perceive the
nakedness of this quarter.” Since the formation of
the Dover Road, Kent Street has been no longer
the great highway to Kent, a fearful necessity to
timid travellers ; but it still retains much of its old
character, as the chosen resort of broom and brush
makers., Towards the close of the last century
this street, although the only thoroughfare from the
City to the Old Kent Road, presented a scene of
squalor and destitution unequalled even in St.
Giles’s. Gipsies, thieves, and such-like characters,
were to be met with in almost every house; and
men, women, children, asses, pigs, and dogs were
often found living together in the same room.
Filled with a noble desire to do something to
instruct and improve the condition of the rising
generation in this crowded neighbourhood, Thomas
Cranfield, a hard-working tailor, then residing in

| Hoxton, and formerly a corporal at the siege of

Gibraltar in 1782, resolved, if possible, to establish
a Sunday-school in Kent Street. For this pur-
pose, in 1798, he hired a room, and at once under-
took, with no other help than that given by his
wife, the education of the “wild Arabs” who came
to receive instruction in this novel manner. The

* See Vol. V., p. 213,
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reputation borne by the neighbourhood for vice
and profligacy was in itself quite sufficient to deter
many persons with any benevolent intentions from
venturing into the street. Undaunted by the mag-
nitude of the undertaking, for some months this
philanthropic individual and his wife, travelling
every Sunday all the way from Hoxton with three
of their children, occupied themselves with the
task they had set themselves, and with so much
success, that in a short time the fruits of their self-
denying exertions became conspicuously apparent
to others, and at last other voluntary teachers sum-
moned up courage to undertake the same work.
Finding his labours in Kent Street rewarded with
success, and being now reinforced by additional
volunteers, Cranfield determined to open a similar
school in the Mint, close by, a locality even worse
than Kent Street. This school also succeeded,
and soon after their establishment these schools
were incorporated with the Sunday-school carried
on in Surrey Chapel, under the title of the “South-
wark Sunday-school Society,” the Rev. Rowland
Hill becoming the first president. Nine of these
schools still exist, and many of the children born in
Southwark withirt the last seventy years owed their
education and their position in after life to the
voluntary instruction given in these Sunday-schools.
A nobleman on-one occasion being present at
one of these Sunday-school anniversaries at Surrey
Chapel, and being struck not only with the cleanly
appearance of the children, but with the respecta-
bility of the teachers, asked Rowland Hill what
salary the latter received for their arduous duties.
Mr. Hill gave the following reply : “It is very little
of this world’s goods that they get, unless it is now
and then a flea, or another insect not quite so
nimble in its movements.”

St. George’s Church, at the corner of the High
Street, Borough, and of Blackman Street, is dedi-
cated to St. George the Martyr, the patron saint of
England. The original church, which stood here,
belonged to the Priory of Bermondsey; it was a
very ancient edifice, and was dedicated to St
George of Cappadocia. It is described in the
“New View of London,” published in 1708, as “a
handsome building, the pillars, arches, and windows
being of Gothic design, and having & handsome
window about the middle of the north side of the
church, whereon were painted the arms of the
twenty-one companies of London who contributed
to the repair of this church in 1629, with the names
of the donors; the sumls respectively given by
‘hem amounting in all to £156 16s. 8d. This
:difice was sixty-nine feet long to the altarrails,
iixty feet wide, and thirty-five feet high. The

tower, in which were eight bells, was ninety-eight
feet high.”

We hear of the old church as having been given
in 1122, by Thomas Arderne, on whose ancestor
the parish had been bestowed by the Conqueror, to
the abbot and monks of Bermondsey. It is stated
in the work above mentioned that among the dis-
tinguished persons who lie buried in St. George’s
Church, are Bishop Bonner,* who is said to have
died in 1557, in the Marshalsea Prison (a place,
as Dr. Fuller observes, the safest to secure him
from the people’s fury); and the famous Mr.
Edward Cocker, a person so well skilled in all
parts of arithmetic as to have given rise to the
classic phrase, “according to Cocker.” The tra-
dition in Queen Anne’s time was that Bonner’s
grave was under the east window of the church,
and that Cocker, “the most eminent composer and
engraver of letters, knots, and flourishes of his
time,” lay “in the passage at the west end, within
the church, near the school.” Such, at all events,
was the statement of the then sexton; and, as
he died about the year 1677, in all probability the
tradition may be accepted. Cocker’s fame was
chiefly made by his “ Vulgar Arithmetic,” published
after his death by his friend, John Hawkins, who
possibly wrote the following epigram upon him :—

¢ Ingenious Cocker! now to rest thou’st gone,
No art can show thee fully but thine own.

Thy vast arithmetic alone can show
The sums of thanks we for thy labours owe.”

Here also was interred John Rushworth, the
author of * Historical Collections” relating to pro-
ceedings in Parliament from 1618 to 1640. Rush-
worth died in the King’s Bench. In the grave-
yard of this church it was the custom to bury
prisoners who died in the King’s Bench and the
Marshalsea.

In this church General George Monk, afterwards
Duke of Albemarle, was married in 1652, to Nan
Clarges,t the daughter of a farrier in the Strand,
and widow of another farrier named Radford or
Ratford, who had been his sempstress, and “ used
to carry him linen.” Mr. Henry Jessey, who sub-
sequently became an Anti-Pedobaptist, and was
immersed by Hanserd Knollys, was, during the
Commonwealth, the minister of this church.

The old church having undergone many repairs,
and being ruinous, the parishioners applied to
Parliament, and obtained an Act to have another
church erected in its place; in consequence of
which the present edifice was begun in 1734, and

* Others, however, hold that he lies buried at Copford, in Essex,
t See Vol. IIL, p. 122,
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finished in about two years. The architect was
a Mr. John Price, and the expense of the building
was defrayed by a grant of .£6,000 out ot the
funds appropriated for building fifty new churches
in the metropolis and its vicinity. It was repaired
in 1808, at a cost of £9,000. The plan of the
building is a parallelogram, with a square tower at
the west end, surmounted by a second storey of an
octagon form, and crowned by an octangular spire,

that the large bell of this church is tolled nightly,
and is probably a relic of the curfew custom.
About midway between St. George’s Church and
London Bridge, stood in very remote times the
Marshalsea, or prison of the Court of the Knight
Marshal, in which all disputes arising between
servants of the royal household, and offences com-
mitted within the King’s Court, were adjudicated
upon. Its jurisdiction extended for twelve miles

THE OLD ‘‘TABARD”

finished with a ball and vane. The church through-
out is very plain. It is built of dark red brick,
with stone dressings, in a heavy Dutch style, and
has altogether a tasteless aspect. In looking at

such a building as this, well may we exclaim in-

the words of a divine of the nineteenth century,
“Ichabod ! the glory of the Church has departed.
I never observe the new churches on the Surrey
side of the river without imagining that their long
bodies and short steeples look, from a distance,
like the rudders of so many sailing-barges. Where
is the grand oriel ? where is the old square tower?
What have we in their stead? A common granary
casement and a shapeless spire.” Pennant de-
scribes the steeple of St. George’s Church as “ most
awkwardly standing upon stilts.” It may be added

INN, IN THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY.

round Whitehall, the City of London excepted. It
was once of high dignity, and coeval with the
Courts of Common Law. This Marshal’s, or
Palace Court, as it was afterwards called, was
removed from Southwark to Scotland Yard in
1801 ; it was abolished by Act of Parliament in
1849, and ceased to exist from the end of that
year. For very many years no legal business was
transacted in the Marshalsea Court, though it con-
tinued to be opened and closed with the same
legal formalities as the Palace Court, the judges
and other officers being the same in both.

In the “New View of London ” we read : “The
Marshal’s Court, situate or kept in the Marshalsea
Prison on the eastern side of the Burrough (si¢) of
Southwark; was first intended for determining causes



‘ Southwark.]

BISHOP BONNER IN THE MARSHALSEA.

73

or differences among the king’s menial servants,
held under the Knight Marshal, whose steward is
judge of this court, and whereunto also belong four
council (si) and six attorneys.” Here follow the
names of these ten privileged gentlemen, with a
note to the effect that “none except members of
Clifford’s Inn may practise in this court.”” In 1774
we find the Marshalsea described as “the county
gaol for felons and the Admiralty gaol for pirates.”

stated above) a prisoner in the Marshalsea, where
he had been ordered to be confined. He had
been previously imprisoned there during the reign
of Edward VI. He was buried, as we have already
seen, in St. George’s Church, hard by.

¢ Another anecdote is told of Bishop Bonner,”
says Charles Knight, in his “London,” “at the
period of his committal to the Marshalsea, which
is worth repeating here, as it shows his temper
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We have no exact record of the first establish-
ment of the Marshalsea prison, but we find it
casually mentioned in an account of a mob riot in
1377. A sailor belonging to the fleet commanded
by the Duke of Lancaster, Lord High Admiral,
was killed by a man of gentle blood, who was
imprisoned in the Marshalsea; but it being sup-
posed by the sailors that powerful friends were at
work to obtain his pardon, a number of sailors
broke into the prison, murdered the offender, and
‘hen hanged his body on the gallows, returning
terwards to their ships with trumpets sounding.
four years afterwards, Wat Tyler’s followers seized
nd murdered the marshal of the prison. Bishop
3onner, the last Roman Catholic Bishop of London,
aving been deposed by Queen Elizabeth, died (as

3497

eyt
— WHIFEHERD.SC_~ e

(From a Sketch taken shortly before its demolition.)

in a more favourable light than that which the
voice of the public ascribes to him. On his way
to the prison, one called out, ¢ The Lord confound
or else turn thy heart!’ Bonner coolly replied,
“The ‘Lord send thee to keep thy breath to cool
thy porridge” To another, who insulted him on
his deprivation from the episcopal rank, he could
even be witty. ‘Good morrow, Bishop guondam,
was the remark. ¢Farewell, knave semper, was
the reply.” Bonner died on the sth of Septem-
ber, 1569, having been a prisoner here for about
ten years. In Queen Elizabeth’s time, the Mar-
shalsea was the second in importance among the
prisons in London. Political satirists, George
Wither among them, were confined there; and,
in conjunction with the other Southwark prisons,
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it was the place of durance of Udal and other
Puritan martyrs. Among other notorious inmates
was George Barnwell, who killed his uncle at
Camberwell, if we may believe the mock heroic
lines on that hero of the shop and counter in the
“Rejected Addresses.”

In 1685 Colonel Culpeper was consigned to the
Marshalsea as a prisoner. John Evelyn tells the
story of his seizure, in his “Diary,” under date
July oth of the above year:—‘“Just as I was
coming into the lodgings at Whitehall, a little
before dinner, my Lord of Devonshire standing
very neere his Majesty’s bed-chamber doore in
the lobby, came Colonel Culpeper, and in a rude
manner looking my lord in the face, asked
whether this was a time and place for excluders
to appeare. My lord at first tooke little notice
of what he said, knowing him to be a hot-headed
fellow, but he reiterated it, my lord asked Cul-
peper whether he meant him; he said, yes, he
meant his lordship. My lord told him he was
no excluder; the other affirming it againe, my
lord told him he lied, on which Culpeper struck
him a box on the eare, which my lord return’d,
and fel’d him. They were soone parted; Cul-
peper was seiz’d, and his majesty order'd him to
be carried to the Greene Cloth officer, who sent
him to the Marshalsea as he deserved.”

The Marshalsea escaped Lord George Gordon’s
rioters, in June, 1780, when the King's Bench,
the Borough, and Clink prisons were demolished ;
but shortly afterwards it was removed nearer to
St. George’s Church, where it remained until its
abolition in 1849. At that time it contained sixty
rooms and a chapel.

For a description of this prison as it was half a
century ago, the reader may as well be referred to
the “Little Dorritt” of Charles Dickens, who lays
within its precincts most of the scenes of the first
part, and several in the latter part of the second.
These scenes were drawn from life, as the elder
Dickens passed here a considerable part of his days
while his son was a lad ; and here the future “Boz,”
coming to visit his selfish and indolent father,
picked up much of his practical acquaintance with
the lower grades of society and London life, which
he afterwards turned to account. “The family,”
he writes, “lived more comfortably in prison than
they had done for a long time out of it. They
were waited on still by the maid-of-all-work from
Bayham Street, the orphan girl from Chatham
workhouse, from whose sharp little worldly, yet
also kindly, ways I took my first impressions of
the Marchioness in ¢ The Old Curiosity Shop.’”

Most readers of Dickens’s works will remember

old Mr. William Dorritt, the ¢ father of the Mar-
shalsea,” and Amy, the “Little Mother”—the
“child of the Marshalsea.”

In 1856, whilst engaged in the purchase of Gad’s
Hill, Charles Dickens paid a visit to the Marshal-
sea, then in the course of demolition, to see what
traces were left of the prison, of which he had
received such early and vivid impressions as a boy,
and which he had been able to rebuild almost
brick by brick in “Little Dorritt,” by the aid of his
wonderfully retentive memory. He writes to his
friend, John Forster, “ Went to the Borough yester-
day morning before going to Gad’s Hill, to see if I
could find any ruins of the Marshalsea. Found a
great part of the original building, now ¢ Marshalsea
Place.” I found the rooms that had been in my
mind’s eye in the 'story. There is a room
there, still standing, that I think of taking. It is
the room through which the ever-memorable signers
of Captain Porter’s petition filed off in my boyhood.
The spikes are gone, and the wall is lowered ; and
any body can go out now who likes to go, and
1s not bed-ridden.”

Some considerable portion of the Marshalsea is
still standing, in Angel Court, on the north side
of St. George’s Church ; it is now used for business
purposes.

In 1663 was published a book entitted “The
Ancient Legal Course and Fundamental Constitu-
tion of the Palace-Court or Marshalsea ; with the
Charges of all Proceedings there, and its present
Establishment explained, whereby it -will appear of
what great authority this Court hath been in all
Times.” This is a very scarce little volume, known
to few, and unmentioned by the bibliographers. At
the time of publication the Court, whose authority
was held by Fleta to be next to the High Court of
Parliament, was kept every Friday in the Court
House on St. Margaret’s Hill, and might be held
in any other fit place within twelve miles of White-
hall.

In the neighbourhood of the Marshalsea prison
there was formerly an inn with a sign-board called
the “Hand.” If we may trust a statement in
Tom Brown’s “Amusements for the Meridian of
London,” this board, whether it represented the
hand of a man or of a woman, was always re-
garded as an evil sign.

Southwark, it is almost needless to remark,
embraces an important manufacturing and com-
mercial district. Along the water-side, from Ber-
mondsey to Lambeth, there is a long succession
of wharves and warehouses, which all seem to ply
a busy trade. A considerable hat manufactuze
is carried on in and around St. Saviour’s parish.
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Bermondsey abounds with tanners and curriers.
Southwark is also the chief place of business for
persons connected with the hop trade ; and within
its limits are probably the largest vinegar-works,
and certainly one of the largest breweries in the
world.  Apparently, some of the tradesmen of
“the Borough” were persons of substance in the
Middle Ages. At all events, a writer in Nofes and
Queries, on the authority of Mr, W. D. Cooper, says
“that a certain Harry Baily, or Bailly, a hostelry
keeper’ of Southwark, represented that borough
in Parliament in the reigns of Edward III. and
Richard IL.” Mr. Timbs confirms his identity by
an extract which he quotes from the Subsidy Roll
of 4 Richard II., A.D. 1380, in which Henry Bayliff,
“Ostyler,” and Christian, his wife, are assessed at
two shillings. He adds, “We cannot read Chaucer’s
description of the Host without acknowledging the
likelihood of his being a popular man among his
fellow-townsmen, and one likely to be selected for
his fitness to represent them in Parliament.” As
we have shown in a previous chapter, too, coming
down to more recent times, the elder Mr. Thrale,
the founder of Barclay and Perkins’s brewery, was
for some time a representative of Southwark in
the House of Commons, as also was Mr. Apsley
Pellatt, of the Falcon Glass Works.

The tradesmen of Southwark—even if some of
them have attained to opulence—are, however,
we fear, like those of most other places ; and there
are, or have been, “black sheep” among them,
for in the “History of Quack Doctors” we read
that in the reign of Edward VI. one Grig, a poul-
terer in Surrey, was set in the pillory at Croydon,
and again in the Borough, for “cheating people
out of their money, by pretending to cure them by
charms, or by only looking at the patient.”

The principles of free trade would seem to have
been almost unknown in the reign of Edward I,
if; as stated by Maitland in his ¢ History of Lon-
don,” it was ordained that “no person should go
out of the City into Southwark to buy cattle,” and
the bakers of Southwark in like manner were
forbidden to trade in the City.

The Surrey side of the Thames being so low
and flat, and void of all that can act as a relief to
its monotony, was almost on that very account
predisposed to be made into a pleasure resort.
Added to this, its rents were low, on account of
the tolls upon the bridges, and hence a sufficient
number of acres to constitute a public garden were
easily obtainable, even by somewhat impecunious
speculators, and the very great success of Vauxhall
Gardens had somehow or other familiarised the
public mind with the idea that it was the “right

thing ” to go across the water for pleasure, leaving
the cares of home for the north side of the river.

The sanitary arrangements of Southwark cer-
tainly were not good in the early part of the reign
of George III. Pigs and sheep were killed for the
London markets in many parts of the Borough.
“The kennels of Southwark,” writes Dr. Johnson,
during his Scottish tour, with reference to this cir-
cumstance, “run blood two days in every week.”

We can form a tolerably accurate notion of the
extent and appearance of Southwark at the be-
ginning of the seventeenth century. Southward of
St. George’s Church and the Mint spread St
George's Fields, reaching nearly to the archiepis-
copal palace at Lambeth, and the village of
Newington. The Kent Road was a lane between
hedgerows ; and there were bishops’ palaces and
parks, mansions, theatres, and pleasure-gardens
near the green banks of the river. There were
forts for the defence of the borough at the end of
Blackman Street, near the Lock Hospital, and in
St. George’s Fields, where afterwards stood the
“Dog and Duck,” at the eastern end of the present
Bethlehem Hospital. The old High Street of
Southwark had gabled houses and large quadran-
gular inns, dating from the early Norman times; and
between them and the Abbey of Bermondsey were
open spaces and streams flowing gently towards
the river. Pasturelands, farms, and water-mills
were farther east towards Redriff (now Rotherhithe),
and Horselydown was indeed a grazing place for
horses. Now all that is changed; but it is pleasant
to think of the old days, even amid the constant
bustle and crowding at the entrance of the busiest
of London railway stations.

The journal of a London alderman, at the close
of the last century, under date of Sunday, z5th
June, 1797, thus describes the Southwark of his
day —“1I dined in the Boro’ with my friend Par-
kinson en_famille, and in the evening walked thro’
some gardens near the Kentish Road, at the
expense of one halfpenny each. We went and
saw a variety of people who had heads on their
shoulders, and eyes and legs and arms like our-
selves, but in every other respect as different from
the race of mortals we meet at the West-end of the
town as a native of Bengal from a Laplander.
This observation may be applied with great truth
in a general way to the whole of the Borough and
all that therein is. Their meat is not so good,
their fish is not so good, their persons are not so
cleanly, their dress is not equal to what we meet
in the City or in Westminster ; indeed, upon the
whole, they are one hundred years behindhand in
civilisation.”



76 OLD AND

NEW LONDON.

[Southwark.

CHAPTER VIIL
SOUTHWARK (continued)—FAMOUS INNS OF OLDEN TIMES.

“ Chaucer, the Druid-priest of poetry,
First taught our muse to speak the mystic lore,
And woke the soul to heavenly minstrelsy,
Which Echo on the wind delightful bore.”

Old Inns mentioned by Stow—The * Tabard "—The Abbot of Hide—The “ Tabard” as the Rendezvous for Pilgrims—Henry Bailly, the Hosteller
of the “Tabard,” and M.P. for Southwark—Description of the old ““Tabard '—Change of Name from the * Tabard’ to the * Talbot "—
Demolition of the old Inn—Chaucer and the Canterbury Pilgrims—Characters mentioned by Chaucer in the * Canterbury Tales”—Stow’s
Definition of *Tabard”—The *‘ George”’—The ““ White Hart”—Jack Cade’s sojourn here—The *‘ Boar’s Head "—The *‘ White Lion"—
“Henry VIIL” a Favourite Sign—The ‘“Three Brushes”—The ‘‘ Catherine Wheel "—The *‘ Three Widows "—The *“Old Pick my Toe "—

Tokens of Inn-keepers,

IT was probably on account of its proximity to
one of our earliest theatres (the Globe), as well
as on account of its being on the great southern
thoroughfare, that the High Street of Southwark
came to abound to such an extent with ims and
hostelries. In bygone days it is probable that
these inns were still more numerous, as all traffic
from the south and south-west of England must
have entered London by that route at a time when
old London Bridge was the only entrance into the
City for traffic and travellers from the south of the
Thames. ~

We have historic proof that the borough of
Southwark—and more especially the High Street—
has been for ages celebrated for its inns. Stow,
in his “Survey,” published at the close of the
sixteenth century, says :— From thence [the Mar-
shalsea] towards London Bridge, on the same side,
be many fair inns for receipt of travellers, by these
signs : the Spurre, Christopher, Bull, Queen’s
Head, Tabard, George, Hart, King's Head,” &c.
Of these inns mentioned by the old chronicler,
some few remain to this day; whilst most of the
buildings surrounding the old-fashioned yards have
been converted into warehouses or booking-offices
for the goods department of different railway com-
panies, &c.

First and foremost of these ancient hostelries,
and one which retained most of its ancient features
down to a comparatively recent date, was the
“Tabard Inn,” renowned by Chaucer as the ren-
dezvous of the Canterbury Pilgrims, five hundred
years ago. Its name, however, had become
changed for that of the “ Talbot.” It stood on the
east side of the street, about midway between St.
George's Church and London Bridge, and nearly
opposite the site of the old Town Hall. The first
foundation of this inn would appear to be due
to the Abbots of Hyde, or Hide, near Winchester,
who, at a time when the Bishops of Winchester
had a palace near St. Saviour’s Church, fixed their
residence in this immediate neighbourhood. The
land on which the old “Tabarde ” stood was pur-

chased by the Abbot of Hyde in the year 1307,
and he built on it not only a hostel for himself and
his brethren, but also an inn for the accommodation
of the numerous pilgrims resorting to the shrine of
“St. Thomas of Canterbury” from the south and
west of England, just at the point where the roads
from Sussex, Surrey, and Hampshire met that
which was known as the “ Pilgrims’ Way.” There
can be no doubt that by the end of the fourteenth
century the “ Tabard” was already one of the inns
most frequented by * Canterbury Pilgrims,” or else
Chaucer would scarcely have introduced it to us in
that character.

The Abbey of Hide was founded by Alfred
the Great, and the monks were Saxon to the back-
bone. When the Conqueror landed at Pevensey,
the abbot and twelve stout monks buckled on
their armour, and ‘with twenty armed men hurried
to join Harold. Not one returned from the fatal
field of Hastings. Abbot, monks, and men-at-arms
all lay dead upon the field ; and Norman William
never forgave their patriotic valour, but avenged it
by taking from the abbey twelve knights’ fees and
a captain’s portion—that is, twelve times the amount
of land necessary to support a man-at-arms and a
baron’s fief. Chaucer must have known this history,
and his honest English heart must have glowed
with the remembrance as he sat in the old hall of
the town residence of the successors of the brave
Abbot of Hide. Here it was that the genial poet
and the nine-and-twenty pilgrims met, and agreed
to enliven their pilgrimage to the shrine of St
Thomas 2 Becket, at Canterbury, by reciting tales
to shorten the way. Macaulay says, “It was a
national as well as religious feeling that drew multi-
tudes to the shrine of & Becket, the first English-
man who, since the Conquest, had been terrible to
the foreign tyrants.” The date of the Canterbury
Pilgrimage is generally supposed to have been the
year 1383; and Chaucer, after describing the
season of spring, writes :—

¢“Befelle that in that season, on a day,
In Southwerk, at the Tabard as I lay,
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Redy to wenden on my pilgrimage

To Canterbury, with devoute courige,

At night was come into that hostelrie

Well nine-and-twenty in a compagnie

Of sondry folk, by aventure yfalle

In felawship ; and pilgrimes were they alle,
That toward Canterbury wolden ride,

The chambres and the stables weren wyde,
And wel we weren esed atte beste,

And shortly, when the sonne was gone to reste,
So hadde I spoken with hem everich on
That I was of hir felawship anon,

And I made forword erly for to rise,

And take oure way ther as I you devise.”

The “Tabard” is again mentioned in the fol-
lowing lines :—

¢¢In Southwerk at this gentil hostelrie,
That highte the Tabard, faste by the Belle,”

John Timbs, in an account of this inn, in the
City Press, says :—*“ Henry Bailly, the host of the
*Tabard,’ was not improbably a descendant of
Henry Tite or Martin, of the borough of South-
wark, to whom King Henry IIL, in the fifteenth
year of his reign, at the instance of William de la
Zouch, granted the customs of the town of South-
wark during the king’s pleasure, he paying to the
Exchequer the annual fee and farm rent of £10
for the same. By that grant Henry Tite or Martin
was constituted bailiff of Southwark, and he would,
therefore, acquire the name of Henry the bailiff,
or Le Bailly. But be this as it may, it is a fact
on record, that Henry Bailly, the hosteller of the
‘Tabard,’ was one of the burgesses who represented
the borough of Southwark in the Parliament held at
Westminster, in the fiftieth Edward II1., A.D. 1376;
and he was again returned to the Parliament held
at Gloucester in the second of Richard II., A.D.
1378.” We have already mentioned him in the
previous chapter. After the dissolution of the
monasteries, the “ Tabard” and the abbot’s house
were sold by Henry VIIL to John Master and
Thomas Master ; and the particulars of the grant
in the Augmentation Office afford description of
the hostelry called “ the Tabard of the Monastery
of Hyde, and the Abbots’ place, with the stables,
and garden thereunto belonging.”

The original “ Tabard ” was in existence as late
as the year 1602 ; it was an ancient timber house,
accounted to be as old as Chaucer’s time. No
part of it, however, as it appeared at the time of
its demolition in 1874, was of the age of Chaucer;
but a good deal dated from the time of Queen
Elizabeth, when Master J. Preston newly repaired
it. “The most interesting portion was a stone-
coloured wooden gallery, in front of which was
a picture of the Canterbury Pilgrimage, said to

have been painted by Blake. The figures of the
pilgrims were copied from the celebrated print by
Stothard. Immediately behind was the chamber
known as the pilgrims’ room, but only a portion of
the ancient hall. The gallery formerly extended
throughout the inn-buildings. The inn facing the
street was burnt in the great fire of 1676.” Dryden
says, “I see all the pilgrims in the Canterbury
tales, their humour, with their features and their
very dress, as distinctly as if I had supper with
them at the ¢ Tabard,’ in Southwark.” A company
of gentlemen assembled at the inn, in 1833, to
commemorate the natal day of Chaucer, and it was
proposed annually to meet in honour of the vener-
able poet, whose works Spenser characterises as

¢“The well of English undefiled,
On Fame’s eternal beadroll worthy to be filed,”

But the idea, if ever seriously entertained, was soon
abandoned.

The house was repaired in the reign of Queen
Elizabeth, and from that period probably dated the
fireplace, carved oak panels, and other portions
spared by the fire of 1676, which were still to be
seen in the beginning of the present century. In
this fire, of which we have already had occasion to
speak, some six hundred houses had to be destroyed
in order to arrest the progress of the flames ; and
as the “ Tabard ” stood nearly in the centre of this
area, and was mostly built of woaod, there can be
little doubt that the old inn perished. It was,
however, soon rebuilt, and as nearly as possible
on the same spot; and although, through the
ignorance of the landlord or tenant, or both, it
was for a time called, not the ¢ Tabard,” but the
“Talbot,” there can be no doubt that the inn, as it
remained down till recently, with its quaint old
timber galleries, and not less quaint old chambers,
was the immediate successor of the inn and hostelry
commemorated by our great poet.

In Urry’s edition of Chaucer, published in
1721, there is a view of the “Tabard ” as it then
stood, the yard apparently opening upon the street.
Down to about the close of the year 1873 the
entrance to the inn-yard was under an old and
picturesque gateway ; this, however, has been re-
moved altogether, and in its place, on our left
hand, a new public-house, approaching the gin-
palace in its flaunting appearance, has been erected,
and, as if in mockery, it has assumed the name of
the ¢ Old Tabard.” The buildings in the inn-yard,
as they remained down to the period above men-
tioned, consisted of a large and spacious wooden
structure, with a high tiled roof, the ground floor of
which had been for many years occupied as a
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luggage office, and a place of call for carmen and | hall, the room of public entertainment of the
railvay vans. This was all that remained of the | hostelry, or, as it was popula.rly .called,. % The
structure erected in the reign of Charles II., out | Pilgrims’ Room;” and here it is conjectured
of the old materials after the fire. The upper part | Chaucer’s pilgrims—if that particular Canterbury
of it once was one large apartment, but it had been | pilgrimage was a reality, and not a’creation of Fhe
so much cut up and subdivided from time to time | poet’s brain—spent the evening before wending
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to adapt it to the purpose of modern bed-rooms | their way along the Old Kent Road towards the
that it presented in the end but few features of 'shrine of St. Thomas & Becket—

interest. l

There was an exterior gallery, also of wood, on

the left, which, with the rooms behind it, have | From this old court-yard, then, actually rode
been levelled with the ground, in order to make | forth the company that lives and moves for ever
room for a new pile of warehouses. The rooms, |in Chaucer’s poetry, or, at any rate, many a com-
dull, heavy, dingy apartments as they were, are | pany of which the Canterbury Tales” present
said by tradition. to have occupied the actual site, | a lifelike copy. In that room lay the seemly
or rather to have been carved out of the ancient | prioress and her nuns; here the knight, with the

¢¢ The holy blissful martyr for to seeke.”
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“yong Squier” sharing his chamber, and waiting
dutifully upon his needs ; that staircase the burly
monk made re-echo and quake with his heavy
tread ; and here, leaning upon the balustrade-work,
the friar and the sompour (summoner or attorney)
had many a sharp passage of arms.

Mr. Corner, who has left the best account® of
the old Southwark inn, was of opinion, from per-
sonal examination, that there was nothing at all in
the remains of the ¢ Tabard,” as they existed at
the time of its demolition, earlier than the South-
wark fire of 1676, after which was built the
“ Pilgrims’ Hall,” the fireplaces of which were of
this date. The Rev. John Ward, in his “Diary,”
remarks that ¢ the fire began at one Mr. Welsh’s,
an oilman, near St. Margaret'’s Hill, betwixt the
“George’ and ‘Talbot’ inns, as Bedloe (the
Jesuit) in his narrative relates.”

The sign was ignorantly changed from the
“Tabard” to the “Talbot”—an old name for a
dog—about the year 1676, and Betterton describes
it under its new name in his modernised version
of Geoffrey Chaucer’s prologue. On the beam
of the gateway facing the street was formerly in-
scribed, “This is the inn where Sir Jeffry Chaucer
and the nine-and-twenty pilgrims lay in their
journey to Canterbury, anno 1383 This was
painted out in 1831 ; it was originally inscribed
upon a beam across the road, whence swung the
sign ; but the beam was removed in 1763, as inter-
fering with the traffic,

In Urry’s view the several wooden buildings are
shown. The writing of the inscription over the
sign seemed ancient; yet Tyrwhitt is of opinion
that it was not older than the seventeenth century,
since Speght, who describes the ¢ Tabard” in his
edition of Chaucer, published in 1602, does not
mention it. Probably it was put up after the fire
of 1676, when the “Tabard” had changed its
name into the “Talbot.”

The sign in reality was changed in 1673, when
the signs of London were taken down, “and when,”
says Aubrey, “the ignorant landlord or tenant,
instead of the ancient sign of the Tabard, put
up the Talbot, or dog.” Aubrey tells us further
that before the fire it was an old timber house,
“probably coeval with Chaucer’s time.” It was
probably this old part, facing the street, that was
burnt. .

‘ Chaucer has often been named as ¢the well of
English undefiled ;’ but from a general review of
all his works,” writes Dr. Johnson, in his “ Lives of
the Poets,” “it will appear that he entertained a

* See “Collections of the Surrey Archa:ologiml Society,” vol. ii., part 2.

very mean opinion of his native language, and of
the poets who employed it, and that, during a great
part of his life, he was incessantly occupied in trans-
lating the works of the French, Italian, and Latin
poets. His ‘ Romaunt of the Rose’ is a professed
translation from William de Lorris and Jean de
Meun ; the long and beautiful romance of ¢ Troilus
and Cressida’ is principally translated from Boc-
caccio’s Filostrato ; the ¢ Legend of Good Women’
is a free translation from Ovid’s Epistles, combined
with the histories of his heroines, derived from
various chronicles. The ‘House of Fame’ is a
similar compilation ; and ¢ Palamon and Arcite’ is
known to be an imitation of the ‘Theseide’ of
Boccaccio.  On the whole, it may be doubted
whether he thought himself sufficiently qualified to
undertake an original work till he was past sixty
years of age, at which time . he formed
and began to execute the plan of his ¢ Canterbury
Tales.’”

This elaborate work—the scene of which is laid
in the guest-chamber and in the court-yard of the
“Tabard ”—was intended to contain a sketch of
all the characters of society in his time. These
were to be sketched out in an introductory pro-
logue, to be contrasted by characteristic dialogues,
and probably to be engaged in incidents which
should further develop their characters and dis-
positions ; and as stories were absolutely necessary
in every popular work, an appropriate tale was to
be put into the mouth of each of the pilgrims. It
is not extraordinary that the remainder of Chaucer’s
life should not have been sufficient for the com-
pletion of so ambitious a plan. What he has
actually executed can be regarded only as a frag-
ment of a larger whole ; but, imperfect as it is, it
contains more information respecting the manners
and customs of the fourteenth century than could
be gleaned from the whole mass of contemporary
writers, ‘English and foreign. ¢ Chaucer’s vein of
humour,” remarks Warton, “although conspicuous
in the ‘Canterbury Tales,” is chiefly displayed in
the characters, described in the Prologue, with
which they are introduced. In these his know-
ledge of the world availed him in a peculiar degree,
and enabled him to give such an accurate picture
of ancient manners as no contemporary nation
has transmitted to posterity. It is here that we
view the pursuits and employments, the customs
and diversions, of our ancestors, copied from the
life, and represented with equal truth and spirit by
a judge of mankind whose penetration qualified
him to discern their foibles and discriminating
peculiarities, and by an artist who understood that
proper selection of circymstances and those pre-
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dominant characteristics which form a finished
portrait. We are surprised to find, in an age so
gross and ignorant, such talent for satire and for ob-
servation on life—qualities which usually exert them-
selves in-more civilised periods, when the improved
state of society, by . . . . establishing uniform
modes of behaviour, disposes mankind to study
themselves, and renders deviations of conduct and
singularities of character more immediately and
niore necessarily the objects of censure and ridicule.
These curious and valuable remains are specimens
of Chaucer’s native genius, unassisted and un-
alloyed. The figures are all British, and bear no
suspicious signatures of classical, Italian, or French
imitation.” In fact, in his “ Canterbury Tales”
Chaucer is at his best, and those Canterbury tales
belong especially to the street and house of which
we are now treating.

It may not be out of place here to give a brief
outline of the plan of the immortal work which, as
long as the English language lasts, will stand con-
nected with the hostelry of the “Tabard.” The
framework of the “ Canterbury Tales,” it need hardly
be said, embraces a rich collection of legends and
narratives of various characters. The plot may
have been suggested by the “Decamer:n” of
Boccaccio, but that is all ; for, instead of adopting
the tame and frigid device of assembling a bevy of
Florentine youths and maidens, who tell and listen
o amorous tales, with no coherence or connection,
Chaucer has sketched in bold and sharp outlines
life-like pictures of the manners and social con-
dition of his age, and has made his figures stand
picturesquely forth, as types of the several classes
which they represent.

“Who has not heard,” asks Dr. Pauli, in his
“Pictures of Old England,” “of the far-famed
sanctuary of Canterbury, where rested the bones of
the archbishop, Thomas Becket, who bravely met
his death to uphold the cause of the Roman
Church, and who, venerated as the national saint
of England, became renowned as a martyr and
worker of miracles? To that sanctuary, year by
year, and especially in the spring months, crowds
of devout pilgrims flocked from every part of the
Christian world; and although such pilgrimages
were no doubt often undertaken from the most
laudable motives, it is certain that even in the
fourteenth century they had become, among the
great masses of the people, too often a pretext for
diversion . . . . It was such a pilgrimage as this
that Chaucer took for the framework of his great
poem ; and, as a Kentish man, he was probably
able to describe from experience and personal
observation all that occurred on an occasion of

this kind. The prologue, which is of extraordinary
length, begins with a short description of spring,
when nature begins to rejoice, and men from every
part of the land seek the ¢ blissful martyr’s’ tomb
at Canterbury. At such a season—and some
writers have calculated that Chaucer refers to the
27th of April, 1383—the poet was staying, with this
purpose in view, at the ¢Tabard,” where pilgrims
were wont to assemble, and where they found good
accommodation for themselves and their horses
before they set forth on their way, travelling to-
gether, no doubt, at once for companionship and
for mutual protection. Towards evening, when the
host’s room was filled, Chaucer had already made
acquaintance with most of the guests, who were of
all conditions and ranks. The twenty-nine persons
who composed the party are each introduced to us
with the most individual and life-like colouring. A
knight most appropriately heads the list. For
years his life has been spent either in the field or
in the Crusades; for he was present when Alex-
andria was taken, and helped the Teutonic knights
in Prussia against the Russians, fought with the
Moors in Granada, with the Arabs in Africa, and
with the Turks in Asia. One may see by his dress
that he seldom doffs his armour; but, however
little attention he pays to externals, his careful
mode of speech, and his meek and Christian-like
deportment, betray the true and gentle knight. He
is accompanied by his son, a slim, light-haired, curly-
headed youth of twenty, the perfect young squire
of his day, who is elegantly and even foppishly
dressed. He has already made a campaign against
the French, and on that occasion, as well as in the
tourney, he has borne him well, in the hopes of
gaining his lady’s grace. Love deprives him of his
sleep; and, like the nightingale, he is overflowing
with songs to his beloved; yet he does not fail,
with lowly service, to carve before his father at
table. In attendance on him is a yeoman, pro-
bably one of his father's many tenants, who, clad
in green, with sword and buckler, his bow in his
hand, and his arrows and dagger in his belt, re-
presents, with his sunburnt face, that has grown
brown among woods and fields, the stalwart race
who won for the Plantagenets the victories of
Crecy, of Poitiers, and Agincourt.

“In contrast with this group appears a daughter
of the Church, Madame Eglantine* a prioress of
noble birth, as her delicate physiognomy, and the
nicety with which she eats and drinks, testify
plainly. With a sweet but somewhat nasal tone,
she chants the Liturgy, or parts of it; she speaks

* See Vol. V,, p. 571,
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French, too, by preference, but it is the French, not
of Paris, but of Stratford atte Bow.” She would
weep if they showed her a mouse in a trap, or if
they smote her little dog with a rod. A gold
brooch, ornamented with the letter A, encircled
with a crown, bearing the inscription Amor vincit
omnia, hangs from her string of coral beads. Next
to her comes a portly monk of the Benedictine
order, whose crown and cheeks are as smooth as
glass, and whose eyes shine like burning coals.
He, too, is elegantly dressed, for the sleeves of his
robe are trimmed with the finest fur, while a golden
loveknot pin holds his hood together. Clear is
the sound of the bells on his bridle, for he knows
well how to sit his horse ; whilst hare-hunting and
a feast on a fat swan are more to him than the
rule of St. Benedict and the holy books in his
cell. A worthy pendant to this stately figure is the
Mendicant Friar, whose ready familiarity and good
humour make him the friend of the country-folks,
and the favourite Father Confessor. No one
understands better than he how to collect alms
for his cloister; for he knows how to please the
women with timely gifts of needles and knives,
whilst he treats the men in the taverns, in which he
always knows where to find the best cheer. He
lisps his English with affected sweetness ; and when
he sings to his harp his eyes twinkle like the stars
on a frosty night.

“The next in order is a merchant, with his
forked beard, his Flemish beaver, and his well-
clasped boots. He knows the money-exchange on
both sides of the Channel, and best of all does
he understand how to secure his own interest.
Then follow a couple of learned men. First comes
the Clerk of Oxenford (Oxford), hollowed-cheeked,
and lean as the horse on which he rides, and with
threadbare coat, for he has not yet secured a
benefice ; but his books are his whole joy, and
chief among them is his Aristotle. He knows no
greater joy than learning and teaching; yet he
shrinks back modestly and timidly, and nowhere
pushes himself forward. The other is a widely-
known Serjeant of the Law, who has at his fingers’
ends the whole confused mass of all the laws and
statutes from the days of William the Conqueror to
his own times, and knows admirably also how to
apply his learning practically. Although his heavy
fees and rich perquisites make him a rich man, he
goes forth on his pilgrimage dressed in a plain and
homely fashion. Next follows a Franklyn, who is
described as the owner of a freehold estate, and as
a man of note in his country, as having already
served as knight of the shire, and also as sheriff.
There is no stint of good eating and drinking in

his house; for the dishes on his board come as
thick and close as flakes of snow, each in its turn,
according to the season of the year.

“The working classes are represented by a haber-
dasher, a carpenter, a weaver, a dyer, and a tap’ster,
honest industrious folk, each clad in the dress that
appertains to his order, and wearing the badge of
his guild. They have all interest and money
enough to make aldermen at some future time;
and their wives would gladly hear themselves
greeted as ‘madame,” and would fain go to church
in long and flowing mantles. With these are asso-
ciated a cook, who is master of all the delicacies of
his art, but who is not the less able on that account
to relish a cup of London ale. The *shipman,’ of
course, could not be absent from such a gathering ;
and here we see him as he comes from the west
country, sunburnt, and clad in the dress of his
class, equally prepared to quaff a draught of the
fine Burgundy that he is bringing home while the
master of the ship slumbers in his cabin, or to join
in a seafight against the foes of his native land.
He has visited every shore, from Gothland to Cape
Finisterre, and he knows every harbour and bay
in his course. The doctor of physic, too, is well
versed in all the branches of his art; for, in
addition to the skilful practice of his profession, he
has systematically studied both astronomy and the
science of the horoscope, and is familiar with all
the learned writers of Greece and Arabia. He
dresses carefully, and smartly; but he knows how
to keep the treasures which he amassed during the
prevalence of the ‘black death.’

“ Next follows a Wife of Bath, rich and comely,
who especially attracts the poet’s attention, and
who is more communicative in regard to her own
affairs than any one else in the company. She
wears clothing of the finest stuffs, a broad hat with
a new-fashioned head-attire, red and tight-fitting
stockings, and a pair of sharp spurs on her heels.
She is already well advanced in years, has been
three times to Jerusalem, and has seen Rome and
Bologna, Compostella, and Cologne. Her round,
fair, reddish face looks a little bold, and shows that
after her many experiences of life it would not be
easy to put her out of countenance. She relates
to her fellow-travellers, with the most edifying
frankness, that she has been married five times, and
that, therefore, independently of other considera-
tions, she is entitled to say a word or two about
love. She tells them how in her young and giddy
days she beguiled and deluded her first three
husbands, who were old but rich; and she does
not even withhold from them the narration of some
sharp ‘curtain-lectures” Her fourth marriage ter-
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minated, she tells them, in both parties taking their
own way; but her last husband, although he is
only twenty years old, has studied at Oxford, and
is not to be drawn away from the perusal of a
ponderous tome, in which are collected the injunc-
tions of the Fathers of the Church to men to lead
a life of celibacy, enriched by examples culled
from ancient and modern times, of the manner in
which wives are wont to circumvent their husbands.
Once, when in her spite she tore some leaves out
of this book, she says that he beat her so hard that
ever since she has been deaf in one ear, but that
since they have got on admirably together. In
opposition to this dame, who forms one of the
most important links of connection between the
different members of the miscellaneous circle, we
have another admirably-drawn character, a poor
Parson, the son of humble but honest parents, who,
notwithstanding his scanty benefice, is ever con-
tented, even when his tithes fall short, and who
never fails, even in the worst of weather, to sally
forth, staff in hand, in order to visit the sick
members of his flock. He is always ready to
comfort and aid the needy; and undismayed by
the pride of the rich and great, faithfully and
honestly proclaims the word of the Lord in his
teaching. The Parson is accompanied by his
brother, a hard-working, honest, and pious plough-
man; and thus the two are brought forward as
belonging to that class which was bound to the soil
which it tilled.

“ Before the poet leaves this rank of the social
scale, he brings before us also several other pro-
minent characters belonging to the people of his
day. There is the miller, a stout churl, bony and
strong, with a hard head, a foxred beard, and a
wide mouth. He was not over-scrupulous in
appropriating to himself some of the corn which
his customers brought to his mill. Over his white
coat and blue hood he carried a bag-pipe, and we
fear it must be added, that his talk was of a wanton
kind. Next comes the Manciple of a religious
house, who is connected with at least thirty lawyers,
and knows how to make his own profits whilst he
is buying for his masters. The Reeve of a Norfolk
lord, a man as lean as a rake, shaven and choleric,
appears dressed in a blue coat, riding a grey horse.
In his youth he had been a carpenter ; but no one
knows better than he how to judge of the yielding
of the seed, or of the promise of the cattle. No-
body could well call him to account, for his books
are always in the best order, and he and his master
are in good accord. The Summoner of an arch-
deacon, with a fiery-red face, which rio apothecary’s
art can cool down, is appropriately described as

one of the lowest and least reputable of the com-
pany. Lustful and gluttonous, he cares most of all
for his wine; and when he is ‘half seas over,’ he
speaks nothing but bad Latin, having picked up
some scraps of that tongue in attendance in the
Courts. His rival in viciousness is a Pardoner,
who has come straight from the Court of Rome.
His hair is as yellow as flax, and he carries in his
wallet a handful of relics, by the sale of which
he gets more money in a day than the Parson can
make in two months.”

Such are the treop of worthy, and some perhaps
rather unworthy, guests who assembled in the
ancient hostelry a little less than five hundred years
ago, and whom the host, Harry Baily, right gladly
welcomes in his guesten-room, with the best cheer
that the “Tabard ” can supply. Whilst the wine is
passing round among the company, he proposes,
with a boldness often to be seen in men of his
craft, to join them on the morrow in their pil-
grimage ; but takes the liberty of suggesting first
that it would be a good means of shortening the
way between London and Canterbury, if each
pilgrim were to tell one tale going and returning
also, and that the one who should tell the best tale
should have a supper at the inn at the expense
of the rest upon their safe return. Next, without
more ado, he offers himself to act as judge of the
performances; and his proposition meets with
general approval. The company then retire to rest,
and the next morning, when the sun is up and the
day is fine, they mount their horses at the door of
the ¢ Tabard,” and, turning<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>